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The German Indian Startup Exchange Program (GINSEP) is 

a non-monetary platform initiated by the German Startups 

Association and supported by the German Federal Ministry 

for Economic Affairs and Energy (BMWi) to strengthen and 

foster exchange between India and Germany in the startup 

space. To this end, the main objective of GINSEP is to promote 

an exchange between both startup ecosystems and to 

support German and Indian founders in their efforts to not 

only understand but ultimately also be able to access the 

other country’s ecosystem.

GINSEP seeks to facilitate access to the German market for 

Indian startups and vice versa through

1) Capacity building,

2) Networks,

3) B-2-B networking opportunities, and

4) Information.

To achieve these objectives and support Indian and German 

startups to make an informed decision on entering the 

respective other market, GINSEP has conducted a variety of 

activities. Through several workshops GINSEP supported the 

Bundesverband Deutsche Startups e.V. (German Startups 

Association) is the representative and voice of startups in 

Germany. The Association is working for a competitive and 

sustainable startup ecosystem in Germany and Europe, being 

in constant dialogue with founders, startups, the established 

economy, and political institutions. Next to campaigns, 

events, and political interest representation, the Association 

promotes innovative and high-tech entrepreneurship. Its 

capacity development of Indian and German entrepreneurs 

seeking to internationalise. The workshops took place in 

Germany and India and focused on issues concerning 

internationalization such as navigating the different 

legal environments and the main bureaucratic pitfalls. In 

addition, GINSEP built a broad network of honorary GINSEP 

ambassadors and mentors in India and in Germany as 

contacts points accessible to startups in both countries. 

The network consists of founders, investors, experts, 

corporate representatives, and legal advisers. GINSEP also 

conducted several formats that created opportunities for 

B-2-B networking. For instance, as the co-organizer of the 

Scale11 during the CeBIT as well as partner to the Young 

Tech Enterprises exhibition area at HANNOVER MESSE, the 

German Startups Association provided access to major B-2-B 

networking platforms in Germany. To provide comprehensive 

information on both ecosystems, GINSEP has developed a “Go-

To-Market Guide” for Germany and India. The guide provides 

Indian and German startups with transparent, English-

speaking, and condensed information on the German and 

Indian startup ecosystem as well as the administrative steps 

of an expansion to Germany and India and is the subject of 

the publication on hand today.

aim is to foster an entrepreneurship mentality throughout 

Germany and Europe. Currently the association counts 

over 1,000 members and more than 25 working groups 

& platforms for specific branches, including Chemistry, 

Sustainability, Future Mobility, Artificial Intelligence and 

Financial Technology. Opening up a dialogue with decision-

makers in politics, it has itself advocated to reduce barriers for 

starting a business.

GINSEP

German Startups Association





From the Board

Germany and India are longstanding partners - 
historically, culturally, politically and economically. 
In the early 2000s, the ‘Agenda for the Indo-German 
Partnership in the 21st Century’ was adopted by both 
countries that envisioned regular meetings of the 
state heads as well as annual bilateral meetings of the 
foreign ministers. Since then Germany and India have 
strengthened their partnership in the fields of energy, 
science and technology and several other areas. 

Indo-German economic relations reach back to the 15th 
century when Jakob Fugger, a German merchant and 
banker, set the first ships en route to India. Economic ties 
between both countries have deepened over the years. 
Today, there are more than 1700 German companies in 
India, 1600 Indo-German collaboration and over 600 
Indo-German Joint Ventures. Germany is India’s largest 
trading partner in Europe and both countries shared 
a trade volume of EUR 17.4 billion in 2016. Various 
programs such as the ‘Fast-Track-System for German 
companies’ or the ‘Make-in-India Mittelstand Program’ 
have come into existence supporting the realization of 
business opportunities for German companies in India. 
At the same time, Germany has become an attractive 
market for Indian Investors. Over EUR 6.5 billon have 
been invested by Indian corporate entities and there 
are today more than 200 Indian companies operating 
in Germany.

But not only established businesses have understood 
the market potential of Germany and India. Increasingly 
startups from both economies are looking into 
capturing the vast potentials India and Germany have 
to offer. India’s startup ecosystem has blossomed in the 
last years and with approximately 20.000 registered 
startups has become the 2nd biggest startup hub in 
the world. There are currently more than 700 incubators 
and accelerators active in India with Delhi, Bangalore 
and Mumbai being the largest startup hubs. At the 
same time in Germany, Berlin is geared to become 
Europe’s leading startup city with the possibility to 
create 100,000 new jobs by 2020. The German Startup 
Monitor 2018 found that 60,1 percent of the surveyed 
German startups seek to expand internationally. With 
both startup ecosystem developing rapidly, there 

is a lot of scope for cooperation. German startups 
can benefit from India’s large IT competence and 
so called ‘Jugaad’ mentality, which basically refers 
India’s creativity to develop frugal innovations. Indian 
startups on the other hand can learn from Germany’s 
industrial competence and the professionalism of 
German companies. 

It is against this background that in 2017 the German 
Indian Startup Exchange Program (GINSEP) was 
initiated by the German Startups Association with 
support by the Federal Ministry of Economic Affairs and 
Energy with the objective to foster higher exchange 
between the two startup economies. Building on a vast 
network of founders, investors, incubators and other 
experts, GINSEP in the last two years has provided 
ample of opportunities for German and Indian startups 
to get connected, identify expansion possibilities, 
participate in networking events and capacity building 
workshops and stay informed about both markets. 

In this context, we are happy to present a practical 
guideline for Indian and German startups that seek 
to internationalise their business in the following 
chapters. When entering a new market, there are many 
hurdles to be conquered by the founder. Not only is 
it necessary to familiarize oneself with the regulatory 
framework in the target market, but one also needs to 
understand ecosystem specific conditions, which range 
from finding funding and business partners, to cultural 
hurdles and diverging norms. Every contribution in 
this market guide has been written by experts in the 
respective field.

Happy reading!

Sincerely yours,

Sascha Schubert 

Deputy Chairman of the German Startups Association
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Berlin ranked  #10  global startup 

ecosystem in 2018

Germany is the Motor of the European Union 

and a leading global economy

15.8%  of startups are located in  Berlin,  followed by the 

Metropol Region Rhein-Ruhr with 11.2%

Germany ranked  9th
  innovative economy according 

to the Global Innovation Index 2019

Germany
GENErAl FACTS

STArTuP FACTS

Population Labour force 

participation rate

Currency

Euro

Average  

inflation rate

Number of university 

students
Language

GDP

Diversity

82.5 

2.84 German

61.2% 1.54%3996.76

19.3

million

million (2019)

(2017)
(2019)

Billion Euro 

(2018)

million people with migration 

background (2018)

Unemployment rate (as% of 
economically active persons)

Self-employment rate (% out of 

total employment)

3.1% 
(May 2019)

1.5%

9.9%

(2018)

GDP  

growth (net)

Nestpick ranked Berlin the best city in the word for millennials, 

attracting entrepreneurs and millennials from all over the world

German startups face difficulties to recruit software engineers & 
developers

Germany provides easy access to the 

European Single Market
The digital economy is the 

most important sector for German startups



10 | Go-To-Market Guide

55% of the youth 
prefers working in startups over corporates

Indian startups raised $4.88 billion 
in the first half of 2019, 8.7% growth compared to 

the same period in 2018

Bangalore, Delhi & Mumbai 

are the biggest startup hubs with 80% of all Indian startups

950+ multinational corporations (MNCs) in 
India that collectively have set up 

1,200 R&D hubs

There are around 20,000 startups 

recognized by DPIIT, which includes 8,993 

startups recognised in 2018 alone

Bangalore ranked #18 
global startup ecosystem in 2018

India
General facts

Population Labour force 

participation rate

Currency

Average  

inflation rate

Number of university 

students Approx 
Language

GDP

Diversity

1.2

20 25

49.8% 7.64%
2726.32

80% Hindus, 14.2% 
Muslims, 2.3% 

Christians

billion 

(2011 

census)

Indian 

Rupee 

(INR) million
official languages

(2013)

(2017-18) (2019)
Billion US 

Dollars 

(2018)

Unemployment rate (% of 

economically active person)

Self-employment rate (% out of 

total employment)

6.1% 
(2018)

7.2%

51%

(2018-19)

GDP  

growth (net)

India has the 2nd largest startup 
ecosystem in the world

Till 2030 India will become the second 
largest internet market 

worldwide

STArTuP FACTS
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EXPANDING TO 
GERMANY
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2.1. Germany – At a glance

Authors: German Startups Association, 

https://deutschestartups.org/en/

When coming to Germany to start a business, it is useful 

to know some basic facts, which can help to put the new 

business place into perspective and manage everyday life 

more easily.

2.1.1 National holidays and work week

A good work-life balance is an important requirement for 

most employees in Germany. A normal working day usually 

consists of 8 hours, and a normal working week is from 

Monday to Friday. In 2016, a full-time employee worked 

38,1 hours a week on average. Part-time employment had 

an average working week of only 16.4 hours on average. 

Combining these numbers, Germany is among the countries 

with the lowest working hours in Europe. In addition, in 

recent times new working models have emerged, allowing 

employees more flexibility, like working from home.

In addition, there are 9 national holidays guaranteed in all 16 

federal states:

 " New year – January 1st

 " Easter Friday – varies every year

 " Easter Monday – varies every year

 " Labour day – 1st of Mai

 " Ascension Thursday – Easter  

Sunday + 39 days

 " Pentecost Monday – Ascension Thursday + 10 days

 " Day of German Unity – October 3rd

 " First Christmas day – December 25th

 " Second Christmas day – December 26th

However, each federal state is free to determine additional 

religious or state holidays. On Sunday most supermarkets 

and shops are closed, and people largely do not work, but 

take time for themselves and their families. Yet, some stores 

located at train stations, petrol stations, and small convenient 

stores (kiosk) are generally open. Furthermore, most 

restaurants are open on Sundays – they often take a break on 

Mondays instead.

2.1.2. Cost of living

On average, the living cost of a German private household 

is 2,500 (2017) Euros per month. Across Germany, living 

expenses vary from one state to another, with the eastern 

cities, such as Berlin, under the national average. Cities 

like Hamburg, Munich and Frankfurt are among the most 

expensive to live. Housing costs amount to the highest 

proportion of living expenses with 897 (2017) Euros per 

month, including energy and maintenance, for an average 

household. German households on average spend 348 Euros 

in food, beverages and tobacco per month (2017), while 348 

Euros (2017) is spent on transportation. If you plan to come 

on a student visa to Germany, you must provide a proof of 

8800 Euros on your account to apply for the visa. According to 

the German National Association for Student Affairs, the cost 

for students is on average 918 Euro per month. 

2.1.3. English proficiency

Most of the everyday life in Germany involves speaking 

German, and the locals appreciate foreigners trying to speak 

at least some German, even if it is just small words like ‘Danke’ 

(thank you) and ‘Bitte’ (please; you are welcome). However, 

English is an essential part of the business and startup scene 

where English as a business language is spoken fluently. 

According to the EF English Proficiency Index, Germans have 

“good knowledge” of English. This means that one can always 

communicate in English, especially in big, international cities. 

Furthermore, almost every 10th founder is not German and 

28,6% of startup employees have a non-German background. 

For Berlin, this figure even rises to 47,7%. Therefore, the 

startup scene is characterized by the frequent use of English.

2.1.4. Transportation and mobility

When it comes to traveling between cities, the national 

railway company (Deutsche Bahn) offers train services all 

across the country, and “Saver fares” and group tickets offer 

opportunities to save money. For frequent travellers, it might 

be interesting to look at the different BahnCard offers, where 

one subscribes and pays a fixed price per year and receives 

additional discounts and benefits in return.

Another option for travelling between cities are line buses 

like Flixbus, which are less expensive, but also slower than the 

trains. Furthermore, car-pooling through the BlaBlaCar App 

has become very popular in Germany.

For travelling within cities, even medium-sized cities have a 

relatively well-developed public transportation system based 

on buses, subways, trams, urban trains and even car and 

scooter sharing. If one plans to stay in a city more long-term, 
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it is recommended to get a subscription, for instance in the 

form of a monthly season ticket. These can be purchased at 

the municipal public transportation provider, which differs in 

every city. In Berlin, it is called BVG.

As long as Indians do not formally reside in Germany, Indians 

can drive with their international driver’s license. However, as 

soon as one becomes a registered resident in Germany, there 

is a time limit of six months to translate the Indian license into 

a German one. This time period cannot be extended, and if it 

passes, one is no longer allowed to drive on German roads. It 

is, thus very important to start the translation process in time. 

For Indian nationals, it is not necessary to take any additional 

tests and the transcription procedure has been simplified. 

The application has to be filed with the authorities of the 

city where one is registered, and by means of a personal 

appointment. The following documents are needed at the 

appointment: Passport, a recent biometric photo, original 

license (not a copy), which needs to be valid at the time of 

transcription and a Translation of the license, if it is not in 

English or German language.

Having a valid German (or EU) drivers’ license is also 

important to make use of car-sharing, which is very popular 

in the larger German cities and more populated areas and is 

useful for short distance trips. There are a variety of providers 

depending on the place of residence and personal needs. The 

Free2Move App allows access to all main providers in one’s 

area.

2.1.5. Forms of payments

In July 2019, the exchange rate between Euro (€) and Indian 

Rupee (INR) was 75 INR to 1 Euro. The quickest and cheapest 

way to get money is at an ATM (Geldautomat). There is also the 

option to exchange currency at banks or exchange bureaux.

Germany is generally considered a cash economy. In 2017, 

74% of all transactions were made in cash. However, in 

recent years a steady increase in cashless payments can be 

observed. In line with this, in most shops, one can pay with 

debit- or credit card. Contrary to India however, many stores 

and gastronomies only accept cash, and some accept direct 

debit only with a minimum amount.

Most services and goods in Germany are charged with a 19 

percent value-added tax. However, goods and services such 

as water supplies, medical equipment for disabled persons, 

local public transport, books, newspapers, periodicals, writers/

composers etc., agricultural inputs, hotel accommodation, 

social services, firewood, take away, cut flowers and plants etc. 

are charged with a reduced rate of 7%. Since the price of a 

product usually already includes the VAT rate, there is no need 

to worry when paying for services or goods.

2.1.6. Indian expat community

According to the German Statistics Office, 124.000 Indians 

lived in Germany at the end of 2018. The number has almost 

tripled since the end of 2015. With the steady increase of the 

community, several groups and communities have emerged 

in recent years. There is a plethora of websites and Facebook 

pages, which you can find under the important links section.

2.1.7. Indo-German business community

With India emerging as a key partner for German companies, 

several formats and platforms have emerged in recent years 

linking both countries. For instance, in 2001 the German Indian 

Roundtable was initiated by Rudolf Weiler, an association of 

individuals with strong business and personal interest in India. 

One of the tasks of GIRT is the facilitation of Indo-German 

business ties. Representatives of GIRT sit in the major German 

cities, e.g. Aachen, Berlin, Düsseldorf, Frankfurt, Hamburg, 

etc. Another association seeking illuminate the business 

potential between Germany and India, is the Gesellschaft 

für Deutsch-Indische Zusammenarbeit e.V. (GDIZ). Once a 

year, GDIZ is conducting the German Indian Business Forum. 
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Since 2018, an event format called ‘German-Indian Startup 

Connector’ has been included into the program, providing 

5 German and 5 Indian startups the opportunity to pitch 

in front of investors, corporates and incubators. Several 

German investment agencies are also increasingly focusing 

on India and its startup sector. For instance, Stiftung für 

Technologie, Innovation und Forschung Thüringen (STIFT) 

and the beteiligungsmanagement thüringen gmbh (bm|t), 

conducted the India Day 2018 inviting Indian startups to 

pitch in Germany. In addition, the city of Karlsruhe, who also 

has a representative sitting in Pune (India), is actively looking 

to link the German and Indian startup ecosystem and since 

2018 is regularly conducting the ‘Strategic Indo-German 

Roundtable’ that in 2018 allowed Indian startups to pitch in 

front of investors and corporates. 

2.1.8. Further links

Transport

 " Deutsche Bahn (https://www.bahn.com/en/view/offers/

bahncard/bahncard.shtml)

 " BVG (https://www.bvg.de/en/Welcome)

 " Free2Move (https://de.free2move.com/)

 " Lime (https://www.li.me/)

 " Emmy (https://emmy-sharing.de/en/)

 " Car2Go (https://www.car2go.com)

 " BlaBlaCar (https://www.blablacar.de/)

Indian Expat Community

Indians in Germany:

 " Indians in Germany (https://www.facebook.com/
groups/192587635345/?ref=br_rs)

 " Indians in Germany (https://www.facebook.com/

groups/229408190415265/?ref=br_rs) 

Indians in Berlin:

 " Indians in Berlin (https://www.facebook.com/groups/
IndiansInBerlin/?ref=br_rs)

 " Indians in Berlin (https://www.facebook.com/groups/

Indians.in.Berlin1/?ref=br_rs) 

Indians in Hamburg:

 " Indians in Hamburg (https://www.facebook.com/

groups/391009517731440/about/)

Indo-German Business Community

 " German-Indian Business Forum (german-indian-forum.
de/)

 " German Indian Roundtable (https://www.girt.de/) 

2.2. Business culture in Germany

Author: Flo Oberhofer, http://www.make-in-india.de

The target of this chapter is to give Indian startups a first 

insight into the German culture and its implications on 

business behaviour and attitudes. This guide does not have 

the claim to be a single source of truth and some facts are 

depicted in a slightly exaggerated way to cover extremes. 

The people startups will meet during their “business journey” 

into the German market are humans and every individual is 

different. So, a general recommendation is to always approach 

individuals with an open mind and without prejudices.

When talking about the German culture, there are a couple of 

stereotypes which one comes across commonly. This guide 

will take up some of those and investigate their impact on 

business life. Additionally, this guide will give hints on specific 

topics where cross-cultural pitfalls might appear.

It has to be clarified that nowadays there are significant 

differences in how individuals approach work and their jobs. 

This guide will give an insight into both worlds, traditional 

enterprises (e.g. automobile manufacturers) respectively 

government entities as well as more progressive small-, 

medium- and startup-companies. The differences in attitude 

and behaviour are often based on the company’s culture 

but can also be dependent on the differences between 

generations.

2.2.1. Mentality

Punctuality & time management

There is a German saying “Fünf Minuten vor der Zeit ist des 

Deutschen Pünktlichkeit” which translates to „being five 

minutes ahead of time is a Germans sense of punctuality”. 

Indeed, punctuality is a very important and critical aspect 

in Germany’s business culture. For Germans it is a matter of 

respect to show up to meetings (be it virtual or in person) on 

time. If a meeting is scheduled at 10:00 AM, then someone 

who shows up at 10:05 AM is frowned upon. There will be no 

direct consequences of being late, but participants will have 

a negative impression of late comers which can potentially 

harm the business outcome. Since German business 

etiquette does not allow much spontaneity, one should plan 

meetings ahead. Those meetings should be held according to 

a previously shared and published agenda depicting all the 

individual points to be discussed. Germans tend to use those 

agendas to prepare themselves for meetings.
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Punctuality is one of the highest regarded values, also in 

terms of adhering to timelines. If someone promises to send 

a set of documents until a specific time and date, be rest 

assured the people will have noted this down, either in their 

mind or their notebooks. If the documents do not arrive until 

the agreed time – again this will leave a bad impression. In 

general, it is advisable to always give a specific date and time 

to accomplish specific tasks. One should avoid “I will send this 

some time next week” or even worse “I will send this to you”.

This behaviour is based on multiple factors. First and foremost, 

traditional German businesspeople tend to schedule their 

day to the minute. They will evaluate how long a meeting will 

take and plan their day accordingly. If someone shows up late 

to meetings, this will jeopardize their schedule and create 

unrest, especially if it’s a meeting of a large group of people. 

Furthermore, it is important to know that Germans value their 

spare time. Whereas Indians are willing to go out of their way 

and work longer hours, including on Saturday. This is why 

most large traditional German companies have a specified 

limit to their working hours. Those have been negotiated by 

workers unions and are usually applicable for all hierarchical 

levels - from workers to the mid-management level. The 

typical German work week is around 35-40 hours, Monday 

to Friday. Managerial level positions usually never work on 

Saturdays and Sundays. Typical office working hours are from 

8AM to 5PM with one-hour lunch break. Business lunch is 

very common, while business dinners are rarer and usually 

only happen with long-standing business partners. Many 

traditional companies do ask people to avoid overtime and if 

overtime is required either financially compensate these extra 

hours or provide compensation days off. Startups tend to be 

more flexible and are generally not covered by the workers 

unions labour agreements. Especially in startup companies 

long working hours and overtime are not uncommon as 

timing is in general seen a little bit more flexible. Yet, the 

general attitude towards punctuality remains. In general, it 

is not advisable to call German businesspeople outside of 

business hours unless otherwise agreed.

To keep one’s word

On similar lines, keeping your word is very important for 

Germans. Germans do give high importance to promises/

commitments given, or expectations risen by individuals 

or companies. They often base their level of trust and their 

willingness for cooperation on whether people deliver on 

their promises.

Germans are known to take a lot of notes during meetings in 

order to be able to record and fulfil verbal agreements, but 

also to keep in mind what has been promised to them. It is 

not mandatory but taking notes during conversations and 

presentations is often interpreted as a sign of interest and 

care. Germans value detailed documentation and it is not 

uncommon that participants receive “Minutes of Meeting” 

after a meeting has been held.

risk taking

One of the major differences between Indian and Germans is 

the willingness to take risks. While taking risk is a fundamental 

part of the Indian DNA, Germans prefer to feel secure and 

failing is still seen negatively. This has to be kept in mind when 

approaching German businesspeople and companies. Risks 

correlated with a deal, product or agreement are analysed in 

detail beforehand and companies tend to develop potential 

solutions to mitigate those risks.

While “jugaad” solutions are an essential part of Indian 

business ventures, Germans give a high importance to 

profound and professional solutions to challenges. Usually 

there is always plan A, B and C for instances when things do 

not work the way they were expected to. However, there is a 

slowly growing fraction within the younger generation which 

are willing to take risks, because they know that even if one 

fails the good social security system and the current strong 

economic situation will mitigate this risk. However, this attitude 

mostly only exists in startup, that in Germany often also have 

a high percentage of other cultures and nationalities. The 

general risk-aversion has also led to difficulties for startups 

to identify sources of financial support. It is incredibly difficult 

for early-stage startups to find funding in Germany. German 

investors tend to develop an interest in startups with already 

strong traction and first steady revenues.

Being straight forward

One of the points most foreigners struggle with is the 

Germans directness. Especially when it comes to giving 

feedback, Germans tend to be very outspoken. Other cultures 

often tend to express criticism in a very soft and indirect way 

in order to not embarrass any involved individuals. This is 

not the case in Germany and businesspeople will mostly be 

straight forward if something is wrong or if there is something 

they do not like. This is not done in order to humiliate or dupe 

individuals but purely because Germans think that this way 

of approaching feedback will result in the best outcome and 

the fastest rectification of issues.

2.2.2. Negotiating

Most Germans are very much focused on details. Germans 

do notice and judge negatively e.g. when there are typos in 

presentations. At the same time, most local businesspeople 

expect to get a multitude of documents, charts, graphics, 

tables and calculations covering technical as well as business 

aspects when getting into negotiations. Negotiating with 

Germans thus can be quite formal. For them to enter a 
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business deal, all the bits and pieces need to be in place, 

clarified and written down. They expect nothing less from 

their business partners. Germans take analysis very serious 

and information are usually reviewed and analysed several 

times before coming to a decision. However, if the decision 

is made, Germans usually stick to their judgment, whereas 

Indians tend to be rather flexible. 

German business contracts are often written in a very 

extensive way in order to include respectively exclude 

any possible scenarios. Often contracts are checked and 

rechecked by lawyers or attorneys in order to minimize risks. 

After a contract has been signed Germans expect that both 

parties stick to the terms and conditions laid down in the 

contract. Retrospective alterations are usually not possible, 

and people expect to “get” exactly what has been laid down 

in the contract.

Overall, clear and honest, yet respectful communication is 

appreciated, and confrontation is not a problem. However, 

emotions should be carefully dosed. Germans are in general 

very particular when it comes to separating business 

from personal life. While personal conversations between 

colleagues are quite common, Germans usually do not 

exchange too much personal and family stories with sporadic 

business partners. While in India there is a large focus on 

building personal relationships amongst business partners, 

Germans mostly base their business relationships on facts, 

figures and past performance. Exchanging a few polite 

phrases rather than personal details is appreciated and will 

do the trick. In general, Germans often appear sincere and 

distant with little humour. However, this is something that 

evolves with getting to know each other. However, with 

startups being more open and flexible, there might be a 

higher emphasis on building a personal relationship culture, 

also with business partners, in the startup.

A no-go during negotiations is trying to bribe. While 

corruption exists, it can mostly be found on very high level. 

Germany ranks 11th out of 180 ranked countries in global 

corruption evaluations (Transparency International, 2018). It 

is thus strongly advised to not try to make any indications 

towards bribing individuals. Apart from corruption being 

ethically not accepted in Germany, there are many control 

systems in place which will uncover and punish such attempts. 

Along these lines, business gifts are rather uncommon in 

Germany and should be avoided especially between parties 

which have never met before and most organisations have 

strong regulations concerning external gifts. If one insists 

to give a present, it should be something with no monetary 

value (e.g. an expensive pen) and something of idealistic 

value like a small box of Indian Tea (value should be below 

EUR 5). Since business gifts are very uncommon in Germany 

it cannot be expected that there will be a “counter-present”.

2.2.3. Hierarchy & communication

The speed with which business decisions in Germany are 

made is highly dependent on the type of company that 

is dealt with. While traditional companies tend to have an 

extremely strong hierarchical system, startups often have flat 

hierarchies with fast decision processes. Some of the startups 

have also tried new models of working, with employees 

deciding on how much they want to work and how much 

leave they want to take. However, even bigger organisations 

have adapted mechanisms of more open communication 

to overcome hierarchical challenges, such as 360-degree 

feedback, etc. While in many German organisations, people 

are still addressed formally with their surname, an ease of 

this practice can be observed especially among the younger 

generation and in startups, addressing each other with 

their first given name. Titles are very important in Germany. 

In formal communication, titles like Doctor (Dr., PhD) and 

Professor (Prof.) should always be included. No matter how 

the addressing is, it is a custom to shake hands when meeting 

each other.

In Germany, it is of high importance that communication 

takes place through the person responsible for the specific 

topic. People appreciate if they are kept in the loop in emails 

(CC) and some tend to react adversely if they are “left out”.

While language skills in general have improved, especially 

elder German businesspeople might still have issues with the 

English, so it is recommended to speak slowly and as clear 

as possible. For professional communication, Germans prefer 

to communicate via email or phone. In regard to alternative 

communication channels, Germans are very particular 

about their privacy, so contacting individuals via Facebook 

or WhatsApp should be avoided unless otherwise advised, 

as those channels are reserved for private matters. For 

professional networking, locals either use XING or LinkedIn.

Germans are in general very friendly and open minded with 

a great respect for other cultures. Most Germans will be 

glad to “forgive” any cross-cultural mistakes if they see that 

the foreigners are interested in and try to understand the 

German culture. Most will be keen on sharing further insights 

into the German culture, but only if asked to do so. On the 

other hand – Germans are very curious to get to know more 

about foreign cultures even though they might not actively 

ask because they do not want to cause any discomfort to 

the foreigner. Most are very aware of cultural differences 

and will try everything to make foreigners feel welcome and 

comfortable. If there are any doubts or questions, one should 

use the “German straightforwardness” and just ask, no matter 

how irrelevant a question might seem.
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2.3. Planning your expansion

Germany is one of the largest economies in Europe and home to more than 3.6 million companies. It covers an area of 137,847 

sq. miles. Approximately 8,000 startups are operating in Germany in total. With a GDP of EUR 3,386 billion, Germany is one of 

the most attractive European destination for entrepreneurs. Furthermore, its 82 million inhabitants make Germany the most 

populous member state of the European Union. 

Young companies are a driving force for the German economy. They employ approx. 90,000 experts and are an important 

element of the German economy.

For companies form India, Germany offers tremendous business opportunities such as:

Leading Economy

Global Player

High Productivity 

Excellent Workforce

Power of Innovation

First-Class Infrastructure

Inviting Incentives

Competitive Tax Conditions

Secure Investment 
Environment

Quality Life
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2.3.1. Digital Hubs in Germany

Author: Josefina Nungesser, http://www.gtai.de

The digital hub initiative: Where to set up your business 

in Germany

The Digital Hub Initiative is run by the Federal Ministry 

for Economic Affairs and Energy and aims to strengthen 

Germany’s position as a world leading digital ecosystem and 

attractive business location.

Twelve Digital Hubs distributed over the whole of Germany 

form a strong network enabling the exchange of technological 

and business expertise, programs and ideas. Startups, 

established businesses and academics can join forces at each 

Digital Hub to find answers to the challenges of the digital 

age. Innovation programs support the development of new 

solutions in industry relevant fields, from artificial intelligence 

to new mobility to smart infrastructure. Each hub has a sector 

specific focus and interested startups can get in contact with 

the hub managers and become part of the hub network.

With its international appeal, the German ecosystem is one 

of the most relevant locations for business founders and 

investors from all over the world. Unlike other centers of 

digitization such as the Silicon Valley, the focus in Germany 

is not on one region, but on progress at multiple locations. 

German digital companies are among the world’s most 

valuable, while traditional corporations and SMEs continue 

to lead the markets and are at the forefront of digital 

development in their industries too.

A national Hub Agency based in Berlin coordinates the 

way the Digital Hubs work together. The Hub Agency also 

supports the Digital Hubs in the development of innovation 

formats and business models. In collaboration with Germany 

Trade and Invest, whose brief is to promote foreign trade and 

market locations, Digital Hubs are advertised abroad to raise 

the international profile of Germany as a forerunner in the 

digital space. 

Driven by technical excellence and proven market 

competence, the Digital Hub Initiative is about producing 

innovative solutions and strong economic growth. National 

and international talent and investors are invited to be part of 

this digital success story by contributing with their business 

ideas and inspiration.

2.3.2. Access via accelerators

Author: Eric Weber, https://spinlab.co/

In the last years, the German startup ecosystem has 

grown dramatically and with it, the number of accelerator 

programs increased to more than 90 programs as of 2019. 

For Indian founders some of those accelerators may offer 

a great landing platform to the German and European 

market. However, finding and selecting a suitable program 

is not easy and Indian founders may need some guidance. 
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Especially the twelve Digital Hubs that have been announced 

by the German Ministry for Economic Affairs may provide a 

good starting point, since they link cities to certain fields of 

thematic specialization such as Smart Infrastructure, FinTech, 

Logistics or Digital Health. However, founders should ask 

the right questions when it comes to deciding whether to 

expand.

How far is the startup?

Different programs are targeting different startups. Many 

accelerators require a running prototype (or at least a 

market-proven concept) and a more or less complete team. 

Other acceleration programs focus on even more mature 

startups. Interested founders should check the websites and 

portfolio companies of accelerators carefully to see if their 

own status fits to the target group of the program. If you join 

an acceleration program too early, their contacts to investors 

and potential partners or customers may come too early for 

you, while the benefit would have been much higher later. 

Founders should also consider, that developing the Minimum 

Viable Product (MVP) at home with an existing network might 

be easier in many cases.

What about financing?

Many acceleration programs provide small amount of 

funding in exchange for small equity shares. A typical deal in 

Germany is EUR 25,000 for 5% equity. However, an analysis by 

Gründerszene found out that 40 of the existing accelerators 

provide an average of EUR 87,000 and 29 programs take 

equity of 11,7%. This brings two main considerations. Firstly, if 

the startup has raised money already, many accelerator deals 

may mean a down round on the previous valuation. Founders 

therefore should carefully evaluate how much value they 

expect from additional services such as coaching and office 

space. However, especially for international startups services 

offered by accelerators may have even more value than for 

local startups. Secondly, founders should ask themselves 

critically if the additional money covers the costs for travel 

and accommodation and leaves enough space to really 

get the business started. Here, the location of the program 

has a great influence: while Munich or Hamburg are quite 

expensive, other cities like Berlin or Leipzig are comparably 

cheap. Still even the latter ones are between 2-2,5x as 

expensive as Mumbai.

Beyond the acceleration programs themselves, the German 

venture capital scene is quite conservative and investing into 

international startups who are only in Europe since some 

weeks or months adds up additional risks. If you want to 

raise money from local investors, it is strongly recommended 

to use accelerators or other trustworthy consultants as 

intermediaries. You also need to be prepared for German as 

business and contract language. However, in the last years 

a few German investors, such as Peter Kabel, are heavily 

investing in Indian startups.

Finally, you should be willing to move your headquarter to 

Germany and build up your team here (which is way more 

expensive and difficult compared to India). Especially for seed 

startups targeting on business angels, it could be a better 

choice to raise money in India, build a team there (especially 

coders) and do only sales in Germany, since language and 

cultural barriers as well as different legal environments may 

cause some reluctance of German investors during smaller 

financing rounds. When the financing rounds get bigger (B, 

C round or above) these additional transaction costs may be 

more justifiable for German venture capitalists.

What happens during the program?

Another important question is the content of an acceleration 

program and the background of the organizer. Two typical 

questions of accelerators are financing and market readiness. 

A founder should always try to identify what he needs most 

and how he can benefit from the accelerator. In case of a lack 

of clarity, founders should ask the accelerator managers and 

check the mentors of the program.

Many accelerators in Germany focus on special industries or 

technologies enabling them to offer highly specialized know-

how and networks. However, they might lack on cross industry 

experiences. Through the ‘Digital Hub Initiative’ the German 

government tries to increase the focus of selected regions 

on specific industries even more to boost their international 

competitiveness. Depending on the business model, Indian 

founders should consider industry specialisations during 

their selection process.

Usually the accelerators are also connected with big German 

corporates that host the accelerator program and try to see 

and learn from startups. Today, most of the biggest German 

companies run their own accelerator programs. If this strong 

affiliation provides extra benefits for a startup and it fits well, 

the founders should try to learn more about the program and 

the involvement of corporates. On the other hand, a strong 

link to one corporate may cause dependencies with a long-

term impact. Especially if the acceleration program takes 

equity shares, an Indian startup should ask itself if it wants 

to have a big German corporation on its shareholders list. 

While this is highly beneficial in many cases, it can also have 

negative effects (esp. if you want to cooperate or sell to their 

competitors or in the case of different exit scenarios).

What about language and cultural barriers?

Of course, every nation in the world is unique with different 

traditions, habits and languages. The Indian mentality is 

more open, sales- and contact-friendly than the German one. 
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Behaviours which are quite usual in India, especially in field 

of selling yourself and your company and high self-esteem 

might seem to be overselling and arrogant in Germany. 

It is very unlikely to be successful with cold calling and 

sales processes are quite slow and intensive. Also, German 

companies pay much more attention towards contractual 

agreements, especially in the fields of Intellectual Property 

and data security. While bigger corporates have dedicated 

startup people, especially SMEs (German Mittelstand) do 

have a lack of openness. Also, the equality of genders, sexual 

orientations and age groups are a common European value. 

Regardless of the origin and religion, international founders 

can feel safe and are welcomed in mostly all parts of Germany. 

Of course, the internationality and understanding is higher in 

the bigger German cities. In addition, language skills are much 

better developed in bigger cities that host more international 

guests and expats.

Altogether, accelerators may also help you to learn quickly 

about the German business culture and to make contacts 

within Germany, where introductions are extremely helpful. 

They can also help to bridge language barriers. With a 

trustworthy partner in the background, Indian startups can 

access German companies much better.

Where to get an overview?

Professional German programs usually use international 

platforms such as F6S, AngelList or Seed-DB to publicise their 

programs. More information can be found on founderio and in 

the leading German startup online magazine Gründerszene. 

Some of the programs that are open for international startups 

are StartupBootcamp, Bayer G4A, W1 InsurTech Accelerator, 

leAD Sport Accelerator and many more.

To sum it up, Indian founders can use accelerator programs in 

Germany to enter the German and European market mainly 

with benefits for sales and partnering with the German 

Mittelstand (SMEs) and big corporations. However, they must 

consider their own status and circumstances as well as the 

detailed offers by individual programs. Not every Indian 

startup needs an accelerator to start business in Germany 

and not every accelerator is recommended.

2.3.3. Finding German business partners – Mittelstand 

meets startups

Authors: Dr. Kai Morgenstern, Armin Baharian & Dr. Matthias 

Wallisch, https://www.rkw-kompetenzzentrum.de/

In comparison to other countries, SMEs have a special place 

in the German economy. The German Mittelstand is admired 

worldwide as a successful role-model. In total, more than 

3.6 million SMEs are active in Germany. Yet, the Mittelstand 

is much more than just an important economic factor, 

demonstrated by three key characteristics.

First, Mittelstand companies are often deeply embedded in 

their home region and it is not uncommon for them to be 

the most important employers in rural areas. Having said that, 

local roots and economic importance are only one side of the 

coin: Frequently, the regionally rooted companies are at the 

same time world market leaders in their industries.

Second, Mittelstand companies are characterized by the so-

called “unity of ownership and management”. Apart from small 

businesses in the service sector, self-employed professionals, 

and trades- people, the Mittelstand is comprised of many 

companies that have been owned and managed by the same 

family for several generations.

Third, the German Mittelstand is widely recognized as an 

important job creation machine which acts as a stabilizer in 

difficult times, such as the recent financial crisis. In Germany, 

more than half of all employees with social insurance, which 

is considered an indicator of “good jobs”, work for SMEs.

Since many German SMEs occupy leading positions in their 

industries, startups can benefit from their broad customer 

base, their brand recognition, and the trust of their customers 

and partners, helping them to scale and grow. At the same 

time, the company owners are often well-connected and can 

help budding entrepreneurs to make useful contacts in their 

industry in Germany. Nevertheless, differences in company 

cultures between startups and the Mittelstand may create 

difficulties. Especially the larger Mittelstand companies often 

have complex hierarchical management structures thus, 

entrepreneurs should consider that decision making may 

take longer than expected. Moreover, many SMEs are quite 

risk averse. Startups should, therefore, be able to show that 

their business model has reached a certain degree of maturity. 

This, in turn, limits, to some extent, the freedom of action and 

the range of possible experiments in a cooperation.

Many of Germany’s large and well-known companies 

are actively fostering cooperation with startups. They 

systematically use the whole range of possible cooperation 

approaches – from hackathons and other types of startup 

events, to co-working spaces and accelerator programs, all 

the way to all-out investment and acquisition.

Yet, the Mittelstand is largely absent from this growing market. 

These activities and programs typically go way beyond what 

a Mittelstand company is willing or able to commit to in terms 

of financial and other resources. Apart from that, German 

Mittelstand entrepreneurs value and prioritize personal 

acquaintance in comparison to other factors such as industry 

background and capitalization.
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As far as goals of cooperation with startups are concerned, 

Mittelstand entrepreneurs typically do not look for 

investment opportunities but want to create projects to tap 

new technologies, develop product innovations and gain 

access to new markets. About a third of German SMEs have 

some experience with startup cooperation.

The RKW Kompetenzzentrum’s research shows that smaller 

SMEs are more likely to have cooperated with startups. One 

can distinguish four basic types of cooperation:

 " Development partnerships: The main goal is to 

generate new ideas, especially with regard to digital 

products and platforms, as well as product, service and 

process innovations.

 " Supplier relationships: The startup supplies the SME 

with product components or services.

 " Sales partnerships: The SME sells one or more 

products of the startup as part of its own portfolio.

 " Conventional customer relationship: The SME is a 

customer of the startup and buys its product or service. 

Especially in software development, SMEs and startups 

frequently seal large contracts.

For Indian startups it may difficult to access German SMEs 

directly. However, accelerator programs, incubators and co-

working spaces usually also have a good outreach to SMEs 

and can facilitate the access. In addition, Germany has many 

associations representing the SME sector, either generally or 

sectoral. A way to reach out to SMEs is also through these 

associations.

More information about “Mittelstand meets Startup“ have 

been published by the RKW Kompetenzzentrum. The results 

are based on computer-assisted telephone interviews with 

250 SMEs conducted in March 2018.

2.3.4. Co-working spaces in Germany

Author: Eileen Trenkmann 

http://www.linkedin.com/in/eileentrenkmann 

Co-working has seen a significant increase in the last years 

in Germany. Recent studies assume that there are over 500 

co-working spaces currently in operation in Germany. In 2018 

German co-working spaces had an average of 68 members. 

While this is still global average, this has been a rise of 13% 

compared to 2017. The prices differ fundamentally and start 

as low as EUR 60 for a flex desk depending on the city and 

the location. In the last three years many co-working spaces 

have expanded their network of co-working hubs. This 

has contributed to 28% of co-working spaces not making 

profit yet, while 41% stated that they neither make profit 

nor suffer any loss. Co-working spaces are a good start for 

any international startups to build their network as many 

co-working spaces also offer community events and have 

dedicated networking channels such as slack. While co-

working spaces are mostly frequented by individual users and 

freelancers (79%), an increase of small companies and startups 

also working out of co-working spaces can be observed. To 

cater to this need, co-working spaces have started to provide 

more dedicated office space - a rise of 10% compared to 2017. 

A survey among startup founders found out that five of the 

top ten co-working spaces are located in Berlin. However, cities 

such as Cologne, Hamburg and Munich are also among the top 

ten. Co-working spaces are spread across Germany and can be 

found even in small towns like Bad Tölz or Einbeck. Estimates 

suggest that co-working spaces exist in more than 100 

districts. And even bigger corporates are realising the benefits 

of co-working spaces and increasingly outsource office spaces 

to foster a startup mentality among their employees. Berlin is 

the top co-working city in Germany and is the only German 

city in the world-wide top ten co-working real estate markets.

In the following some of the popular co-working spaces are 

highlighted:

" Factory: When founded on 2012 Factory was one of 

the biggest startup campuses in Germany at its time. 

Today, Factory has two campuses in Berlin – one in Mitte 

and one in Kreuzberg. To become a member of factory 

campus, startups and freelancers have to undergo 

an application process that can take up to a month. 

However, Factory captivates with their industrial charm 

and plenty of opportunities to network and participate 

in events. A nomad flex desks that allows campus access 

four times a month starts from EUR 50. A full access flex 

desks costs EUR 119 a month and a full access plus fixed 

desk or lab for startups starts at EUR 279 a month.

" Betahaus: Betahaus was initially founded in 2009 

in Berlin and was one of its first kind in Berlin. Today 

Betahaus has co-working spaces in Hamburg, Sofia and 

Barcelona. As other co-working spaces, Betahaus offers 

a range of community events, including their regular 

BetaBreakfast during which startups can introduce their 

companies. A flex desk in Berlin costs EUR 99 (excluding 

VAT) in Berlin and EUR 89 (excluding VAT) in Hamburg. 

Pro access starts from EUR 250 a month for both 

locations.

" WeWork: The WeWork Network consists of 17 Hubs (2 

being recently established) spread across the cities of 

Berlin, Hamburg, Frankfurt, Cologne and Munich. Prices 

start from EUR 100 for a hot desk and can go up to EUR 

1,210 for an office space. WeWork considers itself as a 

hybrid model and offers besides co-working a range of 

other facilities such as access to its global network of 

entrepreneurs, special events, personalised help, etc.
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" unicorn: Unicorn has been one of the fastest growing 

co-working spaces in Germany. Within a short span 

they have opened co-working hubs in Berlin, Cologne, 

Hamburg, Munich, Potsdam and Lisbon. Only in Berlin 

Unicorn currently operates 12 hubs. There prices are 

competitive and start from EUR 69 (excluding VAT) for 

a flex desk in their co-working space Brunnenviertel 

in Berlin. Unicorn captivates with their original Barista 

coffee included in the co-working price. 

" regus: Regus is one of the largest co-working providers 

in Germany and is currently present in 35 German 

cities. They offer office space, virtual offices, co-working 

offices, conference and workshop rooms, a business 

lounge and emergency offices as their products. Regus 

is frequented by freelancers, startups, SME and big 

companies and offers individual solutions for every 

need. Prices therefore differ largely.

While this is only a small collection of co-working spaces 

available, more comprehensive information on available co-

working spaces can be found on platforms such as Coworking 

Spaces. 

2.3.5. Further links

 " Digital Hub Initiative (http://www.de-hub.de/)

 " F6S (www.f6s.com) 

 " AngelList (www.angellist.com)

 " Seed-DB (www.seed-db.com)

 " Founderio (www.founderio.de)

 " Gründerzene (www.gruenderszene.de)

 " StartupBootcamp (https://www.startupbootcamp.org/)

 " Bayer G4A (https://www.g4a.health/)

 " W1 InsurTech Accelerator (https://fwd.insurtech-

munich.com/)

 " leAD Sport Accelerator (https://www.leadsports.com/)

 " German Mittelstand meet Startups (https://www.rkw-

kompetenzzentrum.de/gruendung/studie/mittelstand-

meets-startup-2017/)

 " Factory (https://factoryberlin.com/) 

 " Betahaus (https://www.betahaus.com/) 

 " WeWork (https://www.wework.com/de-DE/l/germany) 

 " Unicorn (https://www.unicorn.de/de/) 

 " Regus (https://www.regus.de/) 

 " Co-Working Spaces (https://coworking-spaces.info/

coworking-spaces/deutschland)
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2.4. Personal legal status in 
Germany

The following chapter is aimed at providing an overview of 

the most important information after arriving in Germany, 

so that Indian founders can start their business expansion as 

quickly as possible.

2.4.1. Visa

Author: Burkhard Volbracht 

https://www.berlin-partner.de/en/

Stays in Germany require a valid visa for Indian citizens. For 

a short or long-term stay, the visa must be applied for at the 

responsible mission abroad. The visa for a longer-term stay 

requires the approval of the responsible foreigner’s authority 

in Germany. The authority responsible is the foreigner’s 

authority of the place where the foreigner will take up 

residence. Just to give an orientation about the time frame 

needed: The missions abroad usually need between two to 

ten working days to decide on an application for a short-term 

stay visa. In the case of an application for a visa that entitles 

the holder for a longer stay or to take up work, a processing 

period of several months must be expected. While it is actually 

not the processing time that takes so long, only getting an 

appointment with the embassy or consulate in India to 

submit the documents can take up to six months. The time 

for the German embassy in India to process visa applications 

has significantly increased in recent years due to a yearly rise 

of applications. Once you have booked your appointment, 

regularly check whether there are free slots that may pop up 

in case people cancel their application.

Appointments can be made at the German embassy in India. 

For a work visa, a concrete job offer is needed, including the 

job description and details of gross annual salary.

Furthermore, the EU blue card is an instrument to attract 

qualified professionals. Academics with a recognized 

university degree, or one which is comparable to a German 

university degree, are entitled to take residence in Germany 

and get a work permit to take up an employment which 

corresponds to their qualifications. Whether foreign university 

degrees are recognized in Germany can be checked in the 

database Anabin.

An advantage of the Blue Card is that its holders are entitled 

to a permanent residence permit after working for 33 months. 

Furthermore, it is possible to take a short-cut, if one can prove 

that the required language skills comply with level B1 of the 

Common European Reference Framework for Languages 

(CEFR). In that case, permanent residence can be obtained 

after just 21 months.

While work visas and Blue Cards are more relevant for foreign 

employees of German startups, Indian founders have to 

apply for a self-employment visa. Being self-employed means 

either being the owner of a company (more than 50 percent 

of the shares) or working as a freelancer. Managing directors 

holding no shares are treated as employees. 

When applying for a visa, a draft of the Gesellschaftervertrag 

and/or managing director employment contract will be 

requested. However, before you apply you should find out 

which documents are required by the responsible German 

mission. The Indo-German Chamber of Commerce will 

be able to help you in this endeavour. In addition, several 

German states have set-up so called “Welcome Centres” that 

could be contacted to obtain more information.

Usually, the following documents need to be prepared:

 " Application for a visa or residence permit

 " CV and profile

 " Company/service profile

 " Profit and loss account

 " Copy of the first and last page of the passport

 " Evidence for liquidity or for private means (copy bank 

account, etc)
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 " Copies of (potential) clients, partners etc.

 " Evidence of health insurance

During the application process, the questions why the 

founder would like to come to Germany, why to the specific 

city and what is its added value are scrutinized. Thus, founders 

should also include a short paragraph about the added value 

that the business creates for the city (e.g. job creation and 

related investment expenditure) in their company profile. 

Sometimes, everything can be formulated in English. Yet, a 

short summary in German is appreciated.

However, this visa type is only advisable if the applicant 

intends to relocate to Germany, which means staying for 

more than 180 days per year in Germany. If one only seeks the 

possibility to come to Germany regularly for business trips, a 

short-stay Schengen visa is sufficient.

2.4.2. Permanent residence and registration in the 

municipality

If somebody you are already living in Germany with a 

temporary residence and work permit, you can apply for 

an indefinite residence title, called a “permanent permit”. A 

permanent permit opens numerous prospects: unrestricted 

right to live in Germany with one’s family, taking up 

employment and self-employment.

Nationals of non-EU and non-EEA states can apply for a 

permanent permit if they meet the following requirements:

 " They have held a residence permit for 5 years. They have 

the means to support themselves without public funds.

 " They have paid the compulsory or voluntary 

contributions to statutory pension insurance for at least 

60 months.

 " They are entitled to exercise gainful employment and 

have the permits to do so.

 " They have a sufficient command of the German 

language, basic knowledge of the legal and social 

system and the way of life in Germany.

 " They have sufficient living space for themselves and 

their family.

Anyone holding an EU Blue Card can apply for a permanent 

permit after just 33 months if they exercised skilled 

employment during that time. Self-employed persons have 

to show a pension plan or savings and German language 

skills.

It is very important to note that any residence and work 

permit is only valid as long as someone is registered in the 

respective city. Even though it is possible to travel and even to 

leave Germany for a longer period of time, one has to remain 

registered in a municipality. Relocating within Germany (and 

registering accordingly) is not a problem.

To register in a municipality, the following documents are 

required:

 " Personal identification (e.g. personal identification 

document or passport)

 " Registration form

 " Confirmation of residence by the landlord

 " If necessary, supplement for registration (in the case of 

several apartments)

 " Civil status certificate if existing, e.g. marriage certificate, 

birth certificate (for initial registration in Berlin)

2.4.3. Health insurance

In Germany, health insurance is mandatory for everyone, but 

several different systems are in place one could choose from. 

There is a government-regulated public insurance scheme 

(GKV) and private insurances (PKV). Most Germans are part of 

a public insurance scheme.

The contributions towards the health insurance depend on 

the income one is having. When beginning an employment, 

several taxes related to the overall public social welfare 

system such as health insurance, social- and unemployment 

insurance as well as pension fund are automatically deducted 

from the employee’s gross salary, whereby in case of the 

health insurance the employer pays 50% of the overall 

contribution. The net amount of the salary is then transferred 

to the employee on a monthly basis. Within the public 

insurance system, there are many providers to choose from, 

including AOK, BARMER, TK, SBK, BEK, and DAK.

The basic protection of public health care insurance 

companies include the following benefits:

 " Outpatient medical treatments

 " Dental care

 " Medication and medicinal aids

 " Hospitalizations and treatments

 " Medically necessary rehabilitation

 " Services for pregnant women including delivery

If an employee already has a health insurance when starting 

a new employment, it is necessary to provide the employer 

with a confirmation of the health insurance. This confirmation 

can be obtained directly from the health insurance provider.

Furthermore, once employment is taken up in a German 

company, it is also mandatory to contribute to the social 

insurance (Sozialversicherung). The employer requires the 
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employee’s social insurance number for that purpose. This 

number is the same as the pension insurance number. In 

most cases, it is easy to find on the pay slips from previous 

employers. In case of uncertainty, one can contact the 

German Pension Insurance office or one’s insurance provider 

and ask for assistance.

Those who do not have a social insurance number yet can 

apply for one with the German Pension Insurance or their 

health insurance provider. It takes one to four weeks to 

process an application. The applicant will then receive their 

social insurance number as well as their social insurance card 

by mail.

Self-employed persons or employees who earn more than 

EUR 60,750 per year can opt out of the public scheme in favor 

of a private insurance. Private providers generally offer a wider 

choice of covered treatments and services, and contributions 

are differentiated based on desired insurance package, age, 

and individual risk. A lot of doctors depend on patients who 

are privately insured and, therefore, welcome them. Similar 

to the public scheme, there are a plethora of providers to 

choose from.

In general, which kind of health insurance scheme and 

provider is best, depends on the age, family, and health 

conditions. An advantage of the public scheme is that family 

members without an own income are co-insured non-

contributorily.

2.4.4. Finding an apartment and utilities

The rental market in Germany, especially in larger cities, can 

be quite tough. Unlike in India, it is not easy to find a flat in 

cities such as Berlin, Hamburg or Munich very fast and you 

should plan in adequate time to search for an apartment. 

A useful site for both renting and buying apartments 

is ImmobilienScout24. To receive a rental contract, one 

usually has to provide references such as proof of income, 

freedom from debt through a so-called ‘SCHUFA Auskunft’, 

confirmation of the previous landlord that the rent has been 

paid regularly, etc. In contacting potential landlords, it is also 

recommended to give some information about oneself, one’s 

family, and one’s occupation in order to increase the chances 

of being invited for a viewing.

Immediately after moving into a new apartment or house in 

Germany, subscription for electricity, and if necessary gas, is 

required. In Berlin, for instance, many households are supplied 

with gas – both for heating and hot water. Normally, the 

landlord will inform you about the details while seeing the 

flat. Also, the rental agreement should provide information in 

that regard. Usually, it is possible to choose one of the several 

electricity and gas suppliers. In Berlin, for instance, if someone 

has not yet chosen a provider, the household will first be 

supplied via the company “Vattenfall” (electricity) and “Gasag” 

(gas). This guarantees the supply of gas and electricity from 

the day you are moving in. 

There are several comparison portals on the Internet that can 

calculate and show electricity and gas prices for a specific 

household. The prices depend on the size of the home, 

the consumption and the exact place of residence. The 

price comparison portal Check24 can help to find the best 

energy supplier. Most of the contracts can be done online. In 

addition, it is crucial to take note of the exact electricity and/

or gas meter reading when moving in to avoid paying for the 

electricity consumption of the previous tenants.

2.4.5. Internet and phone

Pre-paid SIM cards (Prepaidkarte/Guthabenkarte) allow for 

immediate use and are available in nearly all supermarkets, 

drug stores, electronics stores, and gas stations. They can 

be registered either directly, using the cell phone, or online. 

Without a fixed residence, you can provide someones name 

and a c/o address, or the address of the hotel where you are 

staying.

Pre-paid cards have a limited balance which needs to be 

“recharged” regularly. In case you would like to get a mobile 

phone with a contract, including monthly bills, it is advisable 

to visit a phone shop or go directly to the provider’s website. 

A German identification card, or alternatively a registration 
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certificate is needed to sign a mobile phone contract. 

There are three big mobile network operators in Germany: 

Telefonica/O2, Telekom, and Vodafone. However, the three 

big players are split into around 50 smaller providers, such 

as congstar, Othello, ALDI Talk, Blauworld, FONIC, and many 

others. While Vodafone has the best coverage in Germany, 

it is by far the most expensive provider. Don’t be surprised 

but unlike India, Germany’s mobile network is still nascent. 

While you will be able to receive 4G in most bigger cities, in 

more remote areas it may happen that you do not have any 

network coverage at all. Almost all operators offer both pre-

paid cards and contracts with a base monthly fee. For those 

who call and use the internet relatively frequently, an all-

inclusive tariff (Pauschaltarif ) with a flat rate is recommended. 

Irregular users will probably be better off buying minutes or 

pre-paid cards.

Fast broadband internet connections are available in 

almost every city in Germany. Subscribing to a DSL flat 

rate is beneficial as it allows surfing around the clock for a 

fixed price and helps to avoid extra costs. Many providers 

offer a combined flat rate DSL and telephone subscription. 

Independent DSL portals are useful to compare different 

providers. Moreover, many DSL and telephone providers offer 

information and registration forms in multiple languages.

Lastly, one should bear in mind that the registration process 

for both prepaid SIM cards and contracts is often carried out 

in German, including German documents. It could, thus, be a 

good idea to take a German friend or colleague to the shop, 

if available.

2.4.6. Social security for non-Eu citizens

In contrast to some other industrialized countries, the core 

social security in Germany is financed collectively by means 

of a redistribution system. It is intended as a collective to 

help those who suffer hardship or are in need, acting on the 

principle of solidarity. The cost for the social security system 

is directly deducted form one’s salary and is been paid by 

employees and employers.

Social security contributions are made up of:

 " Health insurance

 " Nursing care insurance

 " Pension insurance

 " Unemployment insurance

 " Accident insurance

Social security contributions are mandatory for all employees 

earning more than 450€ and are shared by the employer 

and employee. Only the costs for the accident insurance are 

exclusively borne by the employer. In total, the employer’s 

share of social insurance contributions amounts to about 21 

percent of the employee’s gross wage.

Self-employed people generally do not have to pay all the 

social security contributions. While the health care insurance 

is mandatory and is fully borne by the self-employed person, 

the nursing care insurance is optional. Similarly, most self-

employed people can voluntarily opt to pay for the pension 

insurance. However, a few exceptions exist. For instance, artists 

and publicists such as journalist are mandated to contribute 

towards the artist social insurance that also covers the 

pension funds. Also, self-employed people regularly working 

only for one client also have to pay for the pension fund.

If you do not contribute to the social security system, it is 

important that you make your own provisions when it comes 

to pensions, unemployment or health issues.

In case an Indian entrepreneur temporarily transfers 

employees from India to Germany, EU regulations allow the 

employee to remain within the Indian scheme for a certain 

amount of time. This means that no contributions have to be 

paid in the German system.

2.4.7. Personal income tax

Individual persons, with a domicile or a customary place 

of abode in Germany, are generally subject to tax on their 

worldwide income in Germany. In this context, the term 
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“customary place of abode” means that an individual does 

not only stay temporarily (less than six months in the calendar 

year) at this place or in this area.

An individual person, who is not a resident in Germany, is 

generally subject to tax only on income derived from German 

sources.

The German income tax law distinguishes between several 

categories of income, including income from employment, 

self- employment, investment, business and real estate. 

Income from each of the categories may be combined, and 

overall taxable income is then determined by subtracting 

special deductions.

In general, annual tax returns must be filed by the 31st of July 

of the year following the tax year. However, extensions for 

filing are granted automatically until the 31st of December of 

the year following the tax year if the return is prepared with 

the assistance of a tax adviser.

Non-residents may file an income tax return only if they have 

income that is not subject to withholding tax. For example, 

employers must withhold income tax (known as wage tax) for 

their employees.

Individual tax rates for 2018 gradually increased from an 

effective rate of 14% to a marginal rate of 42%. The top rate 

of 45% applies only if taxable income is EUR 265,327 or more. 

A basic tax-free allowance of EUR 9,000 is available for single 

individuals. However, income from investment is generally 

taxed at source with a flat tax rate of 25%.

To help finance the costs related to the German unification, 

a 5.5% solidarity surcharge continues to be imposed on the 

income tax liability of all taxpayers. If a German tax resident 

is a member of a registered church in Germany, the church 

is entitled to impose church tax. Church tax is assessed at a 

rate of 8% or 9% on income tax liability, depending on the 

location.

Expenditure incurred by an employee to create, protect or 

preserve income from employment is generally deductible. 

Income-related deductible expenses include, for example, 

the cost of travel between the home and the workplace or 

expenses connected with maintaining two households for 

business reasons (e.g. rent, home trips, per diems and moving 

costs, to a certain extent).

A standard deduction of EUR 1,000 per year for employment-

related expenses is granted without any further proof. 

However, an employee can claim a larger deduction if he 

or she proves that the expenses actually paid exceed the 

standard deduction.

2.4.8. Further links

 " German Consulate (https://india.diplo.de/in-de/

service/05-VisaEinreise)

 " Anabin Database (https://anabin.kmk.org/anabin.html)

 " SCHUFA (https://www.schufa.de/de/)

 " ImmobilienScout24 (https://www.immobilienscout24.

de/) 

 " Check24 (https://www.check24.net/stromanbieter-

wechseln) 
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2.5. Getting started in Germany

Authors: Udo Sellhast & Christina Schön, http://www.gtai.de/

Indian companies seeking to set-up a business in Germany 

can choose between different establishment forms. A 

separate corporation held by the foreign company – a 

subsidiary – in the form of a corporation is in practice often 

established for this purpose. Existing companies can also 

conduct business via a German branch office. This chapter 

provides an overview on different possibilities of establishing 

a market presence of an Indian company in Germany as well 

as on the necessary steps when it comes to the process of 

incorporation.

2.5.1. Forms and types of business entities

German company law offers a variety of different legal 

structures suitable for every type of business. Decisive criteria 

for the choice of the legal form are generally the intended 

function of the shareholders, liability, and terms of taxation. 

The basic structure of all company forms is stipulated by 

law which provides for predictability and legal certainty. The 

same legal conditions generally apply for Indian and German 

entrepreneurs.

The main feature of a corporation is the contribution of 

capital by the shareholders. A corporation is a legal entity, 

meaning that the holder of rights and obligations is not 

the individual shareholder, but the company itself. The 

corporation itself concludes contracts, holds assets and 

is liable for taxation. Shareholders have limited personal 

liability. As such, a minimum share capital is required. There 

are four major forms of corporations under German law:

 " Limited Liability Company (GmbH)

 " Limited Liability Entrepreneurial Company (UG), which 

is a form of a GmbH, also called “mini-GmbH

 " Stock Corporation (AG)

 " Partnership Limited by Shares (KGaA)

In contrast, the characteristic for a partnership is the 

personal commitment of the partners to their working efforts 

in the partnership. In partnerships, the individual partners 

are responsible for the liabilities of the company (including 

private assets) and act for the company. Limitations of liability 

for individual partners are only possible to a limited extent. 

The different kinds of partnerships differ primarily in terms 

of the contingent liabilities of the partners and the necessary 

registration obligations. Major forms of partnerships in 

Germany include:

 " Civil Law Partnership (GbR)

 " General Commercial Partnership (oHG)

 " Limited Partnership (KG)

Even mixed forms are possible, for instance the GmbH & Co. 

KG. The GmbH & Co.KG is a limited partnership (KG) in which 

the general partner (Komplementär) is a limited liability 

company (GmbH). The GmbH is fully liable for the GmbH & Co. 

KG’s debts and liabilities. The liability of the limited partners 

(Kommanditisten) is limited to their respective share of the 

partnership capital.

GmbH is the most widely used form for corporations in 

Germany. Since 2018, startups are able to enjoy the low-

cost “light version” of GmbH which is called Entrepreneurial 

Company or in German Unternehmensgesellschaft (UG). UG 

unlike its bigger brother GmbH (EUR 25.000) only needs a 

contribution of one Euro per shareholder to be set-up and 

thus is the preferred company form for startups. Similarly to 

the GmbH, the UG consists of one or more CEOs, shareholders 

and above a certain size, the supervisory board. Please 

keep in mind that while the contribution is quite low other 

incorporation costs such as notary fees, registration fees, etc. 

apply. UGs are taxed in the same way as other corporations 

and have to maintain double-entry accounts including the 

annual balance sheet. Once the share capital of EUR 25,000 

is reached, e.g. through reserving funds, the UG can easily be 

renamed to GmbH.

For detailed information on these different company types, 

GTAI has developed a detailed investment guide. 

2.5.2. Difference between subsidiaries and branch 

offices

Instead of setting up a new legal company according to 

German law, an Indian corporation may also merely register a 

branch office in Germany. A branch office has no independent 

or separate legal personality distinct from the Indian head 

office company itself. In legal and organizational terms, it is 

part of the Indian head office business. In this context, the 

Indian head office company is fully liable to the extent of its 

own assets for any claim’s creditors might assert against the 

branch office. This often is seen as one of the disadvantages 

of a branch office compared to e.g. a subsidiary in the form 

of a GmbH.

In Germany, there are two kinds of branch offices which 

primarily differ due to the degree of independence from the 

head office company.

The autonomous branch office (selbständige 

Zweigniederlassung) is dependent upon the head office 

company at the internal level but engages in business 

activities independently. However, the Indian head office 

company is still liable for the business transactions concluded 
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by the branch office. At the organizational level, autonomous 

branch offices are to a certain extent independent from 

the head office company and usually have the following 

attributes:

 " Management with the freedom to act according to their 

own judgment (i.e. with full power of attorney and the 

power to contract)

 " Own capital resources (allocated by the head office) and 

bank account

 " Separate accounting (on its own or via the head office 

company)

The dependent branch office (unselbständige 

Zweigniederlassung) focuses on maintaining contacts and 

initiating business in Germany. It performs support and 

implementation related tasks without having any individual 

business discretion and is entirely dependent on the head 

office.

Offices that purely serve to observe the market and pave 

the way for initial customer contacts are often described as 

representative offices. However, this is a term which does 

not exist in German commercial law. Once an office is used 

by a foreign company for commercial activities (thus forming 

part of the foreign company organization), it generally 

must be registered at least as a dependent branch office in 

Germany.

2.5.3. Founding and registration of a business entity

GmbH as a subsidiary of an Indian corporation

The German limited liability company (Gesellschaft mit 

beschränkter Haftung – GmbH) is the most widely used legal 

form for corporations in Germany. The main reason for its 

popularity (also as a subsidiary of a foreign company) is the 

combination of high flexibility and relatively few obligations. 

At least one shareholder (e.g. an Indian national or an Indian 

corporation) is required in order to establish a GmbH.

The GmbH has two mandatory corporate bodies. The main 

body is comprised of the shareholder(s) collectively in 

the shareholder meeting and the executive body of the 

managing director(s). An Indian national residing in India 

can generally also be the managing director of a GmbH if 

the company has a physical German business address and at 

least a representative on-site in Germany.

The GmbH requires a minimum share capital of EUR 25,000. 

It can be contributed in cash or in kind (e.g. real estate or 

patents). Liability is limited to the corporation‘s business 

assets including share capital.

The incorporation of a GmbH requires notarization by 

a German notary. For instance, the notary has to verify 

the existence and power of representation of the parent 

company. Typically, this is demonstrated by specific public 

documents. Foreign public documents as a rule require 

authentication for use in Germany. Since Germany no longer 

legalizes Indian documents, a formal verification process, 

initiated by the Embassy or Consulate generally is required. 

The German Missions in India provide further information on 

this verification procedure online. This extra step should be 

considered in the overall time planning for the incorporation.

The main steps for setting up a GmbH by cash contribution 

are straightforward and can be described as follows:

" Drafting of articles of association: The articles of 

association shape the identity and constitution of the 

company. Thanks to the large scope for contractual 

design, the GmbH is a very flexible corporation. 

Mandatory content includes share capital, shareholders 

and respective shares held, business name, registered 

office, and company object.

" Notarization of articles of association: The drafting 

and notarization of the articles of association are 

normally performed in one session by a German notary. 

The founding shareholder(s) adopt(s) the articles of 

association and appoint(s) one or more managing 

directors in a notarial deed. German notaries can be 

found online in the directory of the Federal Chamber 

of Notaries. The notary should also be contacted at an 

early stage in order to get certainty on the documents 

of the Indian parent company (if applicable) and the 

necessary form.

" Payment of share capital (cash contribution): Once 

the articles of association have been notarized, a 

company account should be opened, and the share 

capital deposited. A payment of EUR 12,500 in total is 

enough for standard EUR 25,000 GmbH registration in 

the commercial register.

" registration in the commercial register: When the 

required share capital has been verifiable contributed 

to the GmbH, the managing director(s) apply for the 

registration of the GmbH in the commercial register 

(Handelsregister). The application is electronically filed 

by a notary. The GmbH comes into existence as a legal 

entity and its limitation of liability becomes effective 

upon registration in the commercial register.

" Trade office registration: Before business operations 

are started, the trade office (Gewerbe- / Ordnungsamt) 

must be notified about the business activity in question. 

Required permits and verification of representatives 

must also be submitted.
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For other company forms, the establishment procedure may 

differ. 

registration of a branch office

An autonomous branch office of an Indian corporation must 

be registered with the commercial register via a German 

notary. Like for the establishment of a subsidiary, the notary 

should be contacted at an early stage in order to get certainty 

on the documents of the Indian head office company and the 

necessary form.

Autonomous branch offices and dependent branch offices 

of Indian companies generally have to notify the responsible 

trade office (Gewerbe- / Ordnungsamt) about any performed 

business activity. Required permits and verifications of 

representatives must also be submitted.

licenses and permits

Only in certain cases, a business license or further 

registrations are necessary in addition to the registration with 

the commercial register and to the trade office notification.

For instance, in the financial services and fintech sector, an 

authorization by the German Federal Financial Supervisory 

Authority (BaFin) may be necessary among other things. As 

the business models may be very diverse, BaFin has compiled 

initial information online on e.g. alternative payment 

methods, blockchain technology, crowdfunding or virtual 

currencies and also offers a specific contact form for startups 

and fintech companies. For more detailed information, please 

see the website of BaFin.

For brokers, real estate or insurance intermediaries and 

advisors or similar professions, specific licensing and 

registration requirements exist, too.

For the independent, non-industrial operation of certain 

trades (e.g. bakers, carpenters or hearing aid acousticians) 

entry in the Register of Craftsmen (Handwerksrolle) is 

required. The trades that are affected are listed in the Crafts 

and Trades Regulation Code (Handwerksordnung) where 

they can be consulted.

It is not possible to list all cases of potential licensing or 

permit requirements. For a (non-exhaustive) list of professions 

requiring a permit have a look at chapter 2.5.10.

2.5.4. Membership in a Chamber of Commerce and 

Industry

In Germany, the Chambers of Industry and Commerce 

(Industrie- und Handelskammer – IHK) and the Chambers 

of Crafts (Handwerkskammer) function as the local interest 

groups of business operators in a specific region. The 

chambers realize more than just the general functions of 

professional associations for their members. They also:

" carry out active lobbying work by representing the 

interests of the company towards municipalities, state, 

and federal government;

" organize vocational training by defining the framework 

requirements and approving interim and final 

examinations;

" draw up certificates concerning, for example, 

admissible company names

In addition to this, the chambers also provide information 

about local economic framework conditions in a specific 

region and provide foreign companies with business contacts 

to possible regional partners. All members are also able 

to draw on the comprehensive advice and services of their 

respective responsible chamber. The chambers are generally 

the first point of contact in the event of day-to-day business 

problems.

Membership of the chambers occurs automatically upon 

registration in the trade office without requiring special 

registration. The cost of a membership in the local chamber 

depends on the turnover of the applicant company. In 

Germany, the IHK is also responsible for approving names. 

Once decided about the name, the desired company name 

is submitted to the chamber for examination and either 

approved or send back with a request to alter the name. 

Many IHK in Germany have an India Desk that support 

German companies and Indian companies to reach out to the 

respective other market. Among these IHK are Frankfurt am 

Main, Munich, Hannover, etc. 

Certain trades are considered as crafts professions and have 

to register with the Chamber of Crafts prior to the trade office 

notification. Membership cost depends on turnover, too.

The umbrella association of the Chambers of Industry and 

Commerce, the DIHK, and the umbrella association of the 

Chambers of Crafts, the ZDH, offer an overview of all of the 

regionally responsible chambers. 

In addition, to the national Chambers of Commerce, Germany 

has a broad network of Foreign Chambers of Commerce 

(Außenhandelskammer - AHK) in countries where Germany 

has a particular economic interest. There are currently 140 

Chambers of Commerce in 92 countries representing interests 

of German companies abroad and local companies with an 

interest in Germany. Many IHKs are also members of AHKs. 

The most active AHK in the startup space in India is the one 

located in Bangalore that actively also fosters an exchange 

between the German and Indian startup ecosystem.
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2.5.5. Insurance for startups and founders in Germany

Author: Frederik Wulff, https://markel.de/

Anyone who starts a company runs a risk. These risks are 

normally shared among the entrepreneur and the investors, 

in return for which the profits are shared among them as well. 

In some areas, however, the entrepreneur does not have to 

bear the risks alone. Insurance companies are interested in 

taking over some risk, depending on the business model of 

the startup. 

Types of Insurance

First, one has to be clear about what and who will actually 

be covered and protected by the insurance. Many insurance 

products focus on the protection of the entrepreneur. All 

types of insurance are offered in Germany, ranging from 

private liability insurance products, household contents 

insurance products to pension products and private health 

insurances. In Germany, health insurance is mandatory for 

everyone, including those who come as entrepreneurs to 

Germany. However, if you only come temporary to Germany, 

for instance on a business visa, but do not have your 

permanent residence in Germany, a health insurance may not 

be mandatory, however, during the visa process you will need 

to prove that an insurance in India is covering any emergency 

situation. In Germany you can chose between a public or 

private health insurance. While a private insurance may be 

cheaper if you are younger, they tend to become pricier the 

older you get. Also, shifting to a public insurance later on may 

be difficult if you opt for a private insurance in the first go.

Besides personal coverage, the protection of the startup 

is crucial as well. There are usually two broad insurance 

categories. On one hand, there are third-party liability 

insurance products and on the other hand, there insurance 

products against first-party losses. 

Finding the “right” insurance company

There is no standard advice on necessary insurances for 

entrepreneurs and startups. In contrast, it is best if a startup 

obtains expert advice from a professional who understands 

not only the range of insurance products but also the risks 

for startups. The entrepreneur or the startup then can make 

an informed decision based on the advice they have received.

Caution must be exercised when mixing private and 

commercial insurance. While some insurance providers 

highlight mixed insurance products as an advantage, 

problems can quickly arise from using a mixture of private 

and commercial coverage. For instance, commercial 

insurances demonstrate taxable financial advantages. 

However, it may look suspicious to the home and revenue 

office when the company is paying for an insurance policy 

that only or chiefly benefits one person. Mixing insurance 

products can become problematic when damages are 

reported in the private sphere which suddenly drives up 

the premiums for the company insurance. This can quickly 

lead to tension. There are numerous professional insurance 

agents in Germany. It is, however, important for startups to 

obtain advice from an agent who not only understands the 

insurance sector but also the startup world. That narrows 

down the field significantly. An insurance company targeting 

young entrepreneurs is Hiscox (https://www.hiscox.de/

versicherungen-fuer-gruender/).
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Overview

Product relevance Function Example of Damage

Commercial 

liability insurance 

– for offices

Very important This insurance protects against damage 

to persons and property which could 

occur in an office

A customer or business partner enters 

the office, trips over a computer cable 

and injured himself.

D&O (directors’ 

and officers’ 

insurance)

Important This insurance protects management 

board members and staff in 

management positions against personal 

liability in their corporate roles.

As managing director, one obtains 

the advice of an expert to draw up a 

complicated contract and as a result 

the company incurs damage.

Contents 

insurance

Less important The insurance is designed to repair or 

replace damage to the office fixtures 

and fittings such as office furniture, PCs, 

printers.

The seal of the kitchen tap is not 

watertight. Over the weekend water 

accumulates in the office and damages 

furniture, carpets and computers.

Financial loss 

liability insurance

Important This insurance protects against damage 

to financial assets which results from 

professional oversight or mistakes due 

to calculations errors, forgetfulness, 

writing or typing errors, misleading and 

misspeaking.

An online sports equipment business 

accidentally uses images protected 

by copyright assuming that these are 

license-free images.

Cyber insurance Important This insurance protects against financial 

damages that can occur from Internet 

use, such as data theft or computer 

fraud.

In the course of a marketing campaign, 

a staff member sends out an internal 

document in error with all client 

contact information, including order 

data, addresses and bank details.

2.5.6. legal Basics

Author: Dr. Katy Ritzmann, https://www.gsk.de/ 

legal basics for establishing business activities in 

Germany

After successfully having set up a company, the operation of 

the newly founded entity will have to comply with further 

legal provisions. These include company internal matters, 

such as how the bodies within the company are structured 

and how the relationship between the shareholders is 

organized. Other startup-relevant legal issues concern the 

compliance of the operative activities of the company with 

the regulatory framework, particularly in the digital domain, 

as well as legal provisions around competition and consumer 

laws.

Company internal matters 

The relationship between the shareholders – Shareholders’ 

Agreement

A shareholders’ agreement is a non-mandatory arrangement 

made as a contract among the company’s shareholders and 

contains a set of regulations regarding how the company 

should be operated, as well as the shareholders’ rights and 

obligations. The shareholders’ agreement clarifies in much 

broader detail several points which are already known from 

the Articles of Association (AoA). However, it also adds further 

points which are not meant to be public. A shareholders’ 

agreement remains an internal agreement between the 

shareholders of the company. It can also include further 

detailed information on the regulation of the shareholders’ 

relationship, the management of the company, relevant 

rulings concerning how to deal with the shares, how to deal 

with dividend payments, voting rights, as well as further 

privileges and protections of the shareholders.

The managing director serves as the legal representative 

for external relations, as well as the manager of the day-

to-day businesses. He / she is under the supervision of the 

shareholders. Appointments and removals of managing 

directors are usually made by an official resolution of the 

shareholders. They take effect only from the moment such 

resolutions are submitted to and accepted by the commercial 

register (and become public).

In principle, also foreigners may be appointed managing 

directors of a GmbH. If the company is managed from 

Germany, such persons must have the required residence 

and work permits for Germany. If a foreigner is to manage 

the company from abroad, that person may be appointed 

managing director only if he / she is able to enter Germany at 
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any time without the need for a visa. In their capacity as the 

representative of the GmbH, managing directors must comply 

with numerous legal and business duties. Certain provisions 

of the relevant law restrain the leeway of the directors and 

have to be properly taken into consideration, to make sure 

not to be found personally liable for not acting in compliance 

with the law (e.g. in cases of unlawful distribution of proceeds, 

undue and improper accounting, insolvency filing, etc.).

The legal standard for examining the conduct of the directors 

is “the due care of a prudent and professional businessman”. 

The managing director is responsible for the organization of 

the GmbH in a way which ensures that all legal requirements 

are properly fulfilled. In addition, the organizational system 

has to be sufficient for the managing director to fulfil his legal 

and business duties properly.

The shareholder(s) or the shareholder’s meeting is the 

main and the most important body of the GmbH. In contrast 

to the German Stock Corporation (Aktiengesellschaft, or AG), 

the GmbH shareholders have almost complete freedom to 

control and manoeuvre the existence and structure of the 

company through instructions they give to its managing 

directors.

The shareholders must comply with the Articles of 

Association and the obligations imposed on them by 

law, such as amendments of the Articles of Association in 

certain scenarios, nominating or removing the managing 

director, approvals of the financial statements, capital reserve 

measures, issuing new shares, dissolution of the company, etc. 

The shareholders’ main and fundamental rights are the right 

of ownership and the right of participation in the proceeds 

of the company.

Thus, holding a share in the company entitles the shareholder 

to fiduciary rights as well as to participating rights that are 

related to the decision- making mechanisms. Decisions in the 

shareholders’ meeting are taken by voting. Usually, one share 

equals one vote. The law stipulates special requirements in 

terms of the minimum voting majority required for resolutions 

concerning specific issues, such as the amendment of the 

Articles of Association or the dissolution of the company. 

Otherwise, resolutions are passed with a simple majority, 

unless otherwise agreed to by the shareholders, or in the 

Articles of Association. Generally, every natural or legal entity 

can be a shareholder in the GmbH. This also includes foreign 

entities or individuals with foreign nationality.

A one-man-GmbH foundation with a legal entity as the sole 

shareholder is also possible. Furthermore, a trustee can hold 

the shares in trust for the actual beneficial shareholder.

Compliance with legal provisions in the operation of the 

company 

a)  Regulatory provisions for digital companies:

 Depending on the business field the German company 

is operating in, certain regulatory provisions can 

be relevant. As mentioned before, the offering of 

certain financial services requires a license issued by 

the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority 

(BaFin).

 Crucially, this concerns not only FinTech companies 

as such but also other company models which 

would not consider themselves providers of financial 

services. Having said this, companies may be obliged 

to apply for a BaFin license due to provisions in 

the German Banking Act (Kreditwesengesetz, 

KWG), Payment Services Supervision Act 

(Zahlungsdiensteaufsichtsgesetz, ZAG) or the Capital 

Investment Code (Kapitalanlagegesetzbuch, KAGB). 

Yet, the general rule is that companies are obliged to 

apply for the relevant license if they conduct banking 

business or provide financial services. FinTech ventures 

are highly likely to fall under one of those regulatory 

obligations. Nevertheless, even if no financial 

regulation by BaFin is relevant, a company might still 

be obliged to apply for a license according to trade 

regulations (Gewerbeordnung). An online platform for 

food deliveries, for instance, is obliged to apply for a 

license, if its customers do not pay the delivery service 

directly but through the platform by using digital 

payment systems like PayPal.

A supervisory board  
is not a mandatory requirement for a GmbH, 

besides a few exceptions, which are not relevant for 
startups and young companies. Nevertheless, the 
articles of association, as well as the shareholders’ 

agreement, may voluntarily prescribe the 
establishment of a supervisory board to assist the 
shareholders and monitor the management as an 

internal corporate governance measure.

remember: Violation of regulatory provisions can 
have severe consequences for the company and its 
management. Operating without a required license 
may entail personal liability and be an obstacle with 
regards to future applications for a license. Moreover, 

competitors could sue for an in- junction and creditors 
might seek damages and declaratory judgments 

against culprits. Ask your lawyer about the need for 
specific licenses and the implementation of regulatory 
provisions in the operating business of your company.
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b) Consumer laws in Germany: 

 Anyone who sets up a company in Germany and sells 

a product or provides a service to consumers has to 

follow certain rules. In Germany, the national law, as well 

as European consumer laws, must be complied with in 

all cases. As a general rule, consumers enjoy extensive 

protection in Europe. Consumer laws are applicable to 

agreements and situations between a consumer and 

an entrepreneur.

 A consumer is defined as any natural person who 

concludes a legal transaction for purposes that are 

predomi nantly not attributable to his commercial 

or self-employed professional activity, regardless of 

whether the goods sold are in fact consumer goods or 

not. An entrepreneur is any natural or legal person or a 

partnership with a legal capacity which, when offering 

or concluding a legal transaction, acts in the exercise of 

its commercial or self-employed professional activity. 

Some of the following points are not only relevant 

for business the German company may conduct with 

consumers, but may also be relevant in general. The 

following summary is not exhaustive but outlines the 

most important provisions.

c) Sale of goods and services: 

 The main pillars of consumer protection in purchase 

agreements are revocation, warranty and guarantee 

regulations. The relevant principles are set by strict 

statutory rules that are further detailed by specific 

jurisdiction. When it comes to contracts that are done 

via e-mail, via phone, via the internet or by any other 

means of distant communication, consumers usually 

have the right to revoke from the contract within 14 

days without a specific reason.

 In a glimpse, the period of 14 days starts only when the 

consumer has received the goods or if digital content 

was purchased, with the conclusion of the contract. 

If the contract is not a purchase agreement or not 

a purchase agreement for goods, but specific other 

services, the details around the right of revocation 

may change, but will still remain strict. Provisions like 

this may seem rather irrelevant in the beginning. But 

given that there is clearly no way of going around these 

provisions, each case brought to court would not only 

oblige the company to give the consumer-customer 

his money back, but also bears the obvious risk that a 

competitor or an association taking care of consumer 

rights in Germany will instigate a lawsuit for cease and 

desist and payment of damages. Thus, these provisions 

should not be ignored. Moreover, if the company 

does not properly inform the consumer about his/her 

revocation rights, the consumer has the right to revoke 

from the contract even after the regular period of 14 

days, sometimes even after years. Implementing those 

provisions into one’s business model allows to factor 

the commercial outcome of it into one’s business 

plan. Provisions like the right of revocation lead to a 

certain share of goods being sent back to the company, 

which may be higher than in other countries where no 

statutory rights of revocation exist.

 One other major point in contracts with consumers 

are warranties. The seller has an obligation, even if it 

is not explicitly stated in the contract, to warrant that 

the product or service sold is free of material and 

legal defects. If the goods delivered to the consumer 

are defective, consumers have several options: they 

can demand reparation, delivery of a new item, price 

reduction or they can return the item and revoke/

reverse the transaction under certain additional 

conditions. The rights of revocation and warranty 

are inalienable. Guarantees, which are often used as 

a marketing tool, have legal implications as well. If a 

company voluntarily offers a guarantee for a product, 

it is bound by such a guarantee, even if the seller just 

mentioned the guarantee in the advertisement for 

the product and the consumer bought the product 

because of it.

d) Competition law – Unfair business practices: 

 Whether consumers are purchasing goods or services 

on the internet or at a shop, EU regulations protect 

them against unfair business practices. This is not 

only meant to protect consumers but also to ensure a 

measure for self-regulation in the market. If a company 

applies unfair business practices, each competitor of 

the company and associations protecting consumer 

rights is entitled to go after the company with e.g. 

warning letters. They may even file lawsuits in order to 

prevent the company from applying business practices 

that are deemed unfair and against the law.

 Unfair business practices are defined in the German 

Act against Unfair Trade Practices (Gesetz gegen den 

Unlauteren Wettbewerb, UWG) as actions that do not 

comply with the entrepreneurial diligence and are 

likely to have a significant impact on the economic 

behavior of the consumer. A practice is considered 

unfair when specific measures are applied or specific 

situations are used by the company in order to gain an 

economic advantage, which the company would not 

have, would it behave properly and accept the rights 

and legal provisions of a functioning market.
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 Examples include misleading or aggressive practices, 

such as the manipulation of kids through specific 

advertisement, hidden advertisement, or even sending 

out newsletter e-mails to recipients after the recipient 

has communicated that he / she does not want to 

receive such e-mails. This is especially relevant for 

companies using online advertising, as this is not only 

an unfair trade practice but can also be considered 

an infringement of personal rights and a breach of 

data protection provisions, which may, in turn, imply 

huge fines for the company. Moreover, consumers are 

protected against unfair and / or surprising terms in 

general business terms or terms and conditions. Terms 

and conditions of German companies which limit 

their liability towards the customer always explicitly 

exclude liability for damages resulting from death or 

bodily harm. This is because, if any such exclusion is not 

made, the whole limitation of liability in the terms and 

conditions is deemed void, which in turn automatically 

leads to the unrestricted liability of the company.

e) Data protection: 

 In the European Union, the collection and processing 

of personal data are only allowed under certain 

restrictions. Data can only be processed for specifically 

defined and legitimate purposes. As soon as the 

data is not needed anymore, it has to be deleted or 

anonymized. Notifications that are considered spam 

are only allowed to be sent if the consumer consented 

to them. Internet websites which use Cookies have to 

inform the users about it, ask for their consent, and allow 

the option for the user to deactivate the cookies. In 

addition, users have a right to know for which purposes 

the said Cookies are used. Data protection regulations 

come into play in every business that directly or 

indirectly deals with personal data, particularly in 

the fields of advertising, marketing, opinion research, 

personal profiles, personal data trading, data analysis 

and others. It is not only relevant for companies that 

are active in the B2C field and have direct contact to 

the persons whose data is involved but also applies to 

companies that pursue B2B relationships, for instance 

when they provide software for other companies that 

deal with personal data.

 These firm data protection regulations are not only 

relevant in Germany, but all over the European 

union, as they are based on Eu directives and 

regulations. Nevertheless, some smaller or larger 

differences in the different Eu Member States exist. 

 It is further interesting to note that legal provisions are 

not only written in the law books but are carried by a 

system which supports the market in regulating itself. 

Consumer law enforcement can in parts be executed 

directly by the consumers, who have the right to 

claim their remedies. However, as mentioned above, 

administrative and criminal proceedings, as well as 

actions of competitors and associations for consumer 

rights, may be implemented as well, in the case of 

certain violations by the entrepreneurs. Since Germany 

is a highly competitive and big market, it is wiser, less 

time and money consuming to go according to the laws, 

rather than fighting with all of these potential market 

players and regulating entities that will certainly make 

sure that even a new company is playing by the rules.

 All in all, this chapter can only describe basic principles, 

and provide a short overview of relevant legal provisions 

when starting a business in Germany. For further details, 

a lawyer should be consulted.
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GDPr

The EU-GDPR modernizes data protection rules, responding 

to the rapid development of data processing technologies, 

while at the same time giving EU-citizens more control 

over their personal data. Personal data is information which 

can be assigned to a specific person, thus making that 

person identifiable, such as the name, date of birth, contact 

information and bank details of that person.

Additionally, data relating to the origin, political and religious 

views, belief, health or sexuality benefits from special 

protection. While granting rights to affected persons, the 

GDPR makes high demands on enterprises in return for the 

purpose of balancing powers – regardless of the size of the 

company. It pushes enterprises to critically examine their 

processing operations and implement higher standards of 

data protection. Substantial fines in case of a violation of up 

to € 20 Million or 4 percent of the worldwide annual turnover 

of the previous fiscal year – depending on which figure is 

higher – could be the consequence for not complying with 

the laws.

Additionally, the individual and physical scope of the 

GDPR is very broad: not only “controllers” (enterprises) that 

use personal data e.g. for their daily business in regards 

of customer relationship are responsible to follow the 

regulatory regime of the GDPR, but also data “processors” 

who support controllers in that respect; among other things, 

both controllers and processors have to guarantee that 

technical and organizational measures for data processing 

are taken in accordance with the GDPR. The physical scope 

(“data processing”) covers “collection”, “analysis”, “storage”, 

“archiving” and other use of personal data.

The majority of startups use personal data as a core element 

of their business value chain. This processing falls within the 

scope of the GDPR. Under the GDPR, affected persons can 

obtain information about their personal data which has been 

stored, can claim correction, if such personal data is incorrect 

and can demand deletion, release or transfer of their personal 

data. Because of those rights, it can be considered a violation 

of GDPR provisions, if personal data is not disposable in case 

of technical malfunctions or if access to information about 

the personal data of the individual is not provided in a speedy 

manner.

Additionally, startups as well as any other enterprise are 

generally obliged to document all processing activities in a 

specific records of processing activities. SMEs with less than 

250 employees are only obliged to keep such records under 

certain circumstances, for example if their business model is 

mainly based on innovative processing of personal data or 

associated technologies.

The documentation should be easily understandable 

giving due consideration to the type, extent, circumstances 

and purpose of the specific data processing and should 

also consider the different degrees of probabilities of risks 

for the individual in processing their personal data. The 

documentation may be part of a data protection management 

system (DPMS) which could serve as a basis for notification 

to the regulatory authority and to inform affected persons 

in case of a personal data breach. A DPMS may also serve to 

compile, manage and update evidence, because – in case of 

a (claimed) violation of GDPR rules – the burden of proof lies 

on the controllers and processors, which have to show that 

they implemented appropriate technical and organizational 

measures to meet the requirements of the GDPR.

In order to assess whether the processing of personal data is 

in compliance with GDPR rules, the key question – “Do I really 

need the data for business purposes?” – has to be answered 

positively in particular, taking into account the principles of 

data processing: 

 " Lawfulness of the intended purpose of the processing 

of personal data

 " Limitation of the processing of personal data as far as 

possible – data processing only in so far and as long as 

the specific purpose for the processing is determined, 

unambiguous and legitimate

 " Consideration of the principle of data minimization – 

limit the scope of personal data to be processed to what 

is really required for the determined purposes

 " Accuracy of the processed data

 " Integrity and confidentiality of data processing, 

protecting personal data through appropriate technical 

and organizational measures

If an enterprise processes data regularly, systematically and 

comprehensively, it has to nominate or hire a data protection 

supervisor with the necessary expertise. The data protection 

supervisor has to be capable of consulting the enterprise in 

regard to data protection and to monitor the compliance 

with the GDPR (also in cooperation with the regulatory 

authority). Enterprises may obtain a data protection seal or 

mark to demonstrate their compliance with the GDPR. 
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2.5.7. Tax system

Authors: Nicole Kunas, Peter Lennartz, Andreas Funke & 

Tobias Spath, https://start-up-initiative.ey.com/ 

Tax registration in Germany

There is no need for an approval from the tax authorities for 

opening a business in Germany. Tax registration is required 

at the corporate income tax authority of the district in which 

the startup is situated. The tax registration number is valid 

for corporate income tax, trade tax and the preliminary and 

annual VAT filings.

Together with the tax registration, it is possible to apply 

for a VAT Identification Number which will be issued by the 

Federal Central Tax Office. After receiving the tax registration 

number, it is also possible to file a separate application for the 

VAT Identification Number directly with the Federal Central 

Tax Office. This number is used for EU intra-community 

transactions.

Moreover, local municipalities generally require a registration 

of commercial activities at the trade office of the respective 

municipal administration. The trade registration is typically 

connected to receiving a trade tax number. As soon as the 

startup begins to have salaried employees, an application with 

the social security authorities for a so-called ‘Betriebsnummer’ 

is required, so that the startup can comply with the wage tax 

and social security filing obligations.

Taxes on corporate income and gains

a) German right to taxation:

 Startups in Germany are mainly established as 

corporations in the legal form of a GmbH (similar to a 

UK or US private limited company). Corporations with a 

corporate seat or place of management in Germany are 

liable to corporate income tax as tax residents on their 

worldwide income unless otherwise provided in tax 

treaties. Non-resident corporations, having neither a 

seat nor a place of management in Germany, are liable 

to corporate income tax only on income generated 

inside Germany with a German income source (e.g. 

through a permanent establishment, such as a fixed 

place of business – often an office from which German 

operations are carried out).

b) Corporate and trade tax:

 The corporate income tax rate in Germany, which is 

applicable on the taxable income of the enterprise, is 

15%. A 5.5% solidarity surcharge thereon is imposed 

on corporate income tax. The taxable income 

of corporations is based on the annual financial 

statements prepared under the German generally 

accepted accounting principles (GAAP), subject to 

numerous adjustments for tax purposes, such as non-

deductible treatment of specific business expenses or 

the application of tax exemption rules for certain types 

of income.

 Furthermore, municipalities impose a trade tax on 

income. For purposes of this tax, the taxable income 
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for the corporate income tax is subject to certain 

further adjustments, such as add-backs for financing 

costs. Consequently, the taxable income and trade 

tax income regularly differ from the annual business 

profit in the financial statements. The effective 

trade tax rate is freely set by each municipality and 

amounts to 14% on average. The law sets a trade tax 

floor at 7%. Therefore, the combined average tax rate 

for corporations (including corporate income tax, 

solidarity surcharge and trade tax) is flat and ranges 

from approximately 23% to 33%. If a company operates 

in several municipalities, the trade tax base is allocated 

according to the payroll paid at each site, so that various 

municipality multipliers can be taken into account.

 Typical income adjustments for tax purposes are the 

following:

 " Acquired goodwill must be capitalized for tax 

purposes and may be amortized over 15 years 

(generally 10 years for local GAAP purpose). 

Intangibles acquired individually must also be 

capitalized for tax purposes and may be amortized 

over their useful lives (normally between 5 and 10 

years).

 " A company’s own research and development 

as well as setup and formation expenses may 

not be capitalized for tax purposes but must be 

expensed. Provisions for expected losses from 

pending contracts may not be recognized for tax 

purposes. Future benefits arising in connection 

with the fulfilment of an obligation must be offset 

against costs resulting from the obligation.

 " Non-interest-bearing debt must be discounted 

at an annual rate of 5.5% if the remaining term 

exceeds 12 months. Market rates do not apply.

 After the income for tax purposes has been determined, 

certain adjustments need to be made to calculate the 

taxable income. Major adjustments as non-deductible 

expenses include:

 " Income taxes (corporate income tax, solidarity 

surcharge and trade tax) and any interest expense 

paid with respect to these taxes

 " Penalties

 " Thirty percent of business meal expenses

 " Gifts to non-employees exceeding EUR 35 per 

person per year and input value-added tax (VAT) 

regarding such expenses

c) Administration and tax filings:

 For fiscal years from 2018 onwards, annual corporate 

income tax and trade tax returns must be filed by 31 

July of the year following the tax year. The deadline 

is extended until 28/29 February of the second year 

following the tax year if a licensed tax advisor prepares 

the returns. Prepayments of corporate income tax 

as well as trade tax with respect to the estimated tax 

liability are made in quarterly instalments and are 

usually determined by the tax amount due for the 

previous year. Tax accounting generally needs to be 

done by qualified personnel and within the German 

territory. Exceptions apply for auxiliary accounting tasks 

and for electronic accounting activities. A permit needs 

to be obtained from the tax authorities before shifting 

tax accounting activities into a foreign jurisdiction. 

Penalties may apply in case of non-compliance.

d) Dividends and capital gains: 

 Dividends and capital gains (from sales of corporate 

shares) received by resident corporations and branches 

of non-resident corporations from their German and 

foreign corporate subsidiaries are generally exempt 

from tax. 5% of such dividends and capital gains will 

be treated as non-deductible business expenses (i.e. 

taxation of dividends received at an effective tax rate 

of 1.5%). Certain requirements have to be fulfilled to be 

eligible for the tax exemption. Capital losses from sales 

of shares or write-downs on shares are not deductible.

Setup and formation

a) Expenses:

 The possibility to use setup or formation expenses 

before the original business activity of the enterprise 

begins depends on the legal form of the enterprise. 

As long as the startup is run by a single person or a 

partnership, initial expenses would be deductible from 

the initiator’s personal income tax base. If the startup 

is established in the legal form of a corporation (for 

example a limited liability company), it is authorized 

to claim similar expenses incurred after the notarial 

certification of the statute. No transfer of earlier 

expenses (i.e. from a pre- incorporation phase) is 

possible.

b) Tax losses:

 Tax losses incurred within the original business 

activity may generally be carried forward without 

time limitation. Once profits arise, only 60% of annual 

taxable profits in excess of EUR 1 million can be offset 

by loss carry forwards under the restrictions of the 
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so-called minimum taxation. As a result, 40% of the 

portion of profit exceeding EUR 1 million is subject to 

tax at regular rates, as the rules apply for both corporate 

income tax purposes and trade tax purposes. For 

corporate income tax purposes, an optional loss carry 

back is permitted for one year up to the maximum 

amount of EUR 1 million.

 Under the German loss-trafficking rule, tax loss carry 

forwards as well as current-year losses (for corporate 

income tax and trade tax) are forfeited entirely if, within 

a five-year period, more than 50% of the shares are 

transferred. Exceptions to the loss-trafficking rule may 

apply under specific conditions for group restructurings 

and to the extent sufficient taxable built-in gains are 

available, as well as in case the business is continued in 

a similar manner after the transfer (subject to various 

conditions). Loss carry forwards and current losses of 

a loss-making company are also forfeited in the course 

of a merger, change of legal form and liquidation of the 

company.

c) Transfer pricing:

 German tax law contains a set of rules that allows 

the adjustment of inter-company transfer prices. All 

of the rules are based on the application of the arms-

length principle. Germany has implemented the 

Authorized Organization for Economic Co-operation 

and Development (OECD) Approach (AOA). Specific 

documentation rules apply for transfer-pricing 

purposes. Transfer pricing documentations need to 

be prepared if de-minimis thresholds are exceeded. 

On request of a tax auditor, the taxpayer is required to 

submit the transfer pricing documentation within 60 

days (in the case of extraordinary business transactions, 

within 30 days). Non-compliance with these rules may 

result in a penalty.

Value added tax (VAT)

The German VAT law as well as the VAT laws of all other EU 

Member States is based on the European Union value-added 

tax system. The VAT laws within the EU are therefore fairly 

harmonized and based on the same common rules. A taxable 

person, for VAT purposes, is any business entity or individual 

that independently carries out any economic activity in any 

place in Germany.

VAT is payable on the following transactions: 

 " Generally, on all supplies of goods or services made in 

Germany by a taxable person

 " On the intra-community acquisitions of goods from 

another EU member state by a taxable person in 

Germany

 " On reverse-charge supplies, including supplies of 

services and supplies of goods with installation services 

(the recipient is the tax debtor)

 " On self-supplies of goods and services by a taxable 

person

 " On the importation of goods from outside the EU, 

regardless of the VAT status of the importer

a) VAT rates:

 The amount of tax payable will correspond to the rate 

applicable to the goods or services supplied. A standard 

rate of 19% generally applies to all supplies of goods or 

services, unless a specific provision allows a reduced 

rate or an exemption. A reduced rate of 7% applies, for 

example, to newspapers and books, cultural services or 

food. Additionally, special tax exemptions for certain 

transactions exist. Examples of supplies of goods and 

services which are exempt are financial transactions, 

insurance services, medical services or export supplies.

b) Input VAT recovery: 

 A taxable person (entrepreneur) may recover input tax, 

which describes VAT charged on goods and services 

purchased by him/her for taxable business purposes 

i.e. used for taxable (output) services or supplies. 

However, exceptions to this rule do exist. A taxable 

person generally recovers input tax by deducting it 

from output tax, which is VAT charged on supplies 

made. Input VAT includes VAT charged on goods and 

services supplied in Germany, VAT paid on imports 

of goods, VAT self-assessed on the intra-community 

acquisition of goods (see the chapter on the EU), and 

VAT on purchases of goods and services taxed under 

the reverse-charge procedure. Input VAT may only be 

recovered if the entrepreneur is in possession of either 

a valid invoice which fulfils the very formal invoicing 

requirements or a customs document documenting 

any import VAT paid. Input tax may not be recovered 

on purchases of goods and services that are not used 

for business purposes (for example, goods acquired 

for private use). Input tax directly related to making 

exempt supplies is generally not recoverable, however, 

there are exceptions. If a German taxable person makes 

both exempt and taxable supplies, it may not recover 

input tax in full. If the amount of input tax recoverable 

in a monthly period exceeds the amount of output tax 

payable in that period, the taxable person has an input 

tax credit. The credit is generally refunded.

c) VAT filing obligations: 

 In general, preliminary VAT returns are filed quarterly 

(electronically), but monthly returns must be filed if 
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the VAT payable for the preceding year exceeded EUR 

7,500. Also, newly established taxable persons must 

file monthly VAT returns for the first and second year 

of registration. The preliminary VAT return must be 

submitted by the 10th day after the end of the filing 

period. The VAT authorities must receive payment in full 

by the same day. Because the regular filing deadline is 

relatively short, the VAT authorities allow a permanent 

one- month filing and payment extension on written 

applications. This filing extension by one month 

also requires a deposit payment equal to 1/11 of the 

preceding year’s VAT liability by the regular due date.

 In all cases (monthly, quarterly or no preliminary 

returns), an annual VAT return must be submitted by 

31 July of the year following the end of the VAT year. 

The deadline is extended until 28/29 February of the 

second year following the tax year if a licensed tax 

advisor prepares the returns.

 Non-established businesses, which have no fixed 

establishment in Germany, are generally not required 

to register for German VAT if all of the business’ supplies 

are covered by the reverse-charge procedure (under 

which the recipient of the supply must self-assess 

VAT). The reverse-charge procedure does not apply to 

supplies of goods located in Germany (except supplies 

of installed goods) or to supplies of goods or services 

made to private persons.

d) VAT invoicing and credit notes: 

 A German taxable person must generally provide VAT 

invoices for supplies made to other taxable persons 

and to legal entities, including exports and intra-

community supplies. Invoices must be issued within 

six months. This obligation, generally, does not exist 

for supplies that are VAT-exempt. Invoices are not 

automatically required for supplies made to private 

persons. Invoices for intra-community supplies as well 

as services subject to reverse-charge and rendered 

by taxable individuals resident in the EU must be 

issued within 15 days following the month in which 

said supplies or services have been rendered. Taxable 

persons must retain invoices for 10 years. A VAT invoice 

is required to support a claim for input tax deduction 

or a refund under the EU refund schemes (see above 

and the chapter on the EU).

 A VAT credit note may be used to reduce the VAT 

charged and reclaimed on a supply. It is also possible 

to cancel an incorrect invoice and issue a revised one. 

For intra-community supplies of goods and exports, 

the invoice must include the statement that the 

supply is VAT-free. In addition, the customer’s valid VAT 

Identification Number (issued by another EU Member 

State) must be mentioned in the invoice for all intra-

community supplies of goods. Electronic invoicing in 

line with EU Directive 2010/45/EU is permitted.

e) VAT and digital economy:

 There are some specific rules relating to the taxation of 

the digital economy in Germany, for example, specific 

rules for the place of the digital service and the Mini 

One Stop Shop scheme (MOSS). Under the EU-wide 

MOSS regime, special rules apply to the place of supply 

for supplies of telecommunications, broadcasting and 

electronic services to non-VAT taxable customers. These 

services are generally taxed in the country where the 

consumer is established (exception applies if payments 

for such services did not exceed EUR 10,000 in the 

previous VAT year).  EU taxable persons that supply 

electronic services have to charge VAT to non-taxable 

persons established anywhere in the EU using the 

local VAT rate of the customers country. EU suppliers 

are permitted to discharge their VAT obligations using 

a Mini One Stop Shop scheme, which enables them to 

fulfil their VAT obligations (VAT registration, reporting, 

and payment) in their home country, including for 

services provided in other member states where they 

are not established. Accordingly, EU suppliers are able 

to apply a simplification measure similar to the one that 

is in place for non-EU providers of electronic services.

 Furthermore, as of 2019 operators of online trading 

platforms may be held (secondarily) liable for any VAT 

amounts not paid by traders selling via their online 

platforms.
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2.5.8. Financial reporting and auditing in Germany

Authors: Nicole Kunas, Peter Lennartz, Andreas Funke & 

Tobias Spath, https://start-up-initiative.ey.com/

The majority of startups deem financial accounting annoying 

rather than beneficial for their business. Entrepreneurs 

are passionate about the purpose of their startup and 

concentrate on solutions that will grow their startup to 

the next level and into a sustainable business with more 

customers, more employees, and extended operations. 

Despite these more exciting sides of building a business, 

there are obligations companies have to obey. Keep in mind 

that financial accounting and reporting may also produce 

benefits for young startups.

Bookkeeping requirements for startups

If a startup has received all its licenses and permits and 

is registered as a company (GmbH) in the trade register 

in Germany, it must keep books. The same applies to 

permanent establishments in the form of registered branches 

(under certain conditions also unregistered permanent 

establishments) of a foreign company. The basic requirements 

how to keep the books are detailed in the German trade law 

(Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB).

However, bookkeeping is also required by tax laws. 

Bookkeeping in Germany is primarily based on trade law. Tax 

laws are mainly identical with trade law. However, specific tax 

rules must be applied for specific issues, e.g. for deductibility 

of travel and hospitality expenses, expenses for company 

events, depreciation and amortization expenses, expenses for 

accruals, and interest expenses, to just name a few. Specific 

tax rules also apply for capitalization of self-generated 

intangible assets, allowances on receivables, deferred taxes, 

tax losses, transfer prices, and transactions with related 

parties. Accordingly, the profits or losses shown in one’s 

statutory financial statements are never the same as in one’s 

financial statements for tax purposes.

Minimum bookkeeping and accounting requirements

For proper bookkeeping, all business transactions need to be 

completely entered into the bookkeeping system, in a timely 

and orderly manner.

The data needs to be maintained and accessible for 10 years, 

be written in German, be supported by original documents, 

and be accrual-based, with special requirements for fixed 

assets, accruals, and deferred items. As accounting data is 

also the basis for monthly or quarterly filings with the tax 

authorities, it should be prepared on a regular basis (e.g. 

monthly), although that is not legally required. Bookkeeping 

also necessitates corporations to prepare statutory financial 

statements. The extent, however, is based on the size of the 

company. Startups are most likely considered “small-sized 

companies” and must prepare, at minimum, a balance sheet, 

a profit and loss statement, and notes to the accounts with 

limited content.

However, if the threshold to a “medium-sized company” 

is met, a full set of notes and a management report 

(Lagebericht) must be prepared. That threshold is defined 

by the following criteria, which must be exceeded (at least 

two of the following three criteria) in two consecutive 

years: assets of EUR 6,000,000, revenue of EUR 12,000,000, 

or 50 employees (on average). SMEs must prepare statutory 

financial statements within 6 months after the end of the fiscal 

year. These accounts must be approved by the shareholders 
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within 11 months after fiscal year-end at the latest. If the 

startup has already grown into a medium-sized company, the 

financial statements must be prepared within 3 months and 

be approved by the shareholders within 8 months. However, 

there is no governmental oversight and, thus, no penalty if 

the deadlines are not met. Nevertheless, the company is not 

in compliance with German law in that case.

rules for the fiscal year-end

For a majority of companies in Germany, the fiscal year ends 

on 31st December. However, a company is allowed to choose 

any other date for the fiscal year-end, which, then, must be 

included in corporate agreements and filed with the trade 

register. For tax reasons, however, the company must prepare 

all tax filings based on the 31st December, which requires 

additional work for the founder(s) and accountant(s) at year-

end. It is, thus, more convenient to also choose 31st December 

as the end of the fiscal year. A fiscal year may never exceed 12 

months.

Audited statutory financial statements & penalties

Statutory audits are not required for small-sized companies 

by law. Nevertheless, there might be a contractual obligation 

in the enterprise’s investment agreement even for small-

sized companies, especially if it receives governmental 

funding. Audits are required for medium and bigger sized 

companies and, of course, for all public companies. The audit 

must be performed by a German certified public accountant 

(Wirtschaftsprüfer) before the companies’ shareholders 

approve the financial statements. Audits are governed by 

the regulations of the Institute of German Certified Public 

Accountants (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer). The auditor 

must prepare a special report about the results of the audit. 

The report may be prepared in English. The shareholder 

meeting must have accepted this report before approving 

the statutory financial statements. Each German corporation 

must file statutory financial statements with the filing 

authorities, the Bundesanzeiger, within 12 months after year-

end. Small- sized companies only have to file their balance 

sheet and a short version of the notes. The Bundesanzeiger 

reviews the financial statements filed. If they are not filed in 

time, a notice and an additional six weeks to file are given. If 

after these six weeks, the statutory financial statements are 

still not filed, penalties are imposed. These range from EUR 

1,000 up to EUR 25,000, with further acceleration depending 

on the delay.

External accounting services versus doing one’s own 

accounting 

In contrast to other countries, a German certified public 

accountant is not necessarily a public tax accountant 

(Steuerberater). Almost all German public tax accountants 

Important: In the early phases of a business, 
financial accounts usually do not play a role 

for investors when it comes to an investment 
decision as accounting always looks at the past. 
However, after the investment, one might have 
to provide monthly investor reports. If a startup 

is able to provide solid financial statements even 
in its early phase, that might have a positive 

effect on its credibility and the reliability of its 
management team.

Payroll

Payroll is an integral part of accounting. German labour and tax 

laws are complex. Therefore, a public tax accountant should 

be hired to do the payroll on a monthly basis. Employers 

are obliged to calculate and pay payroll taxes, church taxes 

and social security contributions on behalf of the employee. 

These must be filed and paid 10 days after each end of the 

month. It is further required to sign-in new employees with 

their respective healthcare plans and social security as soon 

as they start working for the company. As payroll data is very 

sensitive, it should be protected and stored with special 

care. Moreover, to avoid costly mistakes, one must adhere to 

specific tax regulations if employees request reimbursement 

for travel expenditures. 

If you are working with freelancers, it is important to make 

sure that he/she is not working for one’s enterprise for too 

long, because this might lead to obligations concerning 

social security and payroll taxes (Scheinselbständigkeit). 

Furthermore, special rules apply to interns, parents, etc.

Other relevant rules for bookkeeping

There are some ground rules that should be considered. 

One of the most important is to make sure that there is no 

booking without proper documents.

Compliance in bookkeeping is the responsibility and 

liability of the management team which describes those 

individuals who are filed with the trade register. That includes 

completeness, orderly manner, correct valuation, compliance 

with laws and regulations, correct storage and accessibility, 

do offer tax and bookkeeping services, especially for small 

companies without an own accounting department. The 

software applied by all German public accountants is DATEV, 

a widely accepted accounting software with different 

applications, including cloud solutions. Hiring an external 

accountant is considered the best solution for international 

founders due to the complexity of the German tax system. 

Hiring an accountant will keep you on the safe side with 

respect to deadlines and all tax questions.
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and German language. Furthermore, it is important to note 

that in general, all records of a German company must be 

kept in Germany. Accounting software and documents must 

also be hosted on servers located in Germany. However, there 

are exemptions to the rule, for which companies have to 

apply with the tax authorities. Basically, the founder needs to 

convince the tax authorities that records are accessible and 

available for tax audits as if they were stored in Germany.

2.5.9. Access to the European Single Market

Based on information provided by the European Commission 

(http://ec.europa.eu/). 

Indian startups with a subsidiary in Germany can benefit 

from the provisions of the European Single Market, which 

significantly reduces bureaucracy, administrative burdens, 

and compliance costs for businesses.

The Single Market refers to the EU as one territory without 

any internal borders or other regulatory obstacles to the free 

movement of goods, services, people, as well as capital and 

payments. Thus, every company residing in the EU has access 

to 28 national markets and 500 million potential customers. 

This allows startups to benefit from economies of scale and 

explore new markets while cutting red tape. 

The European single market and the four freedoms 

The European Single Market – also called internal market or 

common market – allows people and businesses to move and 

trade freely across borders within the EU. Initially open to 345 

million people in 1992, it can now be accessed by over 500 

million people in 28 EU Member States. The Single Market 

seeks to guarantee the free movement of goods, capital, 

services, and people. These so-called “Four Freedoms” are the 

main pillars of the single market:

1. Free movement of goods: No restrictions on the trade 

in goods including a ban on discriminatory taxes on 

imported goods and preferential tax treatment for 

exports.

2. Free movement of people: The freedom of movement 

of workers and the freedom of establishment gives all 

EU citizens the right to work in another member state 

without discrimination due to their nationality.

3. Free movement of services: Service providers may 

conduct their business in all member states without 

having to be settled there giving consumers the 

opportunity to select the best provider from the whole 

of Europe.

4. Free movement of capital and payments: Capital 

controls and restrictions on the amount of currency 

that may be imported or exported are abolished.

The principle of mutual recognition

The so-called principle of mutual recognition ensures that 

national technical rules within the member states do not 

constitute barriers to the free movement of goods within the 

European single market. According to the principle of mutual 

recognition, a product lawfully produced or marketed in one 

member state may be marketed in any other member state.

Due to the concept of mutual recognition, the EU and 

its member states did not need to put in place specific 

harmonisation rules for all sectors. In fact, mutual recognition 

has seen results in a large number of industrial sectors. The 

European Commission estimates that products not subject 

to EU legislation – the so-called non-harmonised area – 

constitute approximately 25% of all goods traded within the 

EU.

The European Economic Area

In addition to the 28 EU Member States, the provisions of the 

EU Single Market have been extended to three of the four 

countries of the European Free Trade Area (EFTA) – namely 

Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway – in 1994. The EU single 

market and the three EFTA countries form the European 

Economic Area (EEA).

Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway – which are not EU member 

states – have thus adopt most EU legislation concerning the 

single market, however with notable exclusions including 

laws regarding agriculture and fisheries. Switzerland – also 

not an EU member state – has not joined the EEA. However, 

Switzerland has a series of bilateral agreements with the EU 

which allow it also to participate in the internal market.

The Digital Single Market Strategy

Recognizing that in particular successful digital business 

models depend on a large market due to network effects, the 

European Commission under its former president Juncker 

has made it a priority to create a Digital Single Market where 

not only the free movement of goods, persons, services 

and capital is ensured but where citizens and businesses 

can seamlessly and fairly access online goods and services. 

The Digital Single Market, when completed, can create 

opportunities for new startups and allow existing companies 

from the digital economy to grow and profit within a market 

of over 500 million people.
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The Digital Single Market Strategy is built on three pillars:

1. Access: better access for consumers and businesses to 

digital goods and services across Europe;

2. Environment: creating the right conditions and a 

level playing field for digital networks and innovative 

services to flourish;

3. Economy & society: maximising the growth potential 

of the digital economy.

To make the Digital Single Market a reality, the Commission 

adopted the “Digital Single Market Strategy” (DSM) in May 

2015 which set out the major challenges and key actions 

aiming at boosting EU’s economic competitiveness in the 

digital realm, namely:

 " Offering better online access for consumers and 

businesses to digital goods and services;

 " Ensuring the provision of innovative services and high-

speed connectivity;

 " Providing the right framework for a data-based 

economy and boosting E-skills.

Thus far, the European Commission has launched a broad 

set of initiatives – such as the “Contract Initiative“, “Digitizing 

European Industry“, the “E-Commerce Initiative” or the “Single 

Digital Gateway”– and issued several communications – 

i.e. on Connectivity – to realize the Digital Single Market. 

Especially, the directive on copyright in the Digital Single 

Market which came into force in April 2019 was widely 

discussed and protested. Two articles of the directive, namely 

article 15 and article 17, drew major attentions and were 

opposed by tech companies and internet users. Article 

15 allows newspaper stronger control and re-use of their 

products, which is believed to impact internet services like 

news aggregators. Article 17 mandates service providers 

that host user-generated content such as YouTube to employ 

“effective and proportionate” measures to prevent users 

from violating copyright. Protesters highlighted that laws in 

this direction would provide the legal basis for upload filters 

which could quell freedom of speech. However, as this is a 

directive and individual member countries have two years to 

draft respective laws, these can vary and do not need to take 

the full extent of the directive.

2.5.10. Further links

 " Investment Guide of Germany Trade & Invest (GTAI) 

(http://www.gtai.com/company-forms)

 " The Directory of the Federal Chamber of Notaries 

(http://www.notar.de/) 

 " Document verification process (https://india.diplo.de/

in-en/service/-/1898326) 

 " Website of BaFin (https://www.bafin.de/EN/Aufsicht/

FinTech/fintech_node_en.html) 

 " India Desk (https://www.indienaktuell.de/directory/

kategorie/india-desk?tab=listings&category=78&zoom

=15&is_mile=0&directory_radius=0&view=grid&sort=n

ewest&filter=1#sabai-inline-content-listings)

 " DIHK (http://www.dihk.de/en) 

" ZDH (http://www.zdh.de/en/) 

" European Single Market (https://ec.europa.eu/growth/

single-market)

 " The Principal of Mutual Recognition (http://ec.europa.

eu/growth/single-market/goods/free-movement-

sectors/mutual-recognition)

 " The European Economic Area (http://ec.europa.eu/

competition/international/multilateral/eea.html)

 " European Union Digital Market (https://ec.europa.eu/

digital-single-market/en/digital-single-market)
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2.6. Growing your team in Germany

Authors: Janka Schmeißer & Maren Lutterbach, https://i-

potentials.de/de/ 

Amongst other factors, the success of startups depend on a 

dedicated, able and enthusiastic team. Therefore, it is critical 

for startups coming to Germany to find employees who 

match their culture. This chapter provides and overview of 

the German labour market and relevant regulation as well as 

helpful advice on how to find the best candidates.

2.6.1. The German labour market

The German labour market is a recruitment market in which 

top candidates are a much sought-after and highly contested 

commodity. With a university degree or a vocational training 

certificate, some work experience and basic knowledge of the 

German language, chances are high for landing a job.

Germany has the second lowest unemployment rates within 

the EU. 3.3% of the labour force (15- to 74-year-olds) were 

unemployed in December 2018. At the same time, Germany 

is suffering from a lack of skilled workers in many professions 

– for instance, engineers, IT specialists, developers and 

medical professionals. As a result, qualified applicants can 

more or less pick and choose the job they want in Germany. 

This also applies to startup relevant functions, such as tech, 

engineering, online marketing, etc. In these sectors, there is 

a shortage of qualified candidates, which can make the hunt 

for new employees difficult.

Therefore, to attract relevant candidates, it is advisable for 

startups to explicitly advertise their advantages in contrast to 

more established companies. Especially “Digital Natives” often 

find young and agile company cultures, broad development 

opportunities and an international setup more attractive 

than the supposed security of big corporations.

Despite Berlin’s transformation to a startup capital and tourist 

magnet, wages and costs of living are still lower here than in 

the Southern or Western parts of the country.

2.6.2. Finding candidates

Generally, startups should take recruitment aspects into 

consideration when deciding on a location. Wages, living 

conditions but also talent graduating from universities and 

research facilities play a significant role when deciding where 

to build your company.

Like many other countries, Germany has a variety of online 

platforms for job postings, many of which are specialized 

in select industries. It is important to note, that the largest 

ones, such as Stepstone and Monster, are relatively expensive 

and not necessarily useful for startups: as a small and rather 

unknown business, it is rather difficult to stick out from the 

large pool of job postings there. Additionally, these platforms 

are mostly frequented by candidates that are actively 

seeking a new job. These are usually not the top candidates 

in the job market. For startups, it makes more sense to 

post on specialized posting platforms and use more direct 

approaches to recruitment – especially for junior to mid-level 

positions.
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wage of EUR 9,19 per hour and from 1st January 2020 EUR 

9,35. 

2.6.3. Outsourcing & service providers

When it comes to hiring senior specialists, country leads, or 

generally more experienced leadership positions, recruitment 

becomes more difficult. Active sourcing via social networks 

may work here as well, but many high-level professionals 

do not react to those messages anymore, because they are 

contacted too frequently for jobs that are only of little or no 

relevance to them.

Therefore, for selected key positions, it may help to turn to 

a specialized recruitment service provider or consultant to 

take over the search for the best candidates. The recruitment 

industry (matching services, consultants, and headhunters) is 

on the rise, which makes a targeted pre-selection essential.

The following indicators can help to find a good recruitment 

agency for specialist and leadership roles:

" The agency or consultancy has a clearly discernible 

industry specialization.

" The consultancy can provide client references and has 

placed similar positions in the past.

" A customer request is handled quickly, professionally 

and by a competent consultant.

" The search process used for placing a position is 

communicated clearly and transparently.

" The pricing model matches the placement model: 

matching (for instance via pool / database search) is 

generally compensated with a success-based fee, a 

professional executive search usually requires a pricing 

model that works with gradual retainer payments and 

is not (entirely) success-based.

" The briefing for the vacancy includes (at the very least) 

a telephone call and touches upon aspects beyond 

the points already mentioned in the job description (if 

available).

Find your next hire via social networks

Another possibility is active sourcing and recruiting via social 

networks. LinkedIn is well-known in Germany, especially 

among digital professionals. However, Xing is still the 

biggest German business-oriented social network that offers 

comprehensive search options.

The person in charge of recruitment should consider getting 

a premium account or the even more advanced Talent 

Manager account, which offers the broadest range of options 

for actively sourcing candidates. For startups that want to get 

a foot in the door in the German market, it is also essential 

to quickly build their own network and visit relevant events 

and hubs.

Co-working spaces are a good starting point, as they 

frequently host and organize such events. If founders regularly 

attend these, there is a good chance they may recruit their 

first employees there in person or by word of mouth.

recruiting at universities

When looking for juniors or interns, targeting universities is 

worth a try. Almost all German universities have so-called 

Career Centers or Career Services via which job postings can 

be spread. Sometimes, it also pays off to contact relevant 

departments directly with job openings. In that case, the 

technical fit is decisive – Online Business and IT departments 

can be relevant for startups in tech or e-commerce. Moreover, 

many students in Germany like to work part-time next to their 

studies, i.e. 10-20 hours a week. The maximum of 20 hours 

counts as minor employment (geringfügige Beschäftigung) 

and is free of social security contributions.

Employing a working student (Werkstudent) can thus provide 

startups with the opportunity to get specific tasks done at a 

relatively low cost, and help young people gain experience 

which is relevant to their studies and career plans. In many 

cases, part-time working student jobs develop into a longer-

term professional relationship.

According to German law, full-time internships that are not 

required by universities have to be paid based on a minimum 
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2.6.4. Hiring regulations & labour laws

Germany is well-known for its bureaucracy and detailed 

regulations – recruiting and hiring are no exception. The 

most important guideline for the recruitment and application 

process is the General Equal Treatment Act (Allgemeines 

Gleichbehandlungsgesetz, AGG). This law is meant to ensure 

that no one is discriminated against because of his or her 

race, origin, religion or other personal conditions.

Furthermore, employers have to abide by some statutory 

regulations in the application process in Germany. For 

instance, every application requires a reply – even if it is just 

a standard e-mail. Moreover, travel expenses for candidates 

have to be reimbursed, upon request.

Germany’s reputation as a bureaucracy nation also extends 

to employment contracts. Generally, German labour law is 

very employee-friendly. There is comprehensive protection 

against unlawful dismissal, as well as special regulations 

for the trial period of an employee, a statutory right to a 

minimum of 24 days of paid leave per year and continued 

payment of wages in cases of illness.

Furthermore, the employer has to contribute to the social 

security of his/her employees. For more detailed insights into 

the rights of their employees, employers should familiarize 

themselves with the different forms of employment contracts in 

Germany. The main forms are:

1. Regular employment contracts,

2. Fixed-term contracts,

3. Temporary employment contracts, as well as

4. Mini and midi job contracts, which all differ in regulatory 

conditions. 

In general, temporary and freelance employment models are 

often advisable if there is little planning security.

However, long-term retention of employees is easier with fixed 

contracts and some basic team benefits.

In companies with five or more people, employees can form a 

work council which represents the interests of the employees 

internally. The council members have informative and advisory 

rights relating to the company’s internal policy and organization 

but cannot get involved in corporate governance.
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Author: Dr. Tanja Emmerling, https://high-tech-

gruenderfonds.de/en/   

Indian startups seeking to expand to and set up a business 

entity in Germany can turn to a variety of sources when 

seeking investments. Selecting the right type of expansion 

financing is largely a matter of matching your needs to 

the restrictions of the source. Each type of financing has 

its own strengths and limitations. This chapter provides an 

introduction to the German financing landscape and the 

particularities when coming from India.

2.7.1. Venture capital, business angels, corporate 

venture capital, crowdfunding and ICOs

Venture capital

The Indian startup market and its VC ecosystem are maturing 

as a result of showing exit records with almost doubling 

exits in 2018 compared to 2017 and a reasonable outlook 

that there are more exits to come. Therefore, more and 

more bigger funds are participating in the market and also 

Corporate Venture Capital firms are increasing their local 

presence. In addition, as India is taking over the Asian growth 

leadership, it becomes an interesting market to scale.

In the DACH region, many new and follow-on funds have 

been raised in 2017 and 2018. By the end of 2017, Europe saw 

a new high in Venture Capital investments reaching almost 

EUR 17 billion. And in 2018 Investments in Europe were 

increasing further, even though the growth was not as strong 

as the previous year. Looking at Germany with a regional 

focus, Berlin was the region were the majority of the VC 

money was invested, right after London. As a trend, growing 

deal sizes were notable while deal count trended downward. 

With Auto1 Berlin reached the highest investment size of 

EUR 460 million. This deal showcases also that the larger 

deals were usually facilitated by the participation of foreign 

investors. Therefore, the DACH is now home of internationally 

known companies like Auto1, Check24, Flixbus or Biontech. 

As a consequence, more accelerators and serial entrepreneurs 

educate the next generation of startup founders.

In the following, a few question German VCs are most 

interested will be answered:

1. At which stage are German VCs most active?

 More than 50% of the transactions take place in the 

first round. While the amount of money increases from 

phase to phase, the amount of transactions per phase 

decrease as only the minority of companies reach later 

stages.

2. What are the cultural differences between German?

 German VCs are very interested in understanding the 

company, the technology and the underlying business 

model thoroughly and completely. This may be an 

2.7. Access to funding in Germany
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advantage for startups with complex and innovative 

products. Therefore, well-structured KPI data, 

comprehensible documents as well as clean financials 

are required.

3. Which factors are particularly important for 

German VCs in an investment?

 German VCs concentrate on hard facts and data: 

financials, team, technology, IP, strategy and execution. 

It is important to show what you already reached and 

that your unit economics perform according to your 

business case.

4. Which are the relevant points that should be 

included in a pitch to an investor? 

 The basic structure of a pitch is the same for every 

VC. Topics that have to be addressed are the problem, 

solution, product or proof of concept (PoC), market, 

business model, USP, competition, team and financials. 

German VCs do prefer data, facts and figures over great 

storytelling and presentation skills of the founder.

5. Is there something like a general timeframe of an 

investment decision? 

 The time required for fundraising depends very 

often on how prepared the company is for starting a 

due diligence process and the stage of the company. 

For follow-on investments startups should start 

fundraising at least 6-9 months before the planned 

financing round. Even though investors claim to 

make decisions fast, identifying the right partner and 

completing a due diligence process takes its time. 

With few complications and cooperative behaviour of 

the founders, the due diligence can be finished much 

faster, or it can take much longer if problems occur, 

for instance if relevant data is not well available or 

unstructured. Good preparation on the entrepreneurs’ 

side is therefore crucial for the duration of the project. 

Every VC is looking forward to a fast and smooth due 

diligence, which of course also saves the startup time 

and money.

Business angels 

After friends, family and fools, Business Angels represent a 

very important financing source in early stages. Over 30% of 

German startups report to have accepted angel investments. 

Thus, Business Angels are a very important factor in the 

venture capital ecosystem. In general, business angels want 

to bring brain and experience to the table. In the early stages 

of the company, they like to contribute actively to the success 

of the startup or even take a board seat. Therefore, they prefer 

investments in geographic proximity to their residence or 

place of work, sometimes even inside of Germany.

Business angels prefer to invest in the pre-seed and seed-

stage of startups as there is less investment necessary than in 

later rounds. Usually, business angels are not able to invest the 

same amount as a VC can and therefore cannot participate in 

later financing rounds. Furthermore, business angels are most 

effective in early rounds as they can help setting up the basis 

of the company with their expertise and advisory work. In the 

vast majority of cases, contacts are made through existing 

networks and contacts between the founder and the angel. 

In addition, there are business angel networks (e.g. BAND, the 

Business Angel Network Germany) which are being used to 

connect both parties. Further possibilities to connect and 

find a suitable angel are all kinds of startup specific events 

like pitch days, business plan competitions and business 

incubators.

The most common reasons for non-participation are the 

sought investment amount and valuation of the company, 

personal differences, low growth potential, business model 

and the existing ownership structure. The personal level 

plays a major role in their investment decision as they can 

only invest a certain amount. Nevertheless, most business 

angels do have a sweet spot that is often connected to their 

professional expertise.

Corporate venture capital

The past two years have shown a significant growth in CVC 

Investments. This is understandable as many corporate 

investments go beyond immediate financial gain and 

are often more reflective of the need for corporations to 

innovate and expose themselves to disruptive startups in 

their industry. CVC mainly supports external companies and 

not internal ventures, as there are usually other budgets from 

the balance sheet reserved for spin-off projects.



Go-To-Market Guide  | 51

Most active CVCs included German CVCs such as 

Bertelsmann Digital Media Investments, Siemens Venture 

Capital, Tengelmann Ventures, Robert Bosch Venture Capital 

or Vorwerk Direct Selling Ventures. But also Boehringer 

Ingelheim Venture Fund or Merck Global Health Innovation 

Fund are worth to be mentioned.

Crowdfunding 

Crowdfunding is perceived as a legit alternative to traditional 

venture capital. Though, it is mainly used for reward-based 

campaigns for pre-financing of production. In this space, 

the most prominent platforms are Seedmatch, Companisto, 

indiegogo and kickstarter.

Initial coin offering

In Germany, the first ICOs were limited to blockchain based 

projects and utility tokens which means tokens that were 

technically required for the product use. But the market has 

quickly widened from pure utility tokens to other form such 

as security tokens. Nevertheless, in Germany there are no 

specific regulations for ICOs yet but authorities expect ICOs 

to adhere to existing regulations. In India, ICO funding is still 

very new and somewhat challenging due to the ambiguous 

stance of the government in relation to cryptocurrencies. 

For instance, a recent circular, published by RBI, mandated 

Indian-based startups to mover their base overseas to 

register their companies in countries that legally allow 

trading in cryptocurrencies. Yet, RBI is looking into launching 

their own cryptocurrency.

2.7.2. Public funding & assistance in Germany

Author: Julia Luchterhand, http://www.pwc.com/ 

Especially in the early stages, entrepreneurs need more than just 

encouragement and moral support. The German government, 

the 16 German Federal States and the EU provide several 

support schemes for startups. At a first glance, opportunities for 

public support may seem vast and quite confusing. However, 

there are ways to tackle them and to successfully raise 

substantial public incentives for one’s company. Generally, the 

different funding schemes are subject to constant changes and, 

thus, always need to be checked in terms of their topicality. 

The funding schemes take the form of either 

 " direct grants, 

 " public loans, 

 " public guarantees or 

 " public equity capital

Most funding schemes work on a project basis. Thus, a company 

needs to apply for the public support before starting a certain 

planned project. In many cases, starting a project too early 

may cause an automatic rejection of the project application. 

Also, check the specific criteria set out in the respective 

guidelines, e.g. establishing a subsidiary in Germany, project 

implementation in Germany, etc.

Principal types of funding in Germany

Furthermore, there are also hybrid forms 
for example interest subsidies for loans 
sale of reduced public property, etc.

Medium-sized affiliate companies, affiliated 
company of regional investement banks, 
equity financing through KFW

Federal or state guarantees, regional 
guarantee banks

Subsidized loans from the KFW, regional 
investment banks and the European 
investment bank

Non-repayable subsidies for investments, 
environment protection, climate protection, 
energy efficiency, research, development and 
innovation banks and the European investment 
bank

R&D Tax Incentives (not in Germany)

Participation

Guarantees

Loans

Grants

Tax Benefits and 
Allowances

Funding Advisor 
and Manager 

Company

Principal types of funding in Germany
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In contrast to other countries, Germany does not offer tax-

based incentives. 

In the case of direct grants, a company typically applies for 

the incentive by submitting a project plan (amongst other 

documents) to the granting authority. Often, it is possible for 

companies to receive the permission to start with the project 

before a final decision on the application has been made. 

After receiving the written allowance, the company can 

start proving the project-related expenses to the granting 

authority which will pay out subsidies at a certain subsidy rate 

on the eligible expenses. The most typical project categories 

for grant schemes are: 

1. Investment projects (e.g. setup of a new establishment)

2. Research, development and innovation projects

3. Projects for energy efficiency, climate protection as 

well as

4. Projects regarding the qualification and education of 

employees, etc. 

In terms of public loans, these typically take the form of 

public development loans with favourable interest rates, long 

maturities and, in many cases, initial grace periods before 

the repayment obligations kick in. Despite the fact that most 

offerings come from public development banks, companies 

usually need to apply for the public loans via their commercial 

house bank. In this case, a company mostly needs to apply for 

the public loan before starting with the project by submitting 

a comprehensive business plan.

Public guarantees usually serve as a way to make financing 

for a project possible at all. This is because commercial banks 

typically do not offer loans to companies which lack securities. 

In these cases, guarantee banks can provide the securities 

needed. Generally, the underlying criteria are much stricter 

and limiting than for grant or loan schemes. Thus, applying 

for a public guarantee needs to be weighed up thoroughly. In 

most cases, the application is already fee-based.

Public equity capital can be an attractive option for startups 

which consider equity capital as a suitable instrument for 

their corporate financing. In some cases, the issuance of 

public equity capital requires the existence of a co or lead 

investor. The advantage of a public equity capital investor 

lies, amongst others, in the transparency and reliability of the 

investor’s strategy.

Different providers of incentives

Company projects may be funded via different instruments 

(different requirements, granting authorities, application 

procedures, terms and conditions etc.).

INNOVATIONS
Research/development,

National level,
Federal state level, EU

OTHER
Personel/training 

environment 
National level 
Federal state 

level EU
INVESTMENTS IN 

MODERNISATION AND GROWTH
National level Federal state level 

EU

ENERGY / 
RESOURCES 
EFFICIENCY 

National level, 
Federal state 

level, EU COMPANY 
PROJECT
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Public support schemes are offered on the

" EU level 

" The German national level

" The federal state level and in some cases even on

" The municipal level within the specific federal state.

Please also bear in mind that India already participates in 

a number of EU programs, e.g. Horizon 2020, the European 

Union’s biggest research and innovation program.

Grant schemes on the EU level mostly cover research 

& development projects and usually require a very high 

standard of technological innovation as well as international 

consortia. The European loan, guarantee or equity instruments 

are generally issued via the member state granting bodies 

and can, thus, in most cases, not be applied for directly.

On the German national level, the Federal ministries as well 

as the KfW, the Promotional Bank of the Federal Republic 

of Germany, are the most important providers of funding 

schemes. 

When it comes to the federal state level, the regional 

development banks often offer a wide range of funding 

schemes. They are usually equally interesting as the 

instruments existing on the German national level and should 

be checked upon when making plans to invest in Germany, 

even though the language barrier may partially be a problem 

for the regional development banks. For this aim, the regional 

business development agencies help incoming investors.

The existing funding instruments are all aligned with 

the EU legislation on state aids. All member states of the 

European Union need to adhere to this legal framework. 

Unfair competition of regions within the EU shall be avoided 

by all means. Under that premise, the EU has stated certain 

maximum subsidy rates for the different project types, for 

different regions and for different company sizes, e.g. SME. 

Examples of relevant funding schemes

GRW funding scheme

A company considering the setup of an establishment 

in Germany should check on the availability of grants 

via the “Joint Task Improvement of Regional Economic 

Structures” scheme (Gemeinschaftsaufgabe “Verbesserung 

der regionalen Wirtschaftsstruktur” – GRW). The aim of this 

funding scheme is to foster economic development by 

subsidizing the setup or expansion of the company site of 

certain eligible industries. The scheme mostly focuses on 

manufacturing companies but has widened its scope over 

time to include several other industries as well, such as digital 

or creative ones. The financial support is determined by the 

respective region and differs according to the company size, 

providing a bonus on top of the general subsidy rate (10 – 20% 

depending on the funding area) of 10% for medium-sized 

companies and of 20% for small companies. Eligible costs 

are either the investment-related capital expenditures for 

new buildings, equipment, machinery, etc. or the personnel 

costs during the project phase. In order to meet entrance 

criteria for the funding scheme, a certain number of new 

jobs needs to be created and maintained by the respective 

establishment. Whilst funding for the GRW funding scheme 

is provided by the federal state level, each federal state can 

specify the general rulings for GRW funding scheme and 

declare its own rules, e.g. on eligible industries or subsidized 

costs. Thus, a close communication with the local granting 

authorities is recommended.
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Research & development & Innovation schemes

In the case of substantial investments in research, 

development, and innovation (R&D&I), a startup should 

consider checking opportunities for those activities. R&D&I 

subsidy schemes are either open to a large number of 

different industries or offer individual calls which set out 

specific industry-related research aims and come along with 

their own set of criteria. An example of a funding scheme 

which does not target a specific industry is the “Central 

Innovation Programme for Medium Sized Enterprises” (ZIM) 

which was set-up by the Federal Ministry for Economics 

Affairs and Energy. 

If you are a student, graduate or scientist in Germany and you 

are thinking of setting up your own business in Germany, the 

EXIST Business Startup Grant may be a feasible possibility to 

translate your business idea into a business plan. Under the 

scheme innovative technology based startup projects and 

innovative knowledge-based services based on scientific 

findings are supported. The grant covers personal living 

expenses, material and equipment and coaching for a period 

of one year.

Further information on possible schemes and available 

financing can be found on the “Make it in Germany” portal  

and on the BMWi business startup portal.

Before you apply for a grant, always check out the grant you 

are looking at as a lot of funding schemes offer only minor 

grants, and thus may not be worth the administrative effort.

2.7.3. Further links

" Seedmatch (https://www.seedmatch.de/) 

" Companisto (https://www.companisto.com/) 

" Indiegogo (https://entrepreneur.indiegogo.com/how-

it-works/) 

" kickstarter (https://www.kickstarter.com/) 

" Make it in Germany (https://www.make-it-in-germany.

com/en/jobs/setting-up-a-business/financing-

funding/programmes/)

" Business Startup Portal (https://www.existenzgruender.

de/EN/Die-ersten-Schritte/Finanzierung/inhalt.html) 
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3.1.  India – At a glance

Author: Eileen Trenkmann, http://www.linkedin.com/in/

eileentrenkmann 

When coming to India to start a business, it is useful to know 

some basic facts, which can help to put the new business 

place into perspective and manage everyday life more easily.

3.1.1. National holidays and work week

According to a report by the Manpowergroup, where 

Millenials across various countries were surveyed, Indian 

millennials work the longest working hours with 52h a 

week across all the countries surveyed as part of the study. 

Especially in bigger Indian cities such as Mumbai, Delhi 

& Bangalore, long commuting to work is common, thus 

contributing to extended long-working hours. At the other 

side, India is ranked rather low in terms of productivity. 

Reasons for this can be found in market regulating laws, 

that give limited incentives for competition and hence on 

improving productivity.

Being a multicultural and -religious country, India is observing 

various national holidays catering to the individual groups. 

Thus, there are currently seventeen gazatted holidays which 

are mandatory by the government. Those are:

" Republic Day - January 26th 

" Maha Shivaratri – varies every year 

" Holi – varies every year (February or March)

" Mahavir Jayanti – varies every year (March or April

" Good Friday – varies every year (March or April)

" Buddha Purnima – varies every year

" Id-ul- Fitr – varies every year

" Independence Day – August 15th 

" Id-ul-Zuha – varies every year

" Janmashtami – varies every year (August or September)

" Muharram – varies every year

" Mahatma Gandhi’s birthday – October 2nd

" Dussehra – varies every year (October)

" Diwali (Deepavali) – varies every year (October or 

November)

" Id-e-Milad (Prophet Muhammad’s birthday) – varies 

every year

" Guru Nanak’s birthday – varies every year (November)

" Christmas Day – December 25th

There are also a number of optional holidays and region-

specific holidays. Many companies also work on Saturday. 

Shops are usually opened throughout the week with one day 

closed usually at the beginning of the week.

3.1.2. Cost of living

Generally, the cost of living in India is lower. Statistics say that 

the cost of living in India is 61,97% lower than in Germany. 

However, you may be surprised that the living costs in 

India’s major cities can be pricey, especially if you cannot 

renounce a western lifestyle and all the amenities India is 

offering, e.g. daily cleaning, cooking, etc. In the 2018 Mercer 

Cost of Living Survey Mumbai ranked 55th out of 209 cities 

studied. Foreigners who buy local produce will find plenty of 

options to purchase from. Vegetable vendors can usually be 

found in every street. However, fruits tend to be a bit pricier 

as they are not part of the daily consumption of Indians. If 

you are looking for western foods, such as cheese, chocolate, 

etc. you will find plenty of shops in the bigger cities offering 

what you are looking for. But, be ready to pay a premium of 

up to 5 times more than you usually would do in Germany. 

The cost of eating out will vary according to your preference. 

Cheap ‘Dhabas’ (roadside restaurants) are everywhere, 

however, their hygienic conditions may vary. Higher standard 

restaurants are more expensive and especially alcohol tends 

to be pricey in India. Also, taxes are not included in the menu 

price and formally registered restaurants charge VAT, service 

charge, service tax, etc. on top of the bill. So, don’t be surprised 

to pay up to 30% extra.

3.1.3. English proficiency

India is a multilingual country with 25 official languages and 

several hundred other languages and dialects. While in the 

north a majority speaks English, it can happen that people 

don’t understand Hindi the or are apprehensive to speak 

Hindi in the south. In the global English Proficiency Index India 

ranks 28 out of 88 countries and 4th in Asia with a moderate 

proficiency. However, due to India’s colonial past, English is an 

essential part of the government and business scene where 

English as a language is spoken fluently. Corporate language 

is almost exclusively English, and the educated youth prefers 

English as a communication language. It is estimated that 

approximately 30% of Indians speak English. However, English 

has developed as a language for the elite with expensive 

private schools mostly teaching in English and government 

schools offering classes in Hindi or a regional language, 

raising the bar for underprivileged people to get access to 

better job opportunities. English is prevalent in the startup 

scene and most startup founders will be fluent in English, 

however, especially in smaller cities, innovative entrepreneurs 

with limited English skills have been excluded from startup 

opportunities that are majorly offered and conducted in 

English. Platforms such as YourStory – a platform dedicated 
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to startup stories – are trying to tackle these issues and have 

started to publicise startup stories also in local and regional 

languages, giving those hidden entrepreneurs a voice. 

3.1.4. Transportation and mobility

Rail transport remains the most commonly used and 

inexpensive mode of long-distance transportation in India. 

The rail network covers a length of 63,140 km. While rail 

transport is an inexpensive and interesting way to travel 

in India, due to old tracks and trains one should plan in 

significant time for the journey.

Another increasingly popular option for traveling between 

cities is by plane. Low cost carriers such as Indigo, SpiceJet 

and AirAsia India have emerged in recent years, offering value 

deals to travel around the country. India’s major business 

hubs and cities are well-connected by plane. 

For travelling within cities, Auto Rikshaws, more commonly 

known as Tuk Tuks, are the preferred mode of commute. In 

bigger cities such as Delhi and Bangalore a good metro 

network has emerged in recent years. Inexpensive taxis can 

be hired via the Uber or Ola platform. In smaller cities Bicycle 

Rikshaws are also available and used.

If you are new, it is not suggested to try driving by yourself. 

The traffic is chaotic and traffic rules are rarely adhered to.  

3.1.5. Forms of payments

In July 2019, the exchange rate between Euro (€) and Indian 

Rupee (INR) was 75 INR to 1 Euro. ATMs are wildly available 

and if you are a customer of Deutsche Kreditbank you can 

withdraw money for free. The limit varies from bank to bank 

but is usually not more than INR 20.000. There is also the 

option to exchange currency at banks or exchange bureaux. 

As Germany, India is a cash economy. End of 2016, in an 

attempt to fight black money, the prime minister of India 

announced overnight that INR 500 and 1000 notes will no 

longer be valid. While the prime goal of abolishing black 

money could not be achieved, India overnight saw a rise in 

online transactions. Mobile money apps such as PayTM went 

from 125 million customers before demonetization to 185 

million three months later. However, while there is an increase 

in online transactions, Indian consumers appear to show zero 

loss of appetite for cash. 

In 2017, India reformed its VAT system fundamentally. While 

the reform had a positive effect on the economic growth of 

India, the VAT tax system remains complicated with a variety 

of different tax rates, depending on the business and its size. 

While the tax varies, the general average is 18%.

3.1.6. Indian expat community

The German expat community in India is small and mostly 

consists of professionals that spend a limited time working 

in India. However, there is a plethora of Facebook groups for 

expats to find their way around which can be found in chapter 

3.1.8.

3.1.7. Indo-German business community

With Germany being an important partner for India, there are 

several German organisations present in India that support 

German and Indian businesses. For instance, the Indo-German 

Chamber of Commerce is present in several big Indian cities 

such as Delhi, Mumbai, Bangalore, Pune, etc. In addition, there 

are 18 German-Indian Business Centres spread across India 

with a mission to build and improve Indo-German relationship 

in Economic, Industrial & Academic sectors. They act as a single 

window business solution provider for companies’ endeavour 

to do business with India or Germany. Germany Trade & Invest 

(GTAI), the economic development agency of the Federal 

Republic of Germany, is also present in India. Investment 

agencies of several German Federal States are also active in 

India such as Invest in Bavaria, etc. Given the growing number 

of German companies in India, the German Federal Association 

of Small and Medium-sized Enterprises, the Mechanical 

Engineering Industry Association (VDMA) and several others 

are also present in India. The German Indian Roundtable also 

has presence in three Indian cities, namely Coimbatore, Delhi 

and Pune. German and Indian startups seeking to expand to 

India can also get in touch with India’s investment agency 

‘Invest India’ that has a dedicated Germany team.

3.1.8. Further links

Transport

" Train tickets (https://www.irctc.co.in/nget/)

" Cleartrip (www.cleartrip.com) 

" Ola Cabs (https://www.olacabs.com/)

" Uber Taxi (https://m.uber.com/)

Indian Expat Community

Germans in India:

" Germans in India (https://www.facebook.com/
groups/277387742375310/)

Expats in India:

" Yuni-net(https://www.facebook.com/groups/yuninet/)

Expats in Delhi:

" Expat help in Delhi (https://www.facebook.com/
groups/expathelplinedelhi)

" Foreigners community in Delhi (https://www.facebook.
com/groups/150954108306260)
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3.2.  Business culture in India

Author: Amrita Gandikota, https://indien.ahk.de

Today, as businesses are getting highly international, one can 

hardly avoid cross-cultural business collaborations, pushing 

individuals to acquire intercultural competencies. In a recent 

survey from the Economist Intelligence Unit, 90% of executives 

from 68 countries cited ‘cross-cultural management’ as their 

top challenge in working across borders. With India and 

Germany being at the brink of sharing competencies and 

forming synergies, it becomes exceedingly important to have 

a concise cross-cultural business understanding.

The key objective of this article is to deep dive into cultural 

specifics of India. It is thus intended to build a common 

understanding when counterparts of the two highly 

diverse countries meet to do business together. It helps 

understanding how to predict and prevent conflicts and how 

to overcome conflicts by building intercultural competencies.

3.2.1. Mentality

Culturally diverse

India is a diverse country encompassing many different 

languages, cultures and religions. It is thus difficult to 

generalise. For instance, the federal state of Gujarat has 

traditionally been inhabited by the business class, somehow 

contributing to a more advanced business mentality.  Along 

these lines, the mentality can differ fundamentally. While 

in some of the urban settings a rather western business 

mentality has taken over and shaking hands is common, in 

some more traditional companies, people are still greeted 

with ‘Namaste’ by pressing the palms together with the fingers 

pointing upwards. Giving the strong hierarchical sense of the 

Indian society, it is important to first greet the most senior 

person. Women are mostly greeted the traditional Indian way 

to show respect. Indians are very hospitable; it is thus not 

uncommon to be invited for lunch or dinner and you should 

plan in the extra time needed for this.

Punctuality & time management

The German sense of time and punctuality is well-known. 

Keeping deadlines, arriving to meetings on time is considered 

as the most important pre-requisite for doing business. It 

should not be misunderstood that Germans are never late 

but the attribute of “time is money” is strongly believed in. In 

India, punctuality is treated rather flexible and many factors 

contribute to this attitude. First and foremost, the heavy and 

unpredictable traffic in India’s big cities. In addition, as India’s 

infrastructure is still developing, heavy rains during monsoon 

for instance can contribute to a complete stillstand of all 

business and public life as streets tend to get heavily flooded. 

For Indians coming to Germany, it is important to adhere to 

the German sense of punctuality and to set up meetings well 

in advance. For German companies seeking to expand to 

Indian it is relatively easy to secure last minute appointments 

or to register and arrive at events late. It is recommended to 

send an extra reminder before going to a meeting in India 

as the person might have forgotten about the appointment. 

Similar challenges can occur when working with Indian 

partners, deadlines despite promised are often not adhered 

to and regular follow ups are required. 
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The idea of perfection

The ability to strive for perfection from a German perspective 

is imbibed as a continuous process of improvement and 

optimizing processes and systems. In India, perfection 

is often seen as an unattainable phenomenon. For an 

average German, to deliver the promise, is more of a moral 

responsibility and anything less is considered a breach of 

trust. A strict adherence to order and structure is important 

for Germans. Among Indians, rules are interpreted to suit 

the situation at hand. The focus is often on the effort put 

into the work rather than the outcome itself. The effort 

is always appreciated even if the outcome is not up to the 

set expectations. Germans thus may face additional work 

to create an outcome suitable to their standards. An open 

communication may help to overcome these challenges. 

It is therefore inherently important for Germans to check 

whether they have been understood properly and the next 

steps are clear.

risk taking

The German fear of the unknown is widely known. The 

stringency laid on structures and processes stem from this 

attribute. One can commonly see Germans plan unforeseen 

situations trying to control and predict the future to a 

maximum extent to avoid risk. Any sudden changes without 

prior due diligence are not welcomed. On a sharp contrary, 

India is a country where accepting uncertainties and 

dealing with the same is in the DNA of people. The practice 

of “Jugaad”, the ability to develop frugal innovations for 

unexpected situations, is quite popular and Indians tend to 

grab on opportunities that can improve their financial status 

very quickly.

long-term vs. short-term orientation

While most German companies follow a long-term vision that 

inherently includes qualitative aspects, Indian companies 

tend focus on short term achievements. Difficulties in 

accessing finance and the uncertainty of regulations have 

further reinforced this behaviour. This has also contributed 

to frequent changes in the labour market. It is very common 

for Indian employees to shift jobs every two years. With this 

short-term orientation, people are very adept in accepting 

new changes to survive, whereas in Germany there is a long 

term outlook, in terms of hiring employees in companies, 

achieving competencies in their existing business line before 

diversification to new areas, their R&D processes and product 

cycles, etc. It is therefore recommended for Germans seeking 

to expand to India to be open to quicker decision making and 

prepared for ad-hoc and last-minute changes.

3.2.2. Negotiating

The often-seen German way of negotiating is to begin with a 

clear agenda and adhering to it. Small talk is usually kept to a 

minimum limited to politely enquiring how your counterparts 

are or a comment about the weather. To seek the best possible 

outcome with your German stakeholders, a quantitative 

research-based approach is appreciated thereby more 

prominence is given to facts than arguments based on feelings. 

Unlike in Germany, building business partnerships in India starts 

from a personal relation to your business contact. Most of the 

decisions are based on trust and intuition. While negotiating 

with Indian counterparts, Germans should invest in relationship 

building.  Take some time to indulge in small talk before getting 

to business.  Arguments are often driven by feelings, emotions 

and experience. The decision making is highly top-down. Since 

the decision-making is usually done at the top level, there is a 

tendency of by-passing orders to get work done faster. There is 

flexibility even after the final decision is made and the action 

steps are formulated on an ad-hoc manner.

3.2.3. Hierarchy & communication 

As many Asian countries, India is a very hierarchical society. 

Hierarchies are being displayed both in the day to day life as well 

as in organizational settings. Hierarchy is displayed in something 

as simple as in the form of addressing decision makers in teams 

by calling them “Sir” or “Madam”. When engaging with Indian 

teams one might often see a sense of hesitance in providing 

direct feedback to superiors or even to fellow team members. This 

could be slightly hindering when working with German teams 

where direct communication and transparency in feedback is 

expected for effective communication. It could on occasions 

also be misunderstood by Germans and leave the impression 

that individual opinions of Indians are not shared due to a lack 

of ownership or lack of knowledge. Germans should understand 

that this is not the case, but hierarchical levels generally do not 

allow inferiors to talk if their superior is present and many are 

somehow hesitant to speak out if not directly asked.  

While Germans prefer to be very direct, Indians usually shy 

away from directly communicating issues or problems. Their 

communication is often determined by factors such as hierarchy, 

relationships and the contextual setting. It therefore may happen 

that promises are made that later cannot be adhered to just to 

not loss face. Individual talks may help to identify the individual’s 

capacity to deliver on promises to avoid disappointments. In 

addition, clear milestone setting, and instructions are often 

required to achieve the desired objective. When talking to 

Indians, it is recommended to soften the directness of the 

statement and articulate in a polite form highlighting the fact 

that the feedback is of no personal bearing and only a positive 

criticism on the work at hand. 
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3.3.  Planning your expansion

Planning your expansion to India shall be a well-prepared step. 

Accelerators and incubators can help German companies to 

enter India as they offer expertise about steps, procedures, 

rules and actors. In the following chapter several ways to 

enter the Indian market smoothly are being highlighted.

3.3.1. Access via accelerators and other startup 

programs

Author: Eileen Trenkmann, http://www.linkedin.com/in/

eileentrenkmann 

As Germany, India has seen a significant increase of startup 

accelerators. It is fair to assume that there are currently 

more than 70 accelerators being regularly conducted. While 

some of the big corporates such as Bosch, Autodesk, SAP, 

Reliance, TATA, Mahindra, etc. run their own startup programs, 

there are also a number of incubators regularly conducting 

accelerator programs such as the Centre for Innovation, 

Incubation and Entrepreneurship (CIIE), Shriram Institute 

-Technology Business Incubator (SRI-TBI), Startup Oasis and 

many more. Many of these incubators are supported by 

corporates as supporting incubators is an eligible Corporate 

Social Responsibility (CSR) activity under the Companies Act 

2013 which mandated corporates to spend at least 2 percent 

of their profits every year on CSR. Many companies and big 

corporates since then have started to use their CSR budget 

more strategically and support startups through existing 

incubators.

The startup scene in India is vibrant and there are assumingly 

more than 700 incubators active in India. The Indian 

government has realised that startups are important for 

economic growth and in 2016 launched the Startup India 

initiative with the objective of supporting entrepreneurs, 

building a robust startup ecosystem and transforming 

India into a country of job creators. The platform provides 

an overview of upcoming programs and events, provides 

information on the overall ecosystem through studies, and 

also gives an overview of ecosystem actors. A dedicated 

team was set up to lead the initiative which operates under 

Invest India – the national investment promotion and 

facilitation agency of India. German startups interested to 

expand to India and understand the startup ecosystem as 

well as current events and programs, can reach out to the 

dedicated Germany team. Following the lead of the centre, 

several federal have developed their own state policies and 

dedicated platforms that support startups. For instance, the 

state of Rajasthan has set-up the iStart which acts as a single 

window for startups in Rajasthan. More information on the 

state wise profile from a business point of view, can be found 

on the Invest India website. This listing gives information on 

upcoming projects, logistics network, key sectors, and major 

investors / companies in a particular state.

As India is positioning itself as global startup hub, the number 

of programs and accelerators that are open for international 

startups is increasing. For instance, Techstars recently 

announced its first Techstars mentorship-driven accelerator 

to be held in India. The program is looking for startups from 

around the world that are applying technologies including 

AI, Blockchain, AR/VR, Robotics, IoT and Data Analytics. 

Also, German companies like Bosch India that is running 

its own dedicated accelerator named D.N.A. is interested in 

working with German-based startups and jointly with GIZ has 

conducted Indo-German bootcamps with startups from India 

and Germany in the past. The Indian incubator Zone Startups 
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was set-up by Ryerson Future, an accelerator based out of 

Canada. The incubator in the past has also helped Canadian 

startups to enter the Indian market and highlighted that 

they would also be interested to work with German startups 

seeking to expand to India. The Hyderabad based incubator 

T-Hub, in 2018 for the first time conducted the India Market 

Access Bridge program that supported international startups 

to come to India. Interested startups to get support can still 

contact them via the dedicated website which can be found 

in chapter 3.3.3. While many accelerator programmes do not 

specifically say that they are open for international startups, it 

is still worth trying to contact them and to find out whether 

their programs are opened for international startups. A list 

of a few accelerators can be found in the last chapter of this 

section. 

More information on current accelerator programs can be 

found on the F6S platform. Also, YourStory, India’s biggest 

media platform for startups regularly publishes call of 

accelerators and incubators.

With the globalisation of startup ecosystems, several Indo-

German programs have evolved. First and foremost, the 

German Indian Startup Exchange Program (GINSEP). 

GINSEP in its first project phase already conducted a startup 

tour for four German startups to India. Similar formats are 

also planned in the second phase of the program, which as 

of August 2019 was under preparation. Another program 

for German and Indian startups that provides access to the 

respective other country is the Indo-German Young leaders 

Forum (IGYlF). IGYLF not just targets startups, but also serves 

as a bilateral exchange platform for exceptional and brilliant 

minds from India and Germany. It seeks to foster an exchange 

between young Indian and German leaders from different 

areas – be it business, politics, science, or media and culture - 

and establish long-lasting networks. The Indo-German Young 

Leaders Forum holds its flagship event on a yearly basis in 

either Germany or India. 

Strengthening cooperation between the Berlin startup 

ecosystem and several Asian startup ecosystem, is the Startup 

AsiaBerlin platform. The StartUp AsiaBerlin platform was 

established by the State of Berlin in cooperation with the 

Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit 

(GIZ) GmbH. The platform also regularly conducts delegation 

trip to several Asian countries, among these India. The next 

delegation trip for German startups which is fully funded 

and open for women entrepreneurs will be conducted in 

September 2019. For upcoming delegation trips, you can 

check regularly the StartUp AsiaBerlin website.

Another important contact for German startups is the Indo-

German Chamber of Commerce (IGCC) in Bangalore. IGCC is 

closely working with the Indo-German startup scene and is 

partner of the StartUp AsiaBerlin network. IGCC also actively 

helps German startups that seek to explore India. 

3.3.2. real estate market and co-working spaces in India

Authors: Dezshira & Associates, http://www.dezshira.com/ 

Market prices for leasing or renting an office space not only 

differ from one city to another but also within the city. Many 

factors affect the rent of a place such as location, building 

amenities, lease term, number of seats, connectivity options, 

layout, etc.
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The following chapter is intended to give a brief overview 

of the most important aspects when deciding on a suitable 

location, including the following aspects:

1. Renting an Office

2. Real Estate Developers

3. Real Estate Agents

4. Co Working Spaces

5. National and Local Contacts

Most of the startups in India are originating from the 

Metropolitan cities. Top cities housing startups in India 

are Bengaluru, Delhi NCR and Mumbai. Nearly two-thirds 

of all startups are from these three cities. Hyderabad, Pune, 

Chennai, and Kolkata are other notable cities which are home 

to some promising startups. 

renting an office

Within the cities, there are several areas where office buildings 

/ towers have formed corporate clusters. Prominent areas in 

Delhi NCR, Mumbai, and Bengaluru where an office space can 

be sought include:

" Delhi NCr

 o Connaught Place – Considered to be one of the 

costliest places to rent an office space in India, 

Connaught Place is a central business district 

of the capital and one of the largest financial, 

commercial, and business centers of Delhi. 

Average rent rates usually start from INR 140-160 

per sqft.

 o NehruPlace – It is a large commercial, financial 

and business centre in Delhi. Office spaces and 

hotels are easily available in this part of the city. It 

is regarded as the center for small scale IT services 

and IT hardware equipment. Average rent rates 

usually start from INR 75-85 per sqft.

 o Saket – It has become one of the most popular 

destinations for shopping and office spaces in 

Delhi. Its proximity to residential areas such as 

Greater Kailash, Panchsheel Enclave, CR Park, and 

Malviya Nagar makes it a commute friendly place. 

Average rent rates usually start from INR 90-100 

per sqft.

 o Netaji Subash Place – It’s one of the biggest 

business hubs of North Delhi. It has a good mix of 

office space and retail outlets. Average rent rates 

usually start from INR 70-85 per sqft.

 o Gurugram – Gurugram has become a leading IT 

and industrial hub with the third-highest per capita 

income in India. As Gurugram is a satellite city of 

Delhi, there are many areas where an office space 

can be set up. Average rent rates usually start from 

INR 100-110 per sqft on MG Road, INR 90-100 per 

sqft on Golf course road, INR 80-100 per sqft in DLF 

Phase 1-5. Lower rates can be expected towards 

Manesar and Sohna roadside.

 o Noida – Being a satellite city of Delhi, it is part of 

the National Capital Region of India. It has also 

become a prominent center for manufacturing and 

IT companies. Average rent rates usually start from 

INR 50-60 per sqft.

" Mumbai:

 o Bandra Kurla Complex – BKC is a commercial 

hub in the city of Mumbai. It houses several 

organisations such as Citibank, Amazon.com, ICICI 

bank, etc. Average rent rates usually start from INR 

150-170 per sqft.

 o Andheri East – The railway station in Mumbai 

divides Andheri into Andheri East and Andheri West. 

Andheri East is one of the prominent business hubs 

in Mumbai and hosts several notable companies 

such as Syntel, Jet Airways, Abott Healthcare, etc. 

Average rent rates usually start from INR 90-110 per 

sqft.

 o Nariman Point – House to some of the most 

prominent financial and business institutions in 

India, Nariman Point is a business district in South 

Mumbai and is one of the most expensive locations 

in the world for renting / purchasing office space. 

Some of the companies located here are Boston 

Consulting Group, Royal Bank of Scotland, JP 

Morgan, Dezan Shira & Associates, etc. Average rent 

rates usually start from INR 160-180 per sqft.

 o Fort Area – As a business district, it is the heart of 

the financial area in the city with institutions such 

as Bombay Stock Exchange, Reserve Bank of India, 

among others having their headquarters here. 

Average rent rates usually start from INR 130-140 

per sqft.

 o Thane – Many small and medium companies and 

corporates find Thane as the best place to start 

their operations. It is in the eastern suburbs of the 

city and has cheaper rentals than South Mumbai. 

Average rent rates usually start from INR 80-90 per 

sqft.
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" Bengaluru:

 o Koramangala – From e-commerce giant Flipkart 

to major cab service provider Ola, this place in 

South Bangalore is home to many Indian startups. 

Also some German companies such as Bosch are 

located here. Average rent rates usually start from 

INR 55-60 per sqft.

 o Indiranagar – One of the Bengaluru’s newer and 

hipper areas, it is a commercial hub and is located 

in east central part of the state. Startups such as 

YourStory have their office here. Rates may be 

slightly more expensive when compared with 

other areas. Average rent rates usually start from 

INR 60-65 per sqft.

 o Whitefield – It has several IT parks including the 

famous International Tech Park. Big IT corporates 

such as SAP, Accenture, IBM, HP, etc. have set up 

their offices in this part of the city. Average rent 

rates usually start from INR 55-60 per sqft.

 o Marathahalli – It is a residential as well as 

commercial locality, situated in the south-eastern 

part of Bangalore. It has a smaller number of IT 

parks. Average rent rates usually start from INR 

50-55 per sqft.

 o ElectronicCity – ElectronicCity is the Information 

Technology hub of the state and is one of 

India’s largest electronic / IT parks with home to 

major IT companies Infosys, TCS, HCL. Also non-

IT companies such as ZEISS are located here. 

Average rent rates usually start from INR 50-60 per 

sqft.

Above mentioned prices are just a rough estimate. Prices 

may vary considerably because of several parameters such 

as building condition, office amenities, real estate market 

condition, lease period, area rented, etc.

Available office space and the associated rental price can 

be checked on popular real estate websites of India such as 

99Acres, Magicbricks, Quikr, JLL, etc.

real estate developers

Real estate development firms have constructed commercial 

properties (e.g. commercial towers, IT parks) in major Indian 

cities like Delhi, Bangalore, Hyderabad, Mumbai, Chennai, 

Pune, Kolkata, etc. Top brands and multinational firms have 

offices in these commercial hubs. Following are some of the 

prominent real estate developers in India with some of their 

well-known commercial projects like DLF, Unitech or Godrej:
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Developers Cities Prominent existing 

projects

Companies present upcoming projects

DLF New Delhi, 

Gurugram, Chennai, 

Hyderabad, Kolkata, 

Chandigarh, 

Chennai

DLF 

Cybercity, Gurugram

Deloitte, Ericsson, 

Accenture, Cvent, Pepsi

DLF IT Park, Chennai; 

DLF Epitome, Gurugram; 

DLF Infinity Towers, 

Gurugram; DLF Plaza 

Tower, Gurugram

DLF World Tech Park, 

Hyderabad

Cognizant, Rockwell, 

Genpact, Hitachi

DLF IT 

Park, Kolkata

Nestle, HP, 

GlaxoSmithKline, L&T

Unitech Kolkata, Noida, 

Gurugram

Unitech Info Space TCS, Accenture, 

Genpact

Nirvana Courtyards II, 

Gurugram Signature 

Towers III, Gurgaon 

Uniworld Towers, 

Gurugram

Global Business Park, 

Gurgugram

Asahi, Pepsi Co., 

Perfetti, AT Kearney

Unitech Infospace, 

Kolkata

Cognizant, Tata 

Consultancy Services, 

Accenture

Godrej Pune, Kolkata, 

Mumbai

Godrej Genesis, Kolkata L&T, Cisco Systems, 

KPMG

Godrej BKC, Mumbai; 

Godrej Eternia, 

ChandigarhGodrej Castlemaine, 

Pune

KPMG, Omniscient 

Solutions

Godrej One, Mumbai Merck, L & T

Brigade Tech Park, 

Bangalore

IBS Software, 

Capgemini, LG CNS

World Trade Centre, 

Kochi

KPMG, Xerox

Please also have a look at the other Real Estate Developers, such as India Bulls, Eros Group, Lodha Group, Larson and Toubro or 

Brigade Group.

real estate agents

Real Estate Agents connect owners or the builder with clients and charge a commission in return. These agents help in finding 

leasing locations for clients. Following are a few prominent real estate agent firms which have a pan India or multi-city presence 

in India like JLL, HSN Realty or CBRE:

Developers Cities Prominent existing projects

Jll Ahmedabad, Delhi, Mumbai, Bengaluru, Pune, 

Chennai, Hyderabad, Gurugram, Kolkata, Kochi, 

Coimbatore

" Rolta Corporate Tower, Gurugram

" NESCO IT Park-Building 4, Mumbai

" The Hub Thergaon, Pune

" Shailendra Techno Park, Bangalore

HSN realty Delhi NCR " DLF Building, Cyber City, Gurugram

" DLF Infinity Tower, Gurugram

" Birla Tower, Delhi

" World Trade Tower, Delhi

CBrE Delhi, Bangalore, Chennai, Hyderabad, Mumbai, 

Pune, Thiruvananthapuram

" North Gate Phase 1 SEZ, Bangalore

" Power Mech IT Park, Hyderabad,

" Dyna Business Park, Mumbai
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First Lease, Colliers International, Cushman and Wakefield, Savills, Leasing India are some of the other noteworthy firms which 

provide real estate agent services in multiple cities of India.

Apart from these firms, local real estate agents can be found on real estate websites such as 99Acres.

Co-working spaces

Co-working spaces are a good option for startups in their nascent stage. They are cost effective compared to renting an office 

space and provide a plethora of dynamic services. Co-working spaces also provide an ecosystem of like-minded organisations 

to connect with on regular basis. The following are some of the prominent firms providing co-working spaces in major Indian 

cities like WeWork, CoWrks, 91springboard:

Please also have a look at the other co-working providers, 

such as Awfis, Vatika Co-working Spaces, Innov8, Coworkyard 

India, iKeva, Skootr and Regus.

All the above given prices are approximate number and 

based on the prices for Gurugram. These prices are subject 

to change depending upon the chosen locations and the 

facilities taken. Negotiations in pricing may also be possible 

with the service providers.

Platforms such as Coworker may also be used for exploring 

different coworking options available in various cities of India.

Co-working is a trend which has strongly impacted the work 

culture of India. Startups, freelancers, Indian corporations and 

MNCs are gravitating towards co-working spaces. These co-

working spaces are not only present in Tier I cities like New 

Delhi, Mumbai, Pune and Bangalore, but have also penetrated 

Tier II cities like Guwahati, Chandigarh and Kochi. With the 

unprecedented growth of the Indian startup ecosystem, 

it seems that Indian co-working industry will continue to 

flourish.

3.3.3. Further links

Incubators & accelerators

" Centre for Innovation, Incubation and Entrepreneurship 

(CIIE) (https://ciie.co/) 

" Shriram Institute -Technology Business Incubator (SRI-

TBI) (www.tbi.org) 

" Startup Oasis (http://www.startupoasis.in/)

" Startup India Initiative (https://www.startupindia.gov.

in/) 

" iStart Rajasthan (https://istart.rajasthan.gov.in/) 

" International Market Access Bridge (https://www.t-

hub.co/imab/) 

" T-Hub Hyderabad (https://www.t-hub.co)

" CIIE Ahmedabad (https://ciie.co/)

" Techstars Bangalore (https://www.techstars.com/

bangalore-program/)

" Startup Oasis Jaipur (http://www.startupoasis.in/)

" Zone Startups Mumbai (https://india.zonestartups.

com/)

" Axilor Ventures (http://axilor.com/) 

" Bosch India DNA Bangalore (https://www.boschindia-

dna.com/)

" SAP Startup Studio Bangalore (https://news.sap.

com/2018/07/sap-startup-studio-nurturing-indian-

startup-ecosystem/)

" Airbus Bizlab Bangalore (https://www.airbus-bizlab.

com/contact/campus/bangalore)

Platforms

" F6S (https://www.f6s.com/accelerators/india) 

" YourStory (www.YourStory.com)

" StartUp AsiaBerlin (https://startup-asiaberlin.com)

Firm Operational Cities Operational since Approx. no. of seats Approx. starting prices 

– per month per person

WeWork Bengaluru, 

Gurugram, Mumbai

2010 15.100+ INR 7.000 (Hot Desk)

CoWrks Bengaluru, Mumbai, 

Gurugram, Chennai, 

Hyderabad

2016 10.000+ INR 10.500 (Flexible Desk)

91springboard Bangalore, Delhi, 

Gurugram, Goa, 

Hyderabad, Noida, 

Mumbai, Pune

2013 8.130+ INR 6000 (Open Desk)
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real estate websites

" 99Acres (https://www.99acres.com/)

" Magicbricks (https://www.magicbricks.com/)  

" Quikr (https://www.quikr.com/) 

" JLL (https://property.jll.co.in/) 

real estate developers

" DLF (http://www.dlf.in/)

" Unitech (http://www.unitechgroup.com/)

" Godrej (http://www.godrej.com/)

" India Bulls (https://www.indiabulls.com/)

" Eros Group (http://www.eros-group.com/) 

" Lodha Group (https://www.lodhagroup.com/) 

" Larson and Toubro (https://www.lntrealty.com/) 

" Brigade Group (http://www.brigadegroup.com/) 

real estate agents

" HSN Realty (http://www.hsngroup.com/)

" CBRE (https://www.cbre.co.in/en) 

" First Lease (http://firstlease.in/) 

" Colliers International (http://www.colliers.com/en-gb/

india) 

" Cushman and Wakefield (http://www.

cushmanwakefield.co.in/) 

" Savills (http://www.savills.in/)

" Leasing India (http://www.leasingindia.com/index.

aspx)

" 99Acres (https://www.99acres.com/commercial-real-

estate-agents-in-delhi-ncr-ffid) 

Co-working

" WeWork (https://www.wework.com/)

" CoWrks (https://www.cowrks.com/)

" 91springboard (http://www.91springboard.com/)

" Awfis (https://www.awfis.com/) 

" Vatika Co-working Spaces (https://www.

vatikabusinesscentre.com/co-working-spaces/)

" Innov8 (https://innov8.work/) 

" Coworkyard India (http://www.coworkyard.com/

countries?country=india) 

" iKeva (https://www.ikeva.com/)

" Skootr (http://www.skootr.in/) 

" Regus (https://www.regus.co.in/) 

" Coworker (https://www.coworker.com/search/india) 
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3.4. Personal legal status in India

The following chapter is aimed at providing an overview of 

the most important information after arriving in India, so 

that German founders can start their business expansion as 

quickly as possible.

3.4.1. Visa

Authors: Dezshira & Associates, http://www.dezshira.com/

The guidelines dealing with entry, stay, and exit of foreign 

nationals in India are regulated by:

" The Passport (Entry in India) Act, 1920

" The Foreigners Act, 1946

" The Registration of Foreigners Act, 1939 and the 

Registration of Foreigners Rules, 1992

An expatriate needs to secure an employment visa (EV) for 

working in India. Indian authorities require documentations 

from the applicant and his/ her employer. Employment visas 

are ordinarily granted for one year or depending on the term 

of the contract and with multiple entry option which can 

be extended by the Ministry of Home Affairs or Foreigners 

Regional Registration Officer (FRRO) in the concerned state 

in India.

The documents required by the authorities to process the 

visa are straightforward and ideally shouldn’t take much time 

to gather and organize. Below is the list of documents which 

are required while applying for employment visa:

Documents required from applicant:

" Original Passport and a photocopy of passport 

information and signature page;

" Signed Indian visa application form and a photocopy 

of same;

" Passport size photographs;

" Proof of residence, national ID card or utility bill, from 

the visa holder’s home country;

Documents required from employer

" Certificate of incorporation from the inviting company 

in India;

" Sponsor letter from employer in India;

" Permission letter requesting approval of visa 

registration;

" Appointment letter stating salary, tenure, designation, 

etc.;

" Tax liability letter; and,

" Justification letter for justifying applicant’s professional 

skills and competencies;

Except for incorporation certificate, all the documents are 

required in original. Documents need to be drafted on 

company’s letter head signed and marked with the company’s 

official stamp.

For startups seeking to expand to India, a business visa is the 

right. Business visa is granted for the following purpose:

" To establish an industrial / business venture or to 

explore possibilities to set-up an industrial / business 

venture in India

" To purchase / sell industrial products or commercial 

products or consumer durables

" For technical meetings / discussions, attending board 

meetings or general meetings for providing business 

services support
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" For recruitment of manpower

" Functioning as partners / directors of the company

" On visit of short duration for monitoring / conducting 

meetings for ongoing projects

" For pre-sales or post sales activity not amounting to 

actual execution of any contract or project

India has significantly eased its visa regime in the last years 

and an e-visa is now granted for 365 days even for business 

purposes.  To get the e-business visa applicants shall apply 

online minimum four days in advance of the date of arrival. 

Documents needed are:

" A recent photograph with a white background

" A copy of the passport

" Copy of Business Card 

" Any letter of invitation if applicable from Indian parties 

which wish you conduct the business (optional)

If you know you plan to stay longer, you can also apply visa 

the Indian embassy and its consulate in Germany. Business 

visas can be extended up to 5 years.

Foreign nationals liable to pay income tax in India are required 

to obtain a tax registration number i.e. Permanent Account 

Number (PAN) upon their arrival in India. PAN is usually given 

within 15 days of applying and submitting the documents.

3.4.2. registration in a municipality

All foreign nationals visiting India on long term (more than 

180 days) visa are required to get themselves registered with 

the Foreigners Regional Registration Officer (FRRO) within 14 

days of arrival except the exempt categories. If you arrive with 

a e-business visa and plan to stay longer than 180 days, you 

have to register with the FRRO. Although, Pakistani nationals 

are required to register themselves within 24 hours.

FRROs can be found in all bigger cities in India. Agents are not 

allowed inside the FRRO office, so foreigners would need to 

go through the process themselves. For other areas, foreign 

nationals can visit office of District Superintendent of Police 

which functions as FRRO to facilitate foreigners.

In 2018 an e-FRRO system was launched which is applicable 

for foreigners in the jurisdiction of all FRROs, and under which 

foreigners are able to avail various visa and immigration 

related services without actually appearing in person at the 

FRRO, unless specifically called upon. Key objective of e-FRRO 

is to provide faceless, cashless and paperless services to the 

foreigners with user friendly experience. The documents that 

need to be submitted may vary according to the type of visa 

and the purpose of staying in India. Further information can 

be found in chapter 3.4.7.

3.4.3. Finding an apartment and utilities

It is common to use a broker in India. Depending on your 

negotiation skill, the broker will either take one month rent 

or half a month rent for the services rendered to find an 

apartment. Unlike in Germany, it is not difficult to find an 

apartment as a foreigner and most of the landlords are happy 

to have foreigners as tenants. However, if you are moving in 

with the partner, it may happen that they ask you for your 

marriage certificate. Also, as the society is collectively closer, 

Indian landlords can be quite intruding, especially if they live 

in the same building. When you are looking for a flat in India, 

it is thus important to find a landlord that follows a modern 

approach without intruding in your privacy. Besides brokers 

there are several websites where one can find flats, such as 

Quikr, 99Acres, etc. The prices differ fundamentally from city 

to city and modern apartments in cities such as Mumbai and 

Delhi can be quite pricey. Most Indian flats are bigger than 

Germans as they are usually designed to accommodate entire 

families. Thus, most of the rooms have attached bathrooms. 

Balconies are often designed to serve the sole purpose of 

keeping laundry and the wash machine. Most of newer 

apartments have western toilets, however, it can happen that 

you still find apartments with Indian toilets.

Utilities such as electricity, gas, water and internet are usually 

extra and can vary widely in prices. For instance, in cities such 

as Mumbai where an AC is needed most of the year, one’s 

electricity bill can be significantly higher than in Bangalore 

where the weather is more pleasant throughout the year. 

Most Indians also have a maid supporting in housekeeping 

and cooking.
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3.4.4. Internet & phone

Prepaid cards are available almost everywhere. However, 

to use a sim card one has to register and provide an 

accommodation (e.g. hotel) or residence proof. To verify the 

genuity of the person, an alternative contact number has to 

be given which is being called to verify the person that has 

applied for the sim card exists. There are several network 

providers in India you can chose from. Airtel used to be the 

largest mobile network provider with approximately 300 

million subscribers. However, Airtel has been taken over by 

Reliance Jio which offers excellent prices and good coverage. 

In addition, Reliance Jio is the only voice over LTE operator, 

offering extra high speed. The launch of Reliance Jio has 

contributed to a stiff competition in the market and has led 

to the closure or merger of several operators. Vodafone, who 

used to be the second biggest operator, merged with Idea 

and currently holds approximately 30% of the market share. 

All three operators provide good coverage and packages 

starting from EUR 5. All operators also offer post-paid, 

however, as the price is so cheap, it is recommended to stay 

with a prepaid tariff.

There are more than 300 providers offering broadband 

internet services in India. There are currently more than 500 

million internet users. Most of the bigger cities have plenty 

of operators to choose from and a highspeed plan usually 

starts from around EUR 10, depending on the data package 

you are choosing. Airtel is the operator most used in India, 

with approximately 300 million broadband subscribers. It is 

followed by Vodafone Idea and BSNL. Other operators are 

TATA Teleservices, MTNL, Hathaway and Jio Reliance.

3.4.5. Social security

Foreign nationals working in establishments in India, where 

provident fund regulations are valid, need to contribute 

to the provident fund unless specifically exempted. Both 

employer and employee would be required to contribute 

12% of the employee’s monthly salary for social security 

obligations. The entire 12% of employee’s contribution 

goes to Employee Provident Fund (EPF) and out of 12% of 

employer’s contribution, 3.67% is contributed to EPF while 

remaining 8.33% goes to EPS (Employee Pension Scheme).

Social Security Agreements (SSA) are signed between 

countries to avoid instances of double social security liability 

for employees. Under this agreement, employees may 

continue to remain with their home social security scheme 

and request exemption from the host country social security 

scheme. SSA along with helping employees, also promote 

more investment flows between countries.

New SSA between India Germany came into force on May 1, 

2017. This new agreement superseded the old agreement 

which was in place since 1st October 2009 and now includes 

totalization and export of pension related benefits.

3.4.6. Personal income tax

Taxation of foreign nationals in India

In the year 1991, India moved towards liberalizing its 

economy and opened the doors for foreign investments in 

various sectors. This move not only resulted in an influx of 

billions of dollars in form of foreign investments but also led 

to migration of competent resources from around the globe 

to India. Taxation in India is based on the residential status of 

the individual and not on his/ her citizenship.

residential status

Residential status is determined by the individual’s physical 

presence in India regardless of the purpose of stay. Residential 

status of an individual can be categorized as:

" Resident and ordinarily resident (R & OR)

" Resident but not ordinarily resident (R but NOR)

" Non-Resident (NR)

An individual who falls in the category of ROR is taxable on 

his worldwide income, in that given year. Hence, careful tax 

planning is required on the part of the individual to avoid 

paying taxes on global income. Individuals falling in Resident 

but not Ordinarily Residents and Non-Resident categories are 

liable to be taxed on the income received / accrued in India or 

deemed to be received / accrued in India.

Stay> 182 Days in the tax year

Yes No

Resident Stay > 60** days in the tax year
and
Stay > 365 days in the preceding
4 tax yearsNon-resident for 9 out of

10 previous tax years

Stay in India < 730 days
in preceding 7 tax years

Resident &
Ordinarily
Resident (R&OR)

Resident but not
Ordinarily Resident
(but NOR)

Non-resident
(NR)

Yes

Yes

No

No
Yes

**extends to 182 days in case of Indian citizen or person of Indian origin
    (a)   Leaving for purposes of employment or 
    (b)   Being outside India, comes on a visit to India

R & OR R but NOR NR

Global Income

• Income received or deemed to be received
  in India and
• Income accrues or arises or is deemed to
  accrue or arise in India
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It is not necessary that the stay in India has to be continuous 

or at one place while determining the residential status. 

Important point is to check the number of days an individual 

has stayed in India during a particular financial year. Salary 

for services rendered in India is taxable irrespective of the 

residential status and place of receipt of income.

Indian tax system

Indian taxation year starts from 1stApril and commences on 

31stMarch. Residential status of an individual is determined 

for each taxation year separately.

Taxable income in India for foreign nationals usually includes:

Also, following surcharge would be applicable in below 

mentioned cases:

" If total income is above INR 50,00,000 – Surcharge 10%

" If total income is above INR 1,00,00,000 – Surcharge 

15%

An individual’s tax return should ideally be filed by 31stJuly 

following the end of taxation year on 31st March.

" Salary, wages, allowances, and other cash 

compensations including incentives and bonus linked 

to sales or productivity or any other criteria;

" Income tax paid by an employer on behalf of his / her 

employee;

" Specific perquisites such as rent-free accommodation, 

car and a driver provided by the employer also form 

components of taxable compensation.

Subject to certain conditions, there are certain components 

of income which are exempt from taxation in India such as 

house rent allowance, employer provident fund contribution, 

gratuity, etc.

Income Slabs Income Tax rates

Up to INR 2,50,000 NIL

INR 2,50,001 to INR 5,00,000 5% on the excess amount over INR 2,50,000

INR 5,00,001 to INR 10,00,000 20% on the excess amount over INR 5,00,000

Above INR 10,00,000 30% on the excess amount over INR 10,00,000

Income Slabs Income Tax rates

Up to INR 300,000 NIL

INR 300,001 to INR 5,00,000 5% on the excess amount over INR 300,000

INR 5,00,001 to INR 10,00,000 20% on the excess amount over INR 5,00,000

Above INR 10,00,000 30% on the excess amount over INR 10,00,000

Income Slabs Income Tax rates

Up to INR 500,000 NIL

INR 5,00,001 to INR 10,00,000 20% on the excess amount over INR 500,000

Above INR 10,00,000 30% on the excess amount over INR 10,00,000

residency in India - As per 

domestic tax law

residency in Other Country – As per 

domestic tax laws

DTAA residency

Resident Non-Resident Resident of India

Non-resident Resident Resident of Other Country

Resident Resident Tie breaks to India – Resident of India

Resident Resident Tie breaks to Other country – Resident of Other 

Country

For resident individual of the age less than 60 years

For resident Individual of the age between 60 to 80 years

For resident Individual of the age of 80 plus years

Double taxation avoidance agreement (DTAA)

A situation where an individual is taxed in two countries 

for the same income is known as double taxation. A DTAA 

between two countries aids to avoid taxation of income in 

both the countries. India has double taxation agreement with 

over 90 countries, including Germany.

Income tax slab rates for FY 2018-19

Income tax in India is calculated on the basis of the following tax slabs:
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Relief under DTAA can be availed by obtaining a Tax 

Residency Certificate (TRC) from the tax authorities of the 

resident country.

Tax registration number 

Foreign nationals liable to pay income tax in India are 

required to obtain a tax registration number i.e. Permanent 

Account Number (PAN) upon their arrival in India. PAN is 

usually given within 15 days of applying and submitting the 

documents. From 49AA/ Form 49A can be used to apply for 

PAN with Indian tax authorities. PAN is also used for extension 

of Visa and for FRRO registration in India.

Prior to departure from India, on completion of tenure in 

India, the foreign national is required to obtain an Income 

Tax Clearance Certificate from the Income Tax Department, 

signifying payment of all income tax dues.

3.4.7. Further links

" FRRO India (https://indianfrro.gov.in/eservices/home.

jsp)

" 99Acres (https://www.99acres.com) 

" Quikr (https://www.quikr.com/homes) 
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3.5. Getting started in India partner acquire an equity stake. Joint venture agreements 

typically include provisions for resolving deadlocks between 

venture partners, exit options, equity participation by 

local and foreign investors, composition of the board and 

management.

unincorporated entities (liaison and branch offices)

These include the entities duly formulated for specific 

purposes and are regulated by the Indian federal bank i.e. the 

Reserve Bank of India (“RBI”). In certain situations, where the 

foreign entity would like to assess the market in India, it may 

consider establishing a liaison/representative/branch office. 

A liaison office requires light structural setup and represents 

a place of business in India for the parent company. The 

liaison office can facilitate technical/financial collaboration 

between the foreign parent and Indian companies as well as 

promote exports to and imports from India. Such an office is 

not permitted to engage in any trading or commercial activity 

and the overseas head office, through remittances, meets all 

its expenses. German entities having a profit-making track 

record for preceding 3 years are eligible for establishing a 

liaison office.

If the foreign entity envisages a greater presence in India 

and is keen to undertake activities (manufacturing/trading) 

of the head office in India, then it may consider setting up 

a branch office. A branch office is not a separate legal entity 

unlike a company and any liability of the branch would be the 

liability of the foreign entity. The purpose for which a branch 

office can be established includes export-import of goods, 

rendering professional/consultancy services, carrying out 

research work for the parent company, promoting technical/

financial collaboration, representing and acting as the 

buying and selling agent for the parent company, rendering 

information technology, software development and other 

technical services. Although a branch office is not allowed to 

carry out manufacturing activities on its own, it is permitted 

to subcontract.

Author: Dhruv Suri, http://www.psalegal.com/

The process of economic reforms in India was initiated in 

1991. Since then there has been a constant endeavour to 

create a foreign investor friendly climate by simplifying 

procedures for entry and operations. This chapter provides a 

brief overview of Indian laws that should aid German startups 

to evaluate their India strategy from a legal and compliance 

perspective. 

3.5.1. Difference between subsidiaries and branch offices

A foreign investor may establish an entity in India depending 

on the nature of activities envisaged and the prevailing 

government policy in the proposed sector of investment. 

Broadly there are two types of vehicles that can be used for 

carrying on business (a) incorporated entities, namely, wholly 

owned subsidiaries and joint venture companies which may 

be either public or private companies; and (b) unincorporated 

entities, namely, liaison and branch offices.

Incorporated entities (subsidiaries and joint ventures)

These include corporations duly incorporated under the 

Companies Act, 2013. The government permits setting 

up of a wholly owned subsidiary (WOS) in certain sectors 

like mining and exploration, petroleum and natural gas, 

greenfield civil aviation projects, non-scheduled air transport 

services, information technology, development of integrated 

township, establishment and operation of satellites, cash & 

carry wholesale trading, e-commerce activities, greenfield 

pharmaceutical activity, mass rapid transport services 

under the automatic route. In certain other sectors such as 

private sector banking, multi-brand retailing, foreign direct 

investments (FDI) up to 100 percent foreign equity may be 

inducted with prior approval of the concerned administrative 

ministry/department. The obvious advantages of a WOS are, 

total control over funding, management and profit share of 

the business. However, the flip side is that in a WOS, where the 

total management is foreign, advantage of local knowledge 

is absent.

A joint venture is a popular route for FDI into India either 

because of the existing sectoral caps in certain areas of 

investment or it may be the preferred strategy for the 

foreign investor on account of local knowledge and 

expertise available through a domestic partner. The joint 

venture company into which investment is proposed may 

be an existing Indian company already in business or a new 

company in which both the foreign investor and the Indian 
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3.5.2. Types of companies

All companies in India are incorporated under and governed 

by the Companies Act 2013 (named as “the Act” in this 

section).

The Act provides for incorporation of different types of 

companies, the most popular ones engaged in commercial 

activities being the private limited and public limited 

companies (liability of members being limited to the extent of 

their shareholding). Since private companies have lesser day-

to-day compliances, it is usually the most preferred mode of 

doing business in India. India also has entity forms like limited 

liability partnerships, one-person company, etc., but these 

are not preferred in the startup ecosystem, especially where 

the founders are looking to raise external capital. Therefore, a 

private company is the ideal entity structure for most foreign 

startups looking to do business in India.

Private company

To incorporate a private limited, a minimum of 2 shareholders 

and 2 directors are required. However, it cannot have more 

than 200 shareholders and 15 directors. In case these 

thresholds are crossed, a private company would be deemed 

as a public company. Further, at least 1 director has to be 

an Indian resident. This is an important aspect for German 

startups to keep in mind.

Broadly, a private company:

" Restricts the right to transfer its shares;

Once registered with an office on Indian soil, startups can 

also register with the Startup India Hub and avail all the 

benefits the program is offering to startups. For this purpose, 

Source: Startup India

" Prohibits any invitation to the public to subscribe for 

any of its shares or debentures.

The balance sheet and profit and loss account of the company 

has to be filed with the Registrar of Companies (“ROC”). 

Any person can inspect the profit and loss accounts of the 

company filed with the ROC upon payment of prescribed 

inspection fees.

Public company

A public company has a minimum of 7 shareholders and 3 

directors. Like a private company, there cannot be more than 

15 directors and at least 1 of them must be an Indian resident. 

A private company, which is a subsidiary of another company, 

not being a private company, shall be a public company and 

accordingly, must comply with the requirements of the Act 

that are applicable to a public company.

The profit and loss accounts, balance sheet, along with the 

reports of the directors and auditors, of a public company, 

are required to be filed with the ROC and are available for 

inspection to the public by paying prescribed inspection 

fees. Listed public companies are additionally regulated by 

SEBI and have listing agreements with the respective stock 

exchange(s) on which they are listed.

3.5.3. Founding and registration of a business entity

Similarly to Germany, Private Limited are the most popular 

forms of business entities used by foreign investors. Investors 

have to follow several procedures to incorporate a company 

in India. The process is depicted in the following graphic:

the startup has to make an online application via the mobile 

app or the portal set up by the Department for Promotion of 

Industry and Internal Trade.
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3.5.4. legal basics

After successfully having set up a company, the operation of 

the newly founded entity will have to comply with further 

legal provisions. These include company internal matters, 

such as how the bodies within the company are structured 

and how the relationship between the shareholders is 

organized. This chapter also provides a brief overview of 

Indian laws that should aid German startups to evaluate 

their India strategy from a legal and compliance perspective 

viz. post incorporation compliances relating to intellectual 

property, labour, data protection and competition.

Incorporation documents

The Memorandum of Association (“MoA”) and the Articles of 

Association (“AoA”) regulate the conduct of a company as its 

charter documents and are publicly available for inspection 

on the payment of a nominal fee. Shareholder agreements 

(“SHA”) regulate the relationship between shareholders 

and the company and are private documents. While it is not 

mandatory to execute SHAs, we highly recommend this, 

should German companies look to partner with their Indian 

counterparts.

MoA is one of the charter documents of the company. It 

predominately details the authorized capital and the main 

business objects that the company can carry out. The business 

objects must be broadly worded so that the activities carried 

out by the company are never outside its scope. If there is any 

lapse, the directors of the company can be made personally 

liable for losses incurred by the company while running any 

“unauthorized” business.

AoA is the other charter document which captures all 

governance related provisions. It regulates the internal 

management of the company. For instance, it details how 

meetings ought to be held, how decisions ought to be 

approved, what happens in instances of a deadlock, whether 

certain actions taken by the board would be permissible or 

not, etc. In essence, it is important for the directors to ensure 

that any decision or the manner of taking any decision is 

consistent with the AoA of the company. Key terms of any 

SHA also have to be incorporated in the company’s AoA to 

make them legally enforceable.

Shareholders meetings

There are two types of shareholders meetings: a) Annual 

General Meeting (“AGM”) and b) Extraordinary General 

Meeting (“EGM”).

Companies are under a statutory obligation to hold an AGM 

every year. The first AGM has to be convened within nine 

months from the date of closing the first financial year of 

the company i.e. March 31st. Subsequently, the AGM must 

be conducted in such manner that a period of not more 

than fifteen months lapses between two AGMs and within 

six months from the closing of every financial year. A notice 

informing the date, place and agenda of the meeting has to 

be given to the members, directors and the auditors of the 

company.

The board of directors are authorized to call an EGM on their 

own or on a requisition made by the members, provided the 

members demanding the requisition hold not less than one-

tenth of the paid-up capital of the company. The board has to 

call the meeting within twenty-one days of deposition of valid 

requisition. If the board fails to do so, then the requisitionists 

may call upon the meeting themselves.
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Management

The Act lays down specific provisions with respect to 

managing the affairs of a company so as to protect the 

interest of its shareholders and investing public.

Directors are trustees and agents of a company and are 

obliged to act in the company’s interests. Board of directors 

has the power to take decisions on behalf of the company 

provided these decisions are compliant with the AoA. 

Consequently, all directors are collectively responsible for a 

company’s non-compliance. However, a director is absolved 

of liability if the non-compliance has occurred without his or 

her consent or knowledge. In fact, as per the Act, a director 

may be imprisoned for certain non-compliances such as 

failures in (i) filing annual returns, (ii) maintaining true and 

fair financial accounts, (iii) obtaining approval from board of 

directors prior to entering in transactions with related parties 

and (iv) disclosing interest in another entity.

Unlike a lot of other jurisdictions, there is no mandatory 

requirement for Indian companies to appoint a Managing 

Director, Chief Executive Officer, etc. However, if and when 

such persons are appointed, it is important that the provisions 

of the Act are followed.

Upon incorporation, a company must hold its first board 

meeting within thirty days from the incorporation date. 

Thereafter, board meetings are required to be held at least 

once in every one-hundred and twenty days and at least 

four such meetings must be held in every year. Directors can 

convene board meetings by giving a seven-day notice to all 

directors detailing the time, place, venue and the business to 

be transacted at the meeting. Directors can participate and 

vote in Board Meetings through video-conferencing or other 

audio-visual means. Decisions at board meetings are through 

a simple majority, unless the AoA provides otherwise.

The board can exercise a number of powers at a meeting, by 

way of a resolution, namely: make calls on shareholders in 

respect of money unpaid on their shares and to forfeit shares 

in case of non-payment; make contracts, execute negotiable 

instruments and borrow money on behalf of the company; 

invest up to specified limits in the shares of other companies; 

authorize buy-back of company’s shares; declare interim 

dividend; issue debentures; invest the funds of the company; 

make loans, guarantee or provide security for loans; approve 

amalgamation, merger, takeover or reconstruction; diversify 

business of the company; make political contributions; 

appoint or remove key managerial personnel or take note 

thereof; appoint internal and secretarial auditor; note 

disclosure of director’s interest and shareholding; buy or sell 

investments of the company up to prescribed limits; invite 

or renew public deposits and review or change existing 

terms and approve quarterly, half-yearly and annual financial 

statements and results of the company.

The board may delegate its powers to borrow, invest funds 

and make loans up to certain specified limits and subject to 

conditions, as it may deem fit, to the committee of directors or 

the managing director or any principal officer of the company.

resolutions

It is a formal expression of an opinion adopted by votes and 

a formal record of the action taken by the shareholders and 

the board of directors of a company. Resolution at a board 

meeting is passed by simple majority. Resolution is passed 

at a shareholders meeting as either an ordinary or a special 

resolution.
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Ordinary resolution, to be passed, requires a simple majority 

of members who are present and entitled to vote on the 

resolution. This shall also include the vote of the chairman 

of the company, if appointed. Voting on this resolution is 

generally done by show of hands (voting by poll is the other 

option that can be exercised) by the members present 

personally or by proxy and each member has one vote 

irrespective of the shareholding. The resolution passed by 

the majority is legally binding upon the minority and the 

company.

A resolution is a special resolution when the notice calling the 

general meeting or other intimation given to the members 

specifically mentions the same. Such a resolution, in order to 

get passed, requires that the number of votes (whether on 

show of hands or poll) cast by the members in favour of the 

resolution (by voting or by proxy) exceed three times the 

number of the votes, if any, cast against the resolution. Some 

of the actions which require a special resolution are alteration 

of the memorandum/articles of the company, change of 

name of the company and reduction of share capital.

For cases where certain important resolution(s) has / have to 

be passed urgently for effective functioning of a company and 

it is not convenient for the directors to hold a board meeting, 

the option of passing of a board resolution by circulation has 

been provided for under the Act.

Audit of accounts

Auditors of a company are appointed for a term of five years 

in the AGM through an ordinary resolution. Subsequently, 

their appointment is ratified in every AGM during the five-

year term. The company, in a general meeting, may remove 

auditors before the expiry of their term by circulating a 

special notice, passing a special resolution and seeking prior 

approval from the Central Government. Auditors are required 

to make a report to the members of the company in respect 

of the financial statements (balance sheet, profit and loss 

account, cash flow statement, statement of changes in equity 

if applicable and notes) examined by them at the end of each 

financial year. 

Intellectual property 

The various tools of IPR used to protect innovations 

are copyrights, patents, trademarks, industrial design, 

geographical indications, and layout designs for integrated 

circuits. There are differences in the degree of protection for 

each of them. Intellectual Property Law is an important aspect 

for marketing a startup and ensuring that their investments 

reap exclusive benefits. India has weak intellectual property 

rights enforcement mechanisms. Therefore, registration 

of intellectual property rights is even more important in 

such environment as it facilitates the enforcement process. 

Trademarks, patent and copyright laws are discussed briefly 

in the following chapters.

a) Trademark

 Trademark registration is an evidence of ownership, a 

sort of limited exclusive right to use the mark in relation 

to the goods or services the mark represents. The law 

of trademarks is contained in the Trademarks Act, 1999 

and its corresponding Trademarks Rules. According to 

the Trademarks Act, 1999, registration of trademarks for 

goods and services including multi-class applications 

are also permissible.

 India and Germany are both part of the Madrid Protocol. 

Therefore, a trademark application can first be made to 

the International Bureau under the Madrid Protocol, 

from where it is transferred to the Indian trademark 

registry. While obtaining a trademark registration may 

take 1 or 2 years, the initials “TM” are instantly available 

for use. A German startup is well advised to initiate the 

process of obtaining trademarks through this route 

prior to entering into the Indian market. This step shall 

ensure that the German startup has the legal right to 

do business under its designated name.

 A trademark is granted initially for a period of ten years 

and may be renewed thereafter for an additional period 

of ten years upon furnishing the requisite renewal fee.

b) Patents 

 A patent is an exclusive monopoly granted by the 

government to an inventor over his invention for 

limited period. The legislation governing the patents in 

India is the Patents Act, 1970 as amended from time to 

time.

 India and Germany are signatories of the Patent 

Cooperation Treaty (“PCT”). The PCT essentially 

facilitates filing of a single application for grant 

of patent rights in various countries. However, the 

patent office of the country where the application is 

made is solely responsible for grant of patent in that 

jurisdiction. PCT applications must be made within 

thirty-six months from the date priority is claimed. A 

foreign applicant is required to give a local address in 

India, which would also decide the jurisdiction where 

an application is required to be made.

 A new product or process having an inventive step and 

capable of industrial application can be patented by 

any person who is the true and first inventor or his / 

her assignee or his / her legal representative upon his 

/ her death. Inventive step is a feature of an invention 

that involves technical advancement as compared to 

existing knowledge or economic significance or both 

and which is not obvious to a person skilled in the art. 
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 The term of a patent granted is twenty years from 

the date of filing of patent application. In case of 

applications filed under PCT the term of twenty years 

begins from international filing date.

c) Copyright

 The Copyright Act, 1957, supported by the Copyright 

Rules, 1958 is the governing law for copyright 

protection in India. The Copyright Act provides that 

a copyright subsists in an original literary, dramatic, 

musical or artistic work, cinematograph films, and 

sound recordings. A computer programme is treated as 

a “literary work” and is protected as such. Under Indian 

law, registration is not a prerequisite for acquiring a 

copyright in a work. A copyright in a work is created 

when the work is created and given a material form, 

provided it is original. However, registration of a 

copyright allows for its easier enforceability. A German 

entity may apply for registration of copyright with the 

Indian copyright office. Registration of a copyright 

typically takes up to 2 to 3 months.

 India and Germany are signatories of the Berne 

Convention, Phonograms Convention, Universal 

Copyright Convention and WTO’s Trade Related 

Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights Agreement. As 

per India’s International Copyright Order, 1999, works 

that have been made or published in Germany are 

eligible for copyright protection in India, regardless of 

any registration.

 The term of copyright is, in most cases, the lifetime of 

the author plus 60 years thereafter.

Competition law

The Competition Act, 2002 bars “anti-competitive agreements”. 

Anti-competitive agreements which (i) determine purchase 

or sale prices; (ii) limit or control production; (iii) allocate 

geographical markets between enterprises and (iv) facilitate 

bid rigging; are per se against the law. Further, anti-competitive 

agreements which (i) require purchaser of goods to purchase 

some other goods as a pre-condition; (ii) determine the price 

at which a good may be resold etc; are illegal if they cause 

an appreciable adverse effect on competition in India. The 

Competition Act, 2002 also prohibits an Indian enterprise 

from abusing its dominant position in its relevant product 

or geographical market and the Competition Commission 

of India’s approval is required if valuation of a merger of two 

entities crosses certain financial thresholds.

If the Indian entity violates the Competition Act, 2002, a 

penalty may be levied which is 10% of its average turnover 

for the last 3 preceding financial years.

loans

Loans provided by the German entity to its Indian 

counterpart are called External Commercial Borrowings 

(“ECB”).  Depending on the facts and circumstances, such 

loan may require prior permission from the RBI through the 

approval route or may be routed through the automatic 

route. Therefore, it is critical no amount is disbursed as loan 

from outside India without consulting the Indian company’s 

bank and lawyers.

Data protection

The Indian Data Protection regime is on the cusp of an 

extensive overhaul. The legislative proposals for the Indian 

data protection framework suggest that India shall soon 

move to a General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) 

inspired data protection regime. Thus, it becomes relevant to 

understand both the current framework and the proposed 

overhaul.

Currently, India does not have a specific legislation dedicated 

to data protection. India provides data protection through 

the Information Technology Act, 2000. Indian law regulates 

and protects sensitive personal data and information (“SPDI”) 

relating to (i) password; (ii) financial information such as bank 

account, credit card, debit card or other payment instrument 

details; (iii) physical, physiological and mental health 

condition; (iv) sexual orientation; (v) medical records and 

history; and (vi) biometric information. An entity is allowed 

to collect SPDI only if collecting the information is required 

for the performance of its lawful functions. Prior written 

consent must be obtained for collecting SPDI. Such consent 

shall be valid only if the person concerned is informed about 

the reason for collection of SPDI and the intended recipients 

of such SPDI. Further, a body corporate has to ensure that 

reasonable security practices and procedures in consonance 

with international standards for protecting data are in place. 

A corporate body is mandated to provide compensation to 

an individual whose sensitive personal data and information 

is leaked causing wrongful loss or wrongful gain to any other 

person.
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The Government of India has released the Personal Data 

Protection Bill, 2018 (“Draft Bill”) on July 30, 2018. The Draft 

Bill imposes obligations regardless of the market standing of 

the company, therefore if this bill goes into effect, even initial 

stage startups shall be burdened with high compliance costs. 

The Draft Bill provides mandatory registration requirements 

on data processors who conduct high risk processing. Such 

processors are required to implement trust scores, data 

audits as well as data protection impact assessments. Further, 

the draft bill provides that a copy of all personal data must 

be stored in India; additionally, the government may notify 

certain types of personal data that should be mandatorily 

processed only in India. The Draft Bill provides penalties of up 

to 4% of global turnover in some cases. In limited situations, 

criminal penalties have also been prescribed.

Further, the government has released a draft version of the 

Digital Information Security in Healthcare Act (“DISHA”) for 

specifically regulating and protecting digital health data 

(“DHD”). DISHA aims to provide for privacy, confidentiality, 

security and standardization of DHD and associated 

personally identifiable information. It seeks to regulate the 

manner of generation, collection, storage and transmission of 

DHD. Contraventions of DISHA entail payment compensation 

to the owner of the DHD, however imprisonments of up 

to 3 to 5 years or fines have been prescribed for serious 

contraventions. German entities who propose to enter India’s 

healthcare sector must analyse their data security norms and 

practices in light of this proposed legislation.

In view of the government’s clear intent to move towards a 

GDPR inspired data protection regime, German entrepreneurs 

are well advised to enter the Indian marketplace with 

the same security mechanisms and degree of respect for 

protecting personally identifiable data with which they 

operate in the European Union.

Dispute resolution in India

In India, dispute resolution is costly and time-consuming. 

Indian courts are notoriously slow in adjudging disputes. 

The World Bank has reported that it takes an average of four 

years to enforce a contract in India. The average legal costs of 

the dispute amount to 1/3rd of the claimed amount. Further, 

Indian courts seldom permit recovery of legal fees from the 

losing party. However, there have been efforts to improve the 

system, such as recent amendments to Indian arbitration law 

which impose a one-year time limit within which arbitration 

proceedings have to conclude. The Indian entity must 

ensure that there are dispute resolution clauses within their 

contracts, specifying a manner through which disputes are 

to be resolved. In our experience, formal mediation through 

qualified mediator is fruitful and must be attempted prior to 

going for litigation/arbitration.

3.5.5. Tax system

A German entity may have a “permanent establishment” 

in India if it incorporates an Indian entity for carrying out 

its Indian operations. The India-Germany Double Taxation 

Avoidance Agreement stipulates that German companies 

having a permanent establishment in India shall be liable to 

pay income tax in India, up to the extent of income attributable 

to such permanent establishment. Thus, tax implications of 

incorporating an Indian entity must be assessed by a German 

startup before venturing into the Indian market. Similar to 

most systems of taxation around the world, the tax regime in 

India is rather complex. Taxes are imposed both at the central 

and state levels. Further, taxes are broadly divided into two 

kinds viz. direct and indirect.

Direct taxation

The Income Tax Act (“IT Act”) regulates taxation of companies 

in India. Rates of taxes and exemptions are announced in the 

annual budget. The fiscal year runs from April to March in 

India. Some noteworthy elements are raised below.

Every company must apply for a PAN and a registration 

number for tax deduction at source. Direct taxes are 

applicable on income earned through the business dealings 

in India. Rates vary depending upon whether the income is 

earned by a domestic company, foreign company, a firm, or 

an individual.

Foreign companies are taxed only on income, which arises 

from operations carried out in India or, in certain cases, on 

income, which is deemed to have arisen in India. It includes 

royalty fees, fees for technical services, interest, gains from 

sale of capital assets situated in India (including gains from 

sale of shares in an Indian company) and dividends from 

Indian companies.

Companies engaged in cross-border M&A activity, particularly 

two non-resident entities need to pay special heed as 

there is a risk of coming under the Indian tax net. There has 

been considerable debate on whether income arising from 

cross-border transaction involving transfer of capital assets 

between two foreign entities should be taxed in India solely 

on the basis of their nexus with Indian company as part of 

the same group. The issue was litigated before the Supreme 

Court in the landmark case of Vodafone International 

Holdings B.V. vs. Union of India. The lower courts had favoured 

the revenue’s tax claim making indirect transfer of Vodafone’s 

Mauritian entity’s shares taxable in India. The Supreme Court 

overruled the lower court order and highlighted that transfer 

of shares of a foreign company (holding shares or assets 

in an Indian company directly or indirectly) between two 

non-residents on a principal-to-principal basis outside India 

cannot be considered a transfer of capital asset situated in 
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The major advantage of GST is the removal of cascading effect 

on the sale of goods and services, i.e. tax on tax is eliminated. 

Further, it is a technologically driven system, activities like 

registration, return filing, application for refund and response 

to notice are done online on the GST Portal. This not only 

speeds up the process but also reduces the procedural 

complexities of the previous tax regime.

3.5.6. Foreign direct investments in India

India and hence, not liable for tax as capital gains under the IT 

Act, provided that the structuring of the transaction is not for 

tax avoidance but for commercial reasons.

In the wake of this, the IT Act was amended in 2016 to 

bring thresholds for locating assets in India and thereby 

subjecting certain international transactions to income-tax 

liability in India. A capital asset being a share or interest in 

a foreign company or entity is deemed to be in India, only 

if the substantial value of the share or interest is, directly 

or indirectly, derived from the assets located in India. The 

substantial value is deemed to be derived from Indian assets, 

if value of the underlying India assets exceeds INR 100 million 

and represents at least fifty percent of the value of all assets 

owned by the foreign company or entity. If the substantial 

value threshold is satisfied, transfer of shares or interest 

between two foreign companies will be subject to tax in India. 

In such transactions, the buyer will have to withhold tax, make 

contractual provisions to this effect with the seller, or risk to 

be deemed an assessee in default. In other words, acquiring 

a non-resident company outside India will give the non-

resident acquirer a controlling interest in an Indian company, 

the transaction between the two non-resident companies 

will fall within the purview of the Indian tax authorities.

Indirect taxation

Indirect Tax is levied in India through the Goods and 

Services Tax Act (“GST”) which came into effect on July 01, 

2017, replacing the previous value added tax regime. It is a 

revolutionary tax reform done in India with the objective to 

replace the complex tax levying regime with a uniform and 

comprehensive tax regime. It is a single indirect tax for the 

entire nation. GST is a multi-stage and destination-based tax 

system, levied on each value addition. It has 3 components 

i.e. CGST which is collected by the Central Government 

on an intra-state sale, SGST which is collected by the State 

Government on an intra-state sale and IGST which is collected 

by the Central Government for inter-state sale.

Authors: Amrut Joshi, https://www.gamechangerlaw.com/

Foreign direct investments regulating laws in India

The regulatory regime which governs foreign direct 

investments in India includes: (i) the Consolidated Foreign 

Direct Investment Policy of 2017 (“FDI Policy”); (ii) the 

Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 (“FEMA”); and (iii) 

Foreign Exchange Management (Transfer/Issue of Security 

by a Person Resident outside India) Regulations, 2000 (“FI 

Regulations”).

The Reserve Bank of India (“RBI”) is tasked with: (i) 

administering various provisions of FEMA, FDI Policy and the 

FI Regulations; and (ii) regulating the inflow and outflow of 

foreign exchange to/from India.

Entitled persons for foreign direct investments in Indian 

companies

Registered Foreign Institutional Investor (“FII”), Foreign 

Portfolio Investors (“FPI”), and non-resident companies, 

trusts, and partnerships can invest in Indian companies. The 

entities to which investment can be made include: (i) Indian 

companies; (ii) partnership or proprietary firms; (iii) trusts; (iv) 

Limited Liability Partnerships (“LLP”); (v) startup companies; 
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Sector Activity Sectoral Cap Entry route

Cash and Carry Wholesale Trading/Wholesale Trading (including 

sources from MSEs)

100% Automatic

E-Commerce:

(a) B2B Commerce Activities

(b) Market Place Model of E-Commerce

100% Automatic

Manufacturing 100% Automatic

Multi Brand Retail Trading 51% Government

Insurance:

(a) Insurance Company

(b) Insurance Brokers

(c) Third Party Administrators

(d) Other Insurance Intermediaries

49% Automatic

b) Government route: Under this route, prior 

Government and FIPB approval will be required to 

be obtained by the foreign investor before making 

its investment in the permitted sectors. Examples 

of sectors requiring Government approval include 

mining, defence, telecommunication, broadcasting, 

etc. The Government route is considered for foreign 

investments being made in an Indian entity wherein: (i) 

the Indian entity is established with foreign investments 

and the same is not owned or controlled by a resident 

entity; and (ii) when the control or ownership of an 

existing Indian entity which is owned or controlled by 

resident Indian citizens or Indian companies are being 

transferred to a non-resident entity through mergers, 

acquisitions or amalgamations etc.

Following are some examples which specify sectoral caps and 

the routes through which foreign investment can be made in 

Indian companies:

and (vi) Securities Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”) registered 

investment vehicles like real estate investment trusts, 

infrastructure investment trusts and alternative investment 

funds.

routes through which foreign direct investments can be 

made in Indian entities

Indian entities can receive foreign direct investment through 

two routes:

a) Automatic route: Under this route, foreign investors 

can invest in permitted sectors without obtaining 

any prior approval from the Government of India or 

the Foreign Investment Promotion Board (“FIPB”). The 

investors are allowed to invest via the automatic route 

only in permitted sectors and up to a sectoral cap as 

prescribed in the FDI Policy.

A detailed list of: (i) the sector/activities in which foreign 

direct investments can be made; (ii) the applicable sectoral 

caps; and (iii) the routes through which foreign investments 

can be made are provided in the FDI Policy.

Instruments for making investments 

The three instruments that can be allotted for receiving 

foreign investments in India are: a) Equity shares, b) 

Compulsorily Convertible Preferential Shares (“CCPS”), and c) 

Compulsorily Convertible Debentures (“CCDS”).

Equity shares are high-risk instruments with no obligation to 

declare dividends. There is no limit on the declared dividends 

as the returns are risk-based. Equity shareholders can vote on 

all matters affecting the company as they participate in the 

governance of the company.

CCPS are medium risk instruments which are preferred 

instrument compared to equity shares. The shareholders 

possess a preferential right to receive dividends. The voting 

rights of preferential shareholders shall be stipulated 

contractually (on an as if converted basis).

CCD are low risk, low return instruments which are essentially 

debt instruments with an assured rate of interest. The voting 

rights of debenture holders shall be stipulated contractually 

(on an as if converted basis).
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FDI policy and the issuance of convertible notes 

As per the RBI Notification dated January 10, 2017, a person 

resident outside India may purchase convertible notes issued 

by an Indian ‘startup company’ for an amount of INR 25,00,000 

or more in a single tranche.

As per the RBI notification, a ‘convertible note’ is an instrument 

issued by a startup evidencing receipt of money initially as 

debt, which is convertible into equity shares within a period 

of five years from the date of issue.

The term ‘startup company’ or ‘startup’ is defined by the 

Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade 

(“DPIIT”) as highlighted earlier.

Please note that the issue of equity shares against convertible 

notes should be in compliance with the entry route, sectoral 

caps, pricing guidelines and other conditions that are 

prescribed under the FDI for foreign investment.

Pricing guidelines for issuance of securities 

The price of the securities issued by an Indian company 

shall not be less than the valuation calculated as per 

any internationally accepted pricing methodology on 

an arm’s length basis, and the same is duly certified by a 

Chartered Accountant or a SEBI registered Merchant Banker 

or a practicing Cost Accountant. As regards convertible 

instruments, the price / conversion formula of the instrument 

should be determined upfront at the time of issuance.

Initiating and completing the investment process for a 

foreign investor 

Once the investor confirms the route through which the 

foreign investment will be made and is privy to the sectoral 

caps that may be applicable for making the investment in the 

Indian entity, the investor may:

a) Draw out a term sheet outlining: (i) the structure of 

the investment i.e., the capital that is infused by the 

investor in the company, allotment of securities by the 

company against the investment made by the investor; 

(ii) investor rights; and (iii) exit options that granted to 

the investor.

b) Conduct a commercial, technical, financial, and legal 

due diligence of the investee company, along with a 

background check on the promoters of the company.

c) Outline the conditions precedent to closing and 

conditions subsequent to closing action items in the 

form of a due diligence report.

d) Execution of the definitive agreements between the 

investor and the investee company based on the 

final term sheet agreed between the investor and the 

promoters of the company.

e) Ensuring that the conditions percent to closing 

action items (based on the due diligence exercise) are 

completed prior to making the investment.
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f ) Subject to the completion of the conditions precedent 

action items, the investor will make the investment in 

the investee company.

g) Ensuring that the conditions subsequent to closing 

action items (based on the due diligence exercise) are 

completed within the stipulated timelines after making 

the investment.

Provisions provided for in a Share Subscription 

Agreement and in a Shareholder’s Agreement

Typically, a share subscription agreement includes: (i) details 

regarding the current and post investment shareholding 

pattern of the investee company; (ii) the representations 

and warranties made by the promoters and the investee 

company to the investor about the company’s affairs and 

business; (iii) the conditions precedent action items (based 

on the due diligence exercise conducted by the investor); (iv) 

the conditions to be satisfied by the company on the day of 

closing; (v) the conditions subsequent action items (based 

on the due diligence exercise conducted by the investor); 

(vi) list of reserved matters for which the investor’s consent 

will be required; and (vii) specific indemnity provided to 

the investors by the promoters and the company, in the 

event the promoter and/or the company is in breach of its 

representation and warranties.

A shareholders’ agreement outlines the rights that are 

granted to the investor. Typically, the rights granted to an 

investor shall include: (i) Pre-emption rights; (ii) Right of 

first refusal; (iii) Anti-dilution right; (iv) Management rights 

(i.e., investor being entitled to appoint an investor nominee 

director); (v) Information rights; (vi) Tag- along right; (vii) exit 

options – strategic sale or IPO; (viii) liquidation preference; (ix) 

Drag-along right and such other rights as may be mutually 

discussed and agreed between the promoters of the investee 

company and the investor.

reporting requirements 

(a)  Advance remittance Form (“ArF”): The receipt of 

foreign investment should be reported by the Indian investee 

company to the RBI through the ARF. The ARF reporting must 

be done within 30 days of receipt of investment from the 

foreign investor. This form should contain details pertaining 

to: (i) Name and address of the foreign investors; (ii) Date 

of receipt of funds and their INR equivalent; (iii) Name and 

address of the authorised dealer through whom the funds 

have been received; and (iv) Details of the Government 

approval, if any.

(b)  Form Foreign Currency – Gross Provisional return 
(“FC-GPr”): The investee company will be required to submit 

Form FC-GPR to the RBI to report the issuance of securities to 

the foreign investor. The investee company should file from 

FC-GPR form within 30 days of allotment of securities to the 

investor.

(c) Annual return on Foreign liabilities and Assets 
(“FlA”): Annual return on Foreign Liabilities and Assets 

should be submitted by all Indian companies which have 

received foreign direct investment July 15th of every year.

(d) Form Foreign Currency – Transfer of Shares (“FC-TrS”): 
This form should be submitted by the Indian entity to the RBI 

in the event there has been a transfer of securities between 

an Indian resident to a non-resident, or vice versa.

Please note that the RBI has issued a circular dated June 07, 

2018 through which it has introduced the Single Master Form 

(“SMF”) for reporting foreign investment in India. In order 

to effectively implement this measure, the RBI has provided 

an interface to Indian entities for inputting the data on total 

foreign investment in a specific format. The SMF intends to 

integrate the foreign direct investment reporting system.

3.5.7. Further links

" FDI Policy (http://dipp.nic.in/sites/default/files/
CFPC_2017_FINAL_RELEASED_28.8.17_1.pdf ) 

" Circular RBI Single Master Form (https://www.rbi.org.

in/scripts/NotificationUser.aspx?Id=11297&Mode=0) 
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3.6. Growing your team in India
3.6.2. Finding candidates

Hiring at universities

In 2018, there were almost 900 universities, 40.000 colleges 

and 12.000 diploma granting institutions in India and more 

than 35 million students were enrolled in their programmes. 

Since 2008 the number of students has doubled and the 

government plans to reach 40 million students by 2020. 

Especially the private sector is booming because of this run 

at universities and the majority of middle-class students are 

educated at private institutions already. The sheer number 

of jobseekers graduating from these institutions makes it 

difficult for companies to select potential employees – they 

would be flooded with applications that are difficult to 

evaluate. Instead, many employers make use of the campus 

recruitment days and other services offered by placement 

cells at universities, especially at those institutions which are 

among the best in the country. Company representatives 

come on campus on specific days of the year organised by the 

universities and use standardised tests, assessment centres 

and pre-scheduled interviews to select the best candidates. 

These candidates are offered contracts before they even 

finish their studies. When companies are not looking for 

graduates but for candidates with work experience other 

recruitment channels have to be used, of course.

Communication

One major difference between recruitment processes in India 

and Germany is the frequency of communication. Indian 

candidates can be quite impatient when it comes to waiting 

Authors: Dr. Christoph Senft & Jana Köhler, https://meetra.

de/

India has one of the biggest IT sectors in the world, with 

highly qualified professionals. However, cultural differences 

between German and Indian employees can be fundamental. 

Therefore, it is critical for startups coming to India to find 

employees who match their culture. This chapter provides 

and overview of the Indian labour market and relevant 

regulation as well as helpful advice on how to find the best 

candidates.

3.6.1. The Indian labour market

The Indian labour market is generally quite different to 

Germany or other European countries. India has one of the 

largest and youngest workforces world-wide and for any 

company setting up shop in India the challenge will not 

be finding employees but selecting the right people and 

keeping them in your company as the retention rate is quite 

high. For a foreign company recruiting in India, it is highly 

advisable to focus on personnel that has enjoyed formal 

education at a university or other higher education institution 

with a good reputation. Similarly, previous exposure to 

foreign clients, employers or even study/work experience 

abroad is recommended in order to minimise (intercultural) 

misunderstandings and to guarantee swift adjustment to the 

new work environment.
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for replies from companies they have been in touch with. It 

might be that a candidate asks immediately and regularly 

whether there is any update regarding the application 

process from the moment of handing in the application – on 

all available channels. The reason is, among other things, that 

Indian candidates always have many competitors and they 

have to be heard and seen to distinguish themselves from 

others. Patience is the key here, not only for the applicant. 

On the other hand, it might happen that the recruiting 

company waits in vain for any reply after sending a single 

email asking for additional documents. It might be helpful 

for international companies to change their communication 

style and use channels simultaneously to get in touch with 

candidates quickly. When it comes to selection processes 

it is even more recommendable in the Indian context than 

elsewhere to have face-to-face interactions and interview 

situations to understand the person you are dealing with. 

Paper doesn’t blush and CVs and motivations letters tend to 

be more flowery than in other contexts. Again, this has to do 

with the understandable need to stand out in this mass of 

potential employees.

Salary expectations and long-term planning

Salaries in India are not a secret normally, on the contrary, 

people might ask you immediately what you earn, even 

if you meet for the first time. Generally, it is considered to 

be an achievement to have a good salary, not something 

to be secretive about or to be ashamed of. Accordingly, 

salary negotiations are mostly not a taboo topic, but will be 

approached directly. Local recruiters even tend to ask potential 

candidates at the beginning of the first conversation what 

they earn and what they expect to earn in the new position. 

It is not uncommon to confirm the candidate’s current salary 

by asking for the latest payslip. At the same time, candidates 

automatically expect a substantially higher salary when they 

apply for or are offered a new job. A raise of at least 10 to 15 

percent has to be added to the current salary. Annual salary 

hikes of at least 5 to 10 percent are also very common in 

India. As an employer you have to calculate with these costs, 

otherwise you might lose your employees quickly. Indians 

tend to be more mobile when it comes to their work situation 

which means that apart from regular salary hikes you have to 

offer other incentives to make your employees stay. Popular 

incentives are job titles, bonuses, reward or merit programs 

and offers for spouses or children.

3.6.3. Outsourcing & service providers

The most important recruiting channels are internationally 

known job portals like Monster or Indeed and, of course, 

social media platforms like LinkedIn and Facebook. One of 

the biggest Indian job platforms is Naukri.com. Due to the 

huge number of applications one has to deal with when 

advertising jobs openly, service providers that offer active 

sourcing and headhunting play a more important role in India 

than in other countries. Professional head-hunters usually 

charge fees when the work contract is signed and base 

their provision calculation on the annual cost-to-company 

(CTC) salary. This means that the fee percentage tends to 

be lower than in Europe, but the amount considered for the 

calculation is higher (European head-hunters mostly use the 

employee’s annual gross salary to calculate their charges). 

Apart from service providers for headhunting who take over 

the communication with the candidates there are also agents 

who source profiles and hand them over to the employer 

without supporting otherwise in the recruitment process. 

The charges for these services are mostly according to the 

number of profiles provided. It is possible to recruit without 

the help of service providers, but employers definitely need 

local knowledge about the Indian higher education system 

and labour market in order to evaluate profiles correctly. 

Moreover, a large personal network with references and 

recommendations by trusted partners is of great advantage.

3.6.4. Hiring regulations & labour laws

The labour laws in India provide extensive protection to 

industrial workers. However, the management sector is largely 

governed by individual contracts. Some of the central labour 

legislations which may be of relevance to a foreign investor 

are mentioned below. Apart from these, a particular state may 

have its own laws / rules with which an establishment would 

need to comply.

Social security contributions

" Employers are liable to contribute 10% of basic wages, 

dearness allowance and retaining allowance towards 

the Employees Provident fund, if their establishment 

employs more than 20 individuals.

" Employers are liable to pay gratuity at the rate of 15 

days wage per year of employment for an employee 

who resigns or retires after 5 years of continuous 

service.

" Proprietors of factories or shops employing more than 

10 individuals are mandated to contribute 4.75% of 

wages payable to an employee towards the Employees’ 

State Insurance Corporation.

laws against sexual harassment at workplace

The Government of India enacted the Sexual Harassment of 

Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) 

Act (“POSH”) in 2013 for protection, prevention, and redressal 

of sexual harassment against women at workplace. POSH 

mandates that no woman employee is meted with workplace 

sexual harassment, and the primary obligation to curb such 

conduct is on the employer. Every employer, irrespective 
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of the headcount, must constitute an Internal Complaints 

Committee (“ICC”). If an employer fails to constitute an ICC or 

repeatedly contravenes any other provision under POSH, the 

employer’s relevant business license may be cancelled.

Maternity benefits

The Maternity Benefit Act, 1961 mandates every employer 

of any establishment to provide every woman a total of 

26 weeks of paid leaves, of which not more than 8 weeks 

shall precede the date of her expected delivery. Further, an 

employer has to provide crèche facility if his establishment 

employs more than 50 individuals.

3.7.  Access to funding in India

German startups seeking to expand to and set up a business 

entity in India can turn to a variety of sources when seeking 

investments, especially once registered under the Startup 

India Initiative. Selecting the right type of expansion financing 

is largely a matter of matching your needs to the restrictions 

of the source. Each type of financing has its own strengths 

and limitations. This chapter provides an introduction to the 

Indian financing landscape in India.

3.7.1. Business angels, venture capital, corporate 

venture capital, incubator funding, crowdfunding & 

lending portals

Author: Eileen Trenkmann, http://www.linkedin.com/in/

eileentrenkmann  

Indian startups raised $4.88 billion in the first half of 2019. 

The startup investment ecosystem in India is still at a nascent 

stage with angel networks being as recently founded as 

2006. Later stage funds are still evolving, especially at the 

series B and C level, funding for startups remains scarce with 

only a few funds catering to this segment. German startups 

seeking to expand to India can turn to a variety of sources 

when seeking investments and funds. In this chapter an 

introduction will be given to the Indian financing landscape. 

For elaborations on public funding, please see the respective 

chapter next chapter.

Business angels

The Indian angel investment ecosystem has grown 

significantly in the last years with new networks such as the 

Indian Angel Network (IAN), Mumbai Angels, Chennai Angels, 

etc. emerging. While in 2010 the deals made by angels merely 

reached 500, senior executives and successful entrepreneurs 

that were produced in the last 8 years have joined the 

investment club and contributed to a deal number of 1034 

in 2016 and 820 in 2017 due to the effects of demonetization. 

Traditionally, angel investors in India have preferred making 

investments into companies in geographic proximity to the 

place they live in. However, in recent years an increasing 

number of Indian investors have started looking into strategic 

investments in startups from abroad. For instance, Sanjay 

Mehta, recently also rated as one of the most active Indian 

angel investors, made 30% of his investments in 2017 into 

foreign companies, thus, mostly with a strong India connect.

Among those players that already today invests 20% of their 

overall investments into early-stage businesses from abroad 

(mostly US and UK-based startups), is the Indian Angel 

Network (IAN). IAN – India’s and at the same time Asia’s largest 

angel investor network – has currently +450 investors from 

11 different countries in their network. The network invests 

up to $1 million, with an average of about $400-600k. Exists 

usually take place over a 3 to 5-year period through strategic 

sales. Interested startups can submit their business plans 

online through the platform. The platform also hosts other 

information relevant for startups interested in early-stage 

investments.
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Besides angel networks, there are various platforms such as 

LetsVenture that connect investors with startups. LetsVenture 

is opened for startups from all over the world. The platform 

currently hosts 5224 angel investors and has supported the 

closure of 172 deals with investments of $81.5 million. Any 

startup can sign up for free and a fee is only charged after a 

successful deal closure.

Venture capital

As the angel investment space has only developed in recent 

years, so has the venture capital space. The first venture funds 

in India that started operations were US-based funds such 

as Accel Partners and Sequoia Capital. Helion Ventures, an 

Indian fund with global limited partners (LPs) started around 

the same time. In the following years a number of new funds 

emerged such as Nexus Venture Partners, Blume Ventures, etc. 

SEBI keeps a list with all registered investment funds which 

can be found under the ‘Further links’ section.

Given that Accel Partners as well as Sequoia Capital are 

international funds, they do also look for interesting startups 

globally to support financially. For instance, Sequoia Capital in 

2013 invested in the German startup 6 Wunderkinder. Blume 

Ventures, an early-stage tech-focused / tech-enabled venture 

fund, founded in 2011 currently invests 8% of its overall 

portfolio activities into international startups.

Corporate venture capital

Corporate Venture Capital in India has significantly increased 

in the last years and hit an all-time high in 2016 with 190 

deals. Some of the most active corporate venture funds in 

the country are ‘The Times Group’, followed by Qualcomm 

Ventures, Intel Capital that invested twice in the recently 

by Walmart acquired unicorn Flipkart, Bertelsmann India 

Investments and Cisco that has made repeated investments 

for instance into e-wallet Mobikwik. The e-commerce giant 

Alibaba is also active in India and for instance invested in 

Snapdeal and Paytm Mall. 

At the same time many corporates have launched their own 

accelerators, deploying smart money. According to a report 

by NASSCOM, corporate accelerators in India have seen a 35% 

growth year-over-year. The last report of NASSCOM assumed 

that there are currently 50+ corporate accelerators active 

in India, some of them also providing funding. For instance, 

software giant Microsoft announced in June 2019 that they 

would deepen their startup engagement by investing up to 

$10 million in disruptive startups through their corporate 

venture fund M12.

In 2013 the Companies Act was updated. The bill also 

introduced a mandatory 2% CSR spending by corporates that 

either have a net worth of INR 500 crore (approx. €60 Million) 

or a turnover of INR 1000 crore (approx. €120 Million) or a 

net profit of INR 5 crore (approx. €600.000) preceding three 

financial years. A provision was made to spend this money 

on incubation activities through Government approved 

incubators. Since then an increasing number of corporates 

have supported incubators with CSR funds. For instance, 

Mahindra & Mahindra have funded SustainEarth through 

the social incubator Villgro. SAP with their CSR funds has 

run multiple social enterprise accelerators jointly with 

the Ahmedabad-based incubator Centre for Innovation, 

Incubation & Entrepreneurship (CIIE). While the clause 

stipulates that the CSR funds should be deployed within India, 

it is not impossible that international startups based in India, 

especially those with social causes, can attract corporate CSR 

funding through an incubator.

Incubator funding

An increasing number of incubators are looking into 

sourcing international startups and if not providing funding 

themselves, support in connects to investors, VC, etc. IIM 

Calcutta Innovation Park for instance conducted Smart Fifty 

in the beginning of 2018, a government funded program 

looking for promising Indian and international startups. 10 

international and 40 Indian startups each got a grant of 4 Lakh 

(approx. 4800 Euro) and were invited to a 3-day Bootcamp in 

Calcutta. T-Hub, a Hyderabad-based incubator, launched India 

Market Access Bridge Program, supporting technology-based 

international startups looking to expand overseas. Part of the 

program is also a corporate and investor demoday, providing 

the startups with investment opportunities in India.

Crowdfunding & lending portals

Crowdfunding and digital lending portals are legitimate 

alternatives to angel investments & venture funds. Some of the 

popular crowdfunding platforms include Rang De, an online 

donation platform active in the charity space that facilitates 

micro or low-cost loans to rural entrepreneurs, Wishberry, 

which supports creative artists, CashSvidha, a digital lending 

platform that provides loans to SMEs, Faircent, a peer-to-

peer lending platform that brings borrowers and lenders 

together, Catapooolt, a crowdfunding platform for artists, 

entrepreneurs, technology enthusiasts, etc., Fueladream, a 

crowdfunding platform that supports ideas, social causes, 

charities, etc., Milaap, a crowdfunding portal that provides 

support in various categories such as social entrepreneurship, 

technology, etc., Impact Guru, a crowdfunding platform that 

supports NGOs, social enterprises, startups and individuals 

and i-LEND, an online lending marketplace connecting 

people who need money with people who are willing to lend.
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There are four common types of crowdfunding:

1. Equity-based crowdfunding

2. Debt-based crowdfunding

3. Reward-based crowdfunding

4. Donation-based crowdfunding

Crowdfunding in India is overseen by the Securities and 

Exchange Board of India (SEBI). Equity-based crowdfunding 

is illegal in India, majorly due to the reason of potential threat 

through money laundering. Reward-based crowdfunding 

which means that investors get a product or a benefit in 

return for their investment (except equity), is legal, and so is 

donation-based crowdfunding. Both forms are currently the 

most common forms seen in India and at present only attract 

basic fiscal legislations such as income-tax laws and Foreign 

Contribution Regulation Act, 2010. Debt-based crowdfunding 

commonly also known as peer-to-peer lending is also legal in 

India, however, is subject to various regulations.

3.7.2. Public funding & assistance in India

Author: Amit Kumar, https://www.linkedin.com/in/amit-

kumar-a97b854/ 

Funding and assistance landscape

The startup promotion framework in India has undergone 

massive overhaul in the last 3 years, since the launch of the 

Startup India initiative and platform. Before 2016, Department 

of Science and Technology, Government of India along with 

selected state governments was at the forefront of running 

funding and assistance programs for startups. However, in 

the last three years many central government ministries 

and a majority of Indian states have launched their own 

startup support schemes and programs, which complement 

the efforts spearheaded by the Department for Promotion 

of Industry and Internal Trade (DPIIP). In short, the startup 

funding and assistance ecosystem in India is currently thriving 

but the landscape is very vast, and one need to navigate their 

way as per the geographic presence and thematic focus. As 

highlighted earlier the Startup India platform provides a 

good overview and can act as an information gateway for 

German startups interested in setting up their operations 

in India. Before peeking into the vast landscape of funding 

and assistance for startups, it is important to understand the 

term “startup” in the Indian context of government support 

schemes.

Definition of startups

As per DPIIT, startup means an entity, incorporated or 

registered in India:

" Up to a period of ten years from the date of 

incorporation/registration

" Incorporated as either a private limited company or 

registered as a partnership firm or a limited liability 

partnership
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" With an annual turnover not exceeding Rs. 100 crores 

(Approx. 13 Million Euro) for any of the financial years 

since incorporation/registration

" Entity should not have been formed by splitting up or 

reconstruction a business already in existence

" Working towards innovation, development or 

improvement of products or processes or services, or if 

it is a scalable business model with a high potential of 

employment generation or wealth creation.

The definition also outlines that the mere act of developing 

products or services or processes which do not have 

potential for commercialization; or undifferentiated products 

or services or processes; or products or services or processes 

with no or limited incremental value for customers or 

workflow would not be covered under this definition.

Basis this definition, DPIIT awards recognition to startups – 

which make them eligible for tax incentives and several other 

benefits.

Startup support agencies

As stated in the beginning, the startup funding and 

assistance landscape in India is vast. Public support programs 

are offered both at the Government of India and the State 

government level. At the central level, DPIIT is responsible 

for the Startup India mission as well as providing registration 

to startups for claiming tax incentives and other public 

benefits. Atal Innovation Mission managed by NITI Aayog is 

another important government ecosystem enabler that has 

supported the set-up of incubation centres and conducts 

several other startup initiatives on a regular basis. In addition 

to these two, there are 50+ startup schemes administered 

by different sectoral ministries. Department of Science and 

Technology (DST), Department of Biotechnology (DBT), 

Biotechnology Industry Research Assistance Council (BIRAC) 

and Ministry of Agriculture, Department of Electronics and 

IT, Ministry of MSMEs, Ministry of Skill Development and 

Entrepreneurship are few of the main players at the central 

level. Small Industries Development Bank of India (SIDBI) is 

the apex development financial institution responsible for 

many of the “fund of funds” and “guarantee” programs.

At the state level, most states have their own startup 

promotion policies being implemented through their 

science and technology departments or state innovation 

council or industry departments. Some of the state have also 

created special entities on public private partnership models 

to spearhead startup promotion in their respective states. 

States like Karnataka, Telangana, Andhra Pradesh, Tamil Nadu, 

Maharashtra, Kerala, Gujarat, Rajasthan, Goa, Delhi have been 

successful in creating an enabling ecosystem for the startups.

Funding and assistance

The startup promotion framework in India consists of an 

array of tools being practiced worldwide, ranging from direct 

grant to loan to tax incentives to enabling policies. Startups 

meeting the definition criteria and registered with DPIIT 

are eligible for following benefits under the Startup India 

initiative.

Self-certification:

" Self-Certification and self-compliance for 3 

environmental and 6 labour laws through a simple 

online procedure to reduce the regulatory burden

" In the case of labour laws, no inspections will be 

conducted for a period of 5 years. Startups may be 

inspected only on receipt of credible and verifiable 

complaint of violation, filed in writing and approved by 

at least one level senior to the inspecting officer.

" In the case of environment laws, startups which fall 

under the ‘white category’ (as defined by the Central 

Pollution Control Board (CPCB)) would be able to self-

certify compliance and only random checks would be 

carried out in such cases.

Tax exemption:

" Eligible startups can be exempted from paying income 

tax for 3 consecutive financial years out of their first ten 

years since incorporation.

Easier public procurement norms:

" Opportunity to list product on the Government 

e-Marketplace: The Government e-Marketplace (GeM) 

is an online procurement platform and the largest 

marketplace for Government Departments to procure 

products and services. DPIIT recognized startups can 

register on GeM as sellers and sell their products and 

services directly to Government entities. This is a great 

opportunity for startups to work on trial orders with 

the Government.

" Exemption from Prior Experience/Turnover: In 

order to promote startups, the Government has 

exempted startups in the manufacturing sector from 

the criteria of “prior experience/ turnover” without 

any compromise on the stated quality standards 

or technical parameters. However, startups have to 

demonstrate requisite capability to execute the project 

as per the requirements and should have their own 

manufacturing facility in India.
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" EMD Exemption: DPIIT recognised startups have been 

exempted from submitting Earnest Money Deposit 

(EMD) or bid security while filling government tenders. 

Easy winding up of a company:

" As per the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016, 

startups with simple debt structures, or those meeting 

certain income specified criteria can be wound up 

within 90 days of filing an application for insolvency.

" An insolvency professional shall be appointed for 

the startup, who shall thereafter be in charge of the 

company (the promoters and management shall no 

longer run the company) including liquidation of its 

assets and paying its creditors within six months of 

such appointment.

" Upon appointment of the insolvency professional, the 

liquidator shall be responsible for the swift closure of 

the business, sale of assets and repayment of creditors 

in accordance with the distribution waterfall set out in 

the IBC. This process will respect the concept of limited 

liability.

Startup patent application & IPr application:

" Fast-tracking of startup patent applications: Patent 

applications filed by startups shall be fast-tracked for 

examination so that their value can be realised sooner.

" Panel of facilitators to assist in filing of IP 

applications: For effective implementation of the 

scheme, a panel of “facilitators” shall be empanelled 

by the Controller General of Patents, Designs and 

Trademarks (CGPDTM), who shall also regulate their 

conduct and functions. Facilitators will be responsible 

for providing general advisory on different intellectually 

property as well as information on protecting and 

promoting intellectual property in other countries.

" Government to bear facilitation cost: Under this 

scheme, the Central Government shall bear the entire 

fees of the facilitators for any number of patents, 

trademarks or designs that a startup may file, and the 

startups shall bear the cost of only the statutory fees 

payable.

" rebate on filing of application: Startups shall be 

provided an 80% rebate in filing of patents vis-a-vis 

other companies. This will help them pare costs in the 

crucial formative years

Section 56 Exemption:

" Exemption under Section 56(2)(VIIB) of Income Tax Act.

" Investments into eligible startups by listed companies 

with a net worth of more than INR 100 Crore or 

turnover more than INR 250 Crore shall be exempt 

under Section 56 (2) VIIB of Income Tax Act.

" Investments into eligible startups by accredited 

Investors, Non-Residents, AIFs (Category I) & listed 

companies with a net worth more than 100 crores or 

turnover more than INR 250 Crore, shall be exempt 

under Section 56(2)(VIIB) of Income Tax Act.

" Consideration of shares received by eligible startups 

shall be exempt up to an aggregate limit of INR 25 

Crore

Funding

To alleviate the funding constraints during the early as well 

as growth stage, DPIIT has set up a 1400 Million Euro corpus 

“Fund of funds”. The fund supports a broad mix of sectors 

such as health, agriculture, education and manufacturing.  To 

reduce the perceived high risk and also to encourage banks 
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and other lending institutions to provide venture debts to 

startups, credit guarantee facilities have also been initiated 

by DPIIT.

Incubation support

Most of the startup funding and assistance programs have 

a strong focus on creating incubation facilities for startups. 

Generally, grant support to meet capital and or operational 

expenditure for three to five years is made available to 

eligible agencies for setting up incubation facilities. However, 

in many support programmes there also exists a provision 

of seed funding/idea support/rebate on incubation rental/

reimbursement of incubation lease rental for startups.

Seed fund 

To provide early stage funding to startups, various agencies 

and departments offer seed funding grants ranging between 

EUR 15.000 to EUR 70,000 Euro. Support is available for 

validation of idea, prototype development, go to market 

strategies, etc. Mode of application varies between call-based 

approaches to rolling applications. While most of the seed 

funds are non-refundable grants, there are also a few interest 

free ten-year repayable loans. Disbursement also varies from 

scheme to scheme i.e. one-time disbursal to milestone-based 

approaches.

Grant challenges

Grant challenges are another popular support instrument 

used by different startup promotion agencies, both at the 

central and state level. They are like seed funds but differ in the 

amount of funding, thematic focus, research and innovation 

and mode of implementation, etc. Implementing agencies 

follow a call-based approach and run these challenges every 

year for a fixed period. Though direct grant support is available 

for all stages i.e. proof of concept to commercialisation, there 

has been an increasing trend to provide support for scale up 

and commercialisation. The Atal Innovation Mission (AIM) is a 

flagship initiative within the overall startup India framework, 

it incentivises innovation in areas critical to India’s growth 

such as health, hygiene, housing, energy and water. AIM runs 

a “New India Grant Challenge” to (a) help create products 

from existing technologies relevant for national and social 

causes (productization) and (b) help new deep-tech products 

find markets and early customers (commercialization) in 

the context of India. Biotechnology, agriculture, e-mobility, 

semiconductor, defence, artificial intelligence are some of the 

other key thematic areas of the grant challenge.

Angel and venture funding 

In addition to the Startup India Fund of Funds from DPIIT, 

state governments and central ministries runs their own fund 

of funds or venture fund programs to enhance availability 

of angel and venture funding for startups. They forge 

partnership with angel investor networks, large incubators, 

registered funds for making investments. Some state 

governments have created their own venture funds e.g. 

Gujarat Venture Fund Limited.  Many of these funds also 

have special thematic/ sectoral focus as per the mandate 

and priority of the respective state and ministry.

3.7.3. Further links

Business Angels

" Indian Angel Network (IAN) (https://www.

indianangelnetwork.com/) 

" Mumbai Angels (http://www.mumbaiangels.com/) 

" Chennai Angels (http://www.thechennaiangels.com/)

" LetsVenture (https://letsventure.com/) 

Venture Capital

" Accel Partners (https://www.accel.com/)

" Sequoia Capital (https://www.sequoiacap.com/india/)

" Helion Ventures (http://www.helionvc.com/) 

" Nexus Venture Partners (https://nexusvp.com/) 

" Blume Ventures (http://blume.vc/)

" SEBI registered funds (https://www.

sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.

do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmId=16) 

Corporate Venture Capital

" The Times Group (http://www.brandcapital.co.in/) 

" Qualcomm Ventures (https://www.

qualcommventures.com/) 

" Intel Capital (http://www.intelcapital.com/) 

" Bertelsmann India Investments (https://www.biifund.

com/) 

" Cisco (https://www.ciscoinvestments.com/) 

Crowdfunding & lending portals

" Rang De (https://www.rangde.org/) 

" CashSvidha (https://www.cashsuvidha.com/) 

" Faircent (https://www.faircent.com/) 

" Catapooolt (https://www.catapooolt.com/) 

" Fueladream (https://www.fueladream.com/) 

" Milaap (https://milaap.org/) 

" Impact Guru (https://www.impactguru.com/) 

" i-LEND (https://www.i-lend.in/) 
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Public Funding

" Startup India (https://www.startupindiahub.org.in/

content/sih/en/startup-scheme.html)

" The Atal Innovation Mission (AIM) (http://www.aim.

gov.in/overview.php) 

" Biotechnology Industry Research Assistance Council 

(http://www.birac.nic.in/) 

" Ministry of Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 

(https://msme.gov.in/node/1765#A13) 

" Indian STEP & Business Incubators Association (http://

isba.in/what-we-do/resources/)

Public Funding
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Contact:

Bundesverband Deutsche Startups e.V. 
Schiffbauerdamm 40 
10117 Berlin

Julian Zix 
Project Lead GINSEP 
Julian.zix@deutschestartups.org


